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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors’) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Mr. Wang Xiaogi
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Ms. Ho Ching

Mr. Chen Hua (appointed on 1 June 2025)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Mr. Lau Chor Ki
Mr. Wong Kin Kee

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
A practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and
a China-Appointed Attesting Officer
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Mr. Wong Kin Kee
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Challenges and opportunities were present in the information system
solution industry in the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting
Period") of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”, which together
with its subsidiaries, is referred to as the "Group”).

Business environment turned out to remain difficult like it had been in the
past several years because the economy of the People’s Republic of China
(“China” or the "PRC") has yet to see a full recovery while the United States
of America (the “United States” or “US”) government continued to impose
sanctions on China’s technology sector. The situation was exacerbated by a
trade war waged by the US on China and many other countries.

Nevertheless, the Group has been coping with the complicated and volatile
market conditions with prudence and flexibility. It has already shifted its
business focus to operating information technology systems which can
generate stable income and requires much less capital commitment,
and is thus less susceptible to the highly uncertain business environment
than the business of developing such systems. For instance, since the
second half of 2022, the Group has been diversifying into the traditional,
well-established information technology industry of short messaging
services (“SMS”) for businesses, capitalizing on a boom in e-commerce
and the logistics industry amid China’s industrial upgrading and economic
transformation. The move has enabled the Group to strengthen its
business fundamentals while it is conducting business transformation
and diversification. During the Reporting Period, the Group expanded
the business of SMS for businesses by signing more contracts to provide
such services and to provide relevant technologies that enable SMS for
businesses.

As a result, the Group succeeded in developing the SMS for businesses
into a major income source, which accounted for approximately 89% of
the Group's total revenue during the Reporting Period and has thus helped
it mitigate the adverse effect of the complicated and difficult market
conditions.

In the future, SMS for businesses in China will be intelligentized,
integrated with various communications channels and combined
with such technologies as artificial intelligence (“Al"), big data and 5G
telecommunications at a faster pace. Such trends can enable Al-generated
content and delivery of messages to target audience with precision.
Therefore, the Group will seize business opportunities in these trends
by developing further its SMS for businesses and, at the same time,
by planning to branch out into another value-added service of voice
messaging for marketing or notification by leveraging its expertise in SMS
and Al services and solutions.
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In April 2025, the Group signed one more contract with an information
technology company to provide SMS for businesses. It also expects to sign
a contract in the second half of 2025 to provide voice messaging.

Looking ahead, the Group will adhere to its prudent approach to business
development by seeking more opportunities in traditional, well-established
businesses of the information technology industry that generate stable
income, especially those businesses to which the Group can apply its
existing expertise. Such initiatives can broaden the income stream, foster
growth drivers and add impetus to the Group’s development for the long
term.

Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The business environment of the information system solution industry
of the People’s Republic of China (“China” or the “PRC") remained very
difficult because of the United States of America (the “United States”
or "US”") government’s sanctions on China’s technology sector amid
the two countries’ strained relations during the financial year ended 31
March 2025, the reporting period (‘Reporting Period”) of Quantum
Thinking Limited (the “Company’, which together with its subsidiaries, is
referred to as the “Group”). China's internet and technology giants had
also been downsizing in view of the uncertain prospect. The situation
was exacerbated by the trade war waged by the US on China and many
other countries through exorbitant tariffs. Although China made progress
and breakthroughs in artificial intelligence (“Al") and the production of
certain advanced chips, and such achievements shall be able to bolster the
development of its information system solution industry, it takes time for
them to prove successful and effective.

To navigate such a complicated and volatile market, an information system
solution company may need to be prudent in business development and
seek opportunities in traditional, well-established information technology
industries instead of the emerging ones. The business of operating
information technology systems is the case in point as it can generate
stable income and requires much less capital commitment, and is thus less
susceptible to the highly uncertain business environment in comparison
with the business of developing such technologies.

For instance, an information system solution company can capitalize on
a boom in e-commerce and the logistics industry by tapping into the
growing demand for short messaging services (“SMS”) from businesses in
China as courier firms need to notify recipients of the imminent delivery of
orders, and enterprises need to authenticate the identities of customers in
online transactions.

SMS for businesses in China will be intelligentized, integrated with various
communications channels and combined with such technologies as Al,
big data and 5G telecommunications at a faster pace in the future. Such
trends can enable Al-generated content and delivery of messages to target
audience with precision. There will be even wider application of SMS for
businesses in such sectors as financial service, e-commerce and logistics
(Source: an article entitled 2024 F P EI > X B ERBITEEEBE
DT KEESGIRIEB A B AR - REBBAMREE N RE R
#E — F R T+ published on huaon.com (% & 15 ¥ 48) on 24 November
2024).
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The number of short messages sent through mobile phones in China rose
by 7.9% to about 2.016 trillion in 2024, according to the statistics from the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC.

Another technology that has been gaining momentum is Al, which has
become a key driving force behind industrial upgrading and economic
transformation. China has stepped up its effort to develop Al which fits in
its plan to integrate digital technologies with real economy. The country
has made significant progress and breakthroughs in that technology in
the past year despite the US sanctions against its technology sector. The
ongoing intelligentization and digital transformation of China’s industries
and the shift of focus to its high-quality economic development has
also presented opportunities for information system solution providers
who possess expertise in Al services and solutions and robotic process
automation (“RPA”"), and adopt it in traditional information technology
industries such as SMS for businesses.

In 2024, China’s Al industry recorded an output value of more than RMB700
billion, following consistent annual growth of more than 20% for many
years, according to a report entitled “# B A T & 8t & 15, %t 5 1 i
2" ("Report on Regional Competitive Strength in China’s Artificial
Intelligence” in English) published by China Center for Information Industry
Development (F & F1E B E X EE M 3£ Bt) (Source: an article
entited (P EIATEREEGF NARBS)BEMERE NI
&R E & " dated 26 April 2025 on www.wenweipo.com (X FE 49)).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has been pursuing a prudent development strategy while
diversifying its business to mitigate the impact of the challenging market
conditions in the past several years.

It succeeded in broadening its income stream and fostering growth drivers
by shifting its business focus to the operation of information technology
systems from the development of such systems. Specifically, the Group
concentrated its resources and efforts on developing business in traditional,
well-established information technology industries according to its prudent
development strategy. For instance, the Group started diversifying into the
business of value-added services such as SMS for businesses in the second
half of 2022 by cooperating with an information technology company in
providing a multimedia short messaging service for businesses on behalf
of a branch of a major telecommunications carrier of China in Guangdong
province. It followed that up by signing two more contracts with that
information technology company during the first quarter of the financial
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “previous financial year”) to provide SMS
for businesses through the network of that major telecommunications
carrier. It has since been taking efforts to expand that business. During the
Reporting Period, the Group signed two contracts with that information
technology company to provide standardized products and services that
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enable the adoption of big data technology in SMS as well as to provide
SMS through a branch of that major telecommunications carrier of China in
Guangdong province, one contract with another information technology
firm to provide SMS for businesses, and one contract to provide both an
SMS channel and SMS through such channel for another information
technology company. The Group aims to capitalize on the growing
demand for SMS from businesses generated by the boom in e-commerce
and the logistics industry in China.

During the Reporting Period, SMS accounted for approximately 89% of the
Group's total revenue, up from approximately 70% in the previous financial
year.

Meanwhile, the Group continued to operate its businesses of information
technology software and system development for information verification.

In the information verification business, the Company’s 70%-held Shenzhen
Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd. (formerly known as Shenzhen CITIC
Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd.) (“Cyber Security”) had already
undertaken projects to apply eCitizen (or “e 2 IR " in Chinese, which is
its proprietary product for electronic identity authentication that enables
users of services to safely log in, sign digitally and have their personal data
protected in online transactions) to some banks’ financial services and to
conduct information verification for other companies.

During the Reporting Period, Cyber Security continued to conduct
information verification for a securities brokerage, a certificate authority
and a mainland China-based full-service investment banking enterprise
through websites, application programming interface (“API") or terminals. It
was also fulfilling a contract to build a unified digital authentication system,
carry out application integration and operate and maintain such system
for an information technology subsidiary of a China-based transportation
infrastructure design and construction firm.

During the fourth quarter of the financial year ended 31 March 2022, Cyber
Security signed a contract to build an infrastructure for real-name system
management based on eCitizen digital identity verification technology
for a technology development company. Cyber Security would provide
5G-eCitizen SIM cards, develop applications customized for certain
occasions, and provide technical support.

In the Group’s other businesses, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cyber
Security signed an agreement during the fourth quarter of the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 to authorize a website of a technology company
that builds a smart city to replicate digitally, issue and disseminate on an
information network the video content of an education course.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group also engaged in other businesses
that included the supply of electrical and electronic components, namely
inductors and master control chips; and designing mobile web pages for

marketing on behalf of an information technology firm and its client as an

end-user and providing technical support for them in running such web
pages.

1.

Providing SMS for businesses and technology and
channel for such services

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to cooperate with
an information technology company in providing SMS for businesses
through the network of a major telecommunications carrier in China;
it also signed two contracts to provide standardized products and
services that enable the adoption of big data technology in SMS as
well as to provide SMS, one contract to provide SMS for businesses,
and one contract to provide both an SMS channel and SMS through
such channel.

Conducting information verification for other
companies

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, Cyber Security had
signed two separate contracts to conduct information verification for
a securities brokerage and a certificate authority through websites,
APl or terminals. Previously, it signed an agreement with a Shenzhen-
based information technology system developer in June 2020 to
conduct information verification on behalf of a mainland China-
based full-service investment bank. During the Reporting Period,
Cyber Security continued to provide such service.

Construction of a unified digital authentication
system, application integration and operation and
maintenance of the system

In July 2020, Cyber Security signed a contract to build a unified
digital authentication system, carry out application integration and
operate and maintain such system for an information technology
subsidiary of a China-based transportation infrastructure design
and construction firm. Cyber Security provided both services and
hardware for its client during the Reporting Period.
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4. Building infrastructure for real-name system
management based on eCitizen digital identity
verification technology

In March 2022, Cyber Security signed a contract to build an
infrastructure for real-name system management based on eCitizen
digital identity verification technology for a technology development
company. Cyber Security would provide 5G-eCitizen SIM cards,
develop applications customized for certain occasions, and provide
technical support.

5. Authorizing a website to replicate digitally, issue
and disseminate on information network the
video content of an education course

In January 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Cyber Security signed
an agreement to authorize a website of a technology company that
builds a smart city to replicate digitally, issue and disseminate on an
information network the video content of an education course.

6. Designing mobile web pages for marketing

In June 2022, Shenzhen YBDS IT Co,, Ltd* (R Y1 ™1 B8 18 {5 B &
K AR 2 al) signed a contract to design mobile web pages for
marketing on behalf of an information technology firm and its client
as an end-user and to provide technical support for them in running
such web pages for the client's marketing campaigns. The services
were provided during the Reporting Period.

PROSPECT

The breakthroughs in China's Al industry may bode well to the information
system solution industry but they have yet to yield substantial results.
Furthermore, the business environment is expected to be volatile
and the prospect will remain uncertain in 2025 amid the geopolitical
tensions. Therefore, the Group will adhere to its prudent approach to
development so that it will be able to conduct business diversification
while strengthening its business fundamentals.

The Group will focus its resources and efforts on developing businesses
in traditional, well-established information technology industries that can
generate stable income. For instance, the Group has been expanding
its SMS for businesses and has already developed that operation into a
major income source which has helped it mitigate the adverse effect of
complicated and difficult market conditions. In April 2025, it signed one
more contract with an information technology company to provide SMS
for businesses.
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The Group will pursue business diversification prudently by leveraging its
expertise in SMS and Al services and solutions. It will upgrade and adapt
the relevant technologies for voice messaging for marketing or notification,
which is another value-added service that it is preparing to diversify into.
The Group expects to sign a contract in the second half of 2025 to provide
voice messaging.

Such initiatives not only can broaden and diversify the income stream but
also can add impetus to the Group's business development for the long
term.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Company raised net proceeds of approximately HK$100 million
through a subscription (the “Subscription”) on 5 August 2013 by
issuing 450,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a subscription
price of HK$0.225 per ordinary share of the Company to Happy On
Holdings Limited ("Happy On"). Immediately after the completion of
the Subscription, Happy On held 987,888,771 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 72.83% of the total issued share capital of the
Company. As at the date of this report, Happy On holds 985,162,771 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 72.64% of the total issued
share capital of the Company.

As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in (i) paying and contributing to the registered
capital, increased registered capital and further investment in Guangzhou
YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (/M &1 {E BB AR A 7)) (‘Guangzhou YBDS')
and Beijing YBDS IT Co, Ltd * (b R BB 1H B 5 ERHL AR 2 ) (‘Beijing
YBDS"), the then two indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company,
especially for Beijing YBDS in order to meet the minimum capital threshold
requirement when submitting bids for the proposed projects offered by
relevant telecommunication service providers in the PRC; and (i) general
working capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company applied approximately
HK$19,785,000 of the proceeds to pay up the outstanding remaining
increased registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS. As the Company
acquired China Mobile Payment Technology Group Company Limited on
23 December 2014, a holding company that owns a subsidiary with the
aforesaid threshold requirement for bids submission, Beijing YBDS was
no longer needed and had been deregistered on 17 June 2016. As stated
in the announcement dated 23 December 2014, the part of proceeds of
approximately HK$45.5 million originally earmarked for Beijing YBDS's
registered capital and the capital increase, together with the remaining
balance of the proceeds were then added to the Company's capital for
new potential projects and general working capital purposes.
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For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
June 2013, 5 August 2013, 20 August 2014 and 23 December 2014, and its
circulars dated 11 July 2013 and 10 November 2014, respectively.

On 19 September 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party not connected with the
Group for the disposal of the entire equity interest in Guangzhou YBDS at
a cash consideration of RMBT, since then, Guangzhou YBDS is no longer a
subsidiary of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a total amount of approximately
HK$904,000 of the net proceeds from the Subscription was utilised for the
purpose as previously disclosed in the annual report of the Company for
the previous financial year.

As at 31 March 2025, there was an unutilised amount of net proceeds of
approximately HK$1,890,000, which was intended to be applied for general
working capital in the manner set out below. The expected timeline for the
intended use of the unutilised net proceeds is as follows:
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Amount utilised

Expected timeline

during Unutilised net for utilising
the year ended proceeds as at the unutilised net
31 March 2025 31 March 2025 proceeds
BE-ZT-HF R-Z-HF
=A=+—H =A=+—H BAXRBA
LEFER HWARE A FRGRRIEFEN
EBREH FRiGRIRFE RERER
HK$’000 HK$’000
(approximately) (approximately)
FET FHERT
(8E4) (8E4)
New potential projects - -
¥EHEIAR
General working capital (904) 1,890 End of March 2026
—REEED —ERFE=ZAE
Total (904) 1,890
#Er
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The Company continues to stay prudent in applying the net proceeds from
the Subscription and has placed the unutilised net proceeds in interest-
bearing deposits with authorised financial institutions or licensed banks.
The board of directors of the Company estimated that the time for utilising
the remaining unutilised net proceeds from the Subscription for general
working capital will be by 31 March 2026. The expected timeline for fully
utilising the unutilised net proceeds is based on the best estimations of
the future market conditions made by the Group and is subject to change
based on the current and future development of the market conditions.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 March 2025 (the "Reporting Period”), the
Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$39,553,000, representing
an increase of approximately 145% when compared with that in the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the "Previous Period") of approximately
HK$16,152,000.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$13,410,000 as compared with profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$6,604,000 for the Previous
Period.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

During the Reporting Period, when compared with the Previous Period,
revenue generated from hardware sales has decreased by approximately
74%, while revenue from system development services has increased by
approximately 0.5%. The revenue from the segment of short messaging
services recorded by the Group during the Reporting Period has increased
by approximately 214% when compared with the Previous Period.

Geographical segments

The provision of system development services, hardware-related business
and short messaging services business mainly cater for the PRC market.
Revenue from the Hong Kong segment represented nil of the total revenue
(Previous Period: nil).
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FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2025, the shareholders’ funds deficiency of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1,332,000. Current assets were
approximately HK$15,101,000, mainly comprising bank balances
and cash of approximately HK$1,839,000, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$52,000, contract assets
of approximately HK$180,000 and trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$13,030,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised
trade and other payables of approximately HK$16,945,000 and lease
liabilities of approximately HK$621,000. The net liability value per share
was approximately HK$0.011
percentage of bank borrowings and long term debts over total equity, was
nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group, determined as a ratio of current assets
over current liabilities, was 0.86:1 (as at 31 March 2024: 0.85:1).

. The Group's gearing ratio, expressed as a

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and China. The Group's assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
Renminbi. The currency exchange rate risk of the Group is immaterial,
and the Group did not engage in any hedging activities. However, the
management will monitor foreign exchange exposure and consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, the Group had no charges on the Group’s
asset.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 23 employees (including 6 Directors,
one of which resigned on 1 June 2025 and one of which was appointed
on 1 June 2025) (31 March 2024: 24 employees (including 6 Directors)).
The total remuneration paid to employees, including Directors, for the
Reporting Period was approximately HK$6,098,000 (Previous Period:
HK$5,883,000). Remuneration is determined by reference to market
terms and the performance, qualification and experience of each
individual employee. Annual year-end double pay is paid based on each
individual employee’s performance as recognition of and reward for
their contributions. Other benefits accruing to the employees include
contributions made to statutory mandatory provident fund scheme and
a group medical scheme. We also subsidise our employees for pursuing
further studies in related fields.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or associated companies during the Reporting Period.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In order to enhance the capital efficiency and to maximise the return from
the working capital of the Group, the Group reasonably and strategically
utilised the idle funds of the Group to conduct the subscriptions and
redemptions of wealth management products for investment purposes.

Going forward, the Group will consider whether to utilise part of its
idle funds to conduct the subscriptions and redemptions of wealth
management products, by taking into account of (i) the flexible investment
term of each of the wealth management products in which the Group
is able to freely subscribe additional or redeem part of the wealth
management products to cater the capital needs of the Group's operation;
(i) that whether the risk associated with the wealth management products
is relatively low and whether the wealth management products are
acquired from larger banks; (i) that whether the subscriptions and the
redemptions offer a better return than the prevailing fixed-term deposit
interests rates generally offered by commercial banks in the PRC; and (iv)
that the subscriptions and redemptions have no material impact on the
operations and working capital of the Group.

The significant investments held by the Group which were classified as
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income during
the year ended 31 March 2025 are as follows:
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2025
Annual General Meeting") will be held on Monday, 1 September 2025
at 11:00 a.m. at 29/F, The Gateway, Tower 5, Harbour City, 15 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND RECORD
DATE

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2025 Annual General Meeting to be held at
Monday, 1 September 2025, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Wednesday, 27 August 2025 to Monday, 1 September 2025,
both dates inclusive and the record date for determining the eligibility
of shareholders to attend and vote at the 2025 Annual General Meeting
is Monday, 1 September 2025. During this period, no transfer of shares of
the Company will be effected. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the
aforesaid meeting, all share certificates with completed transfer forms must
be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 26 August
2025 for registration.

11:00 a.m. on
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles in and adopted the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) in the Corporate Governance Code
(the "Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules ("GEM Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company has complied with
the Code Provisions set out in the Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”) except for the deviations from Code
Provisions C.1.7 and C.2.1 of the Code as explained as follows:

Code Provision C.1.7

Code Provision C.1.7 stipulates that an issuer should arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors.

During the Reporting Period, the board (the “Board”) of directors
('Directors”) of the Company considered that under the current situations
of close management of the Group and business scale, the possibility
of actual litigation against the Directors is very low. The Company will
consider reviewing various insurance cover proposals and will make such
an arrangement as appropriate.

Code Provision C.2.1

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate.

During the Reporting Period, the executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang
Xiaogi, Ms. Ho Ching and Mr. Ho Yeung (who resigned on 1 June 2025)
focused on evaluating potential business and investment opportunities
and formulating and implementing business strategies to enhance the
revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman
and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates
have been identified for such purpose.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiries with each of the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
adopted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.

EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD
Board Composition

The Board comprises the following members during the Reporting Period
and at the date of this report:

Length of tenure

Executive Directors: Approximate
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi 10 years
Mr. Ho Yeung (resigned on 1 June 2025) 8 years
Ms. Ho Ching 4 years
Mr. Chen Hua (appointed on 1 June 2025) 1 month
Independent non-executive Directors: Approximate
Mr. Lau Chor Ki 8 years
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony 11 years
Mr. Wong Kin Kee 7 years

Mr. Chen Hua was appointed as executive Director on 1 June 2025. He
obtained the legal opinion referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing
Rules on 23 May 2025 and confirmed that he understood his obligations as
a director of the Company.
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Board Meeting

Exges

&2 Sho 2

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters, review #EZ @K VB FRITUNDZ

financial and operating performance and discuss the Group's direction and

strategy.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held.

Details of the Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings during the

Reporting Period are as follows:
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Attendance/ Attendance/

Number Number

of Board of general

meetings meeting

held during held during

the Reporting  the Reporting

Period Period

HERE HERE,

R =M REEHHE

B2 B2

EEEERNE BRERAEARH

Mr. Wang Xiaogi FEER LA 4/4 1

Mr. Ho Yeung (resigned on 1 June 2025) AFEE(RZE_RF A —HET) 3/4 0/1

Ms. Ho Ching fAIiE 22 £+ 4/4 1/1

Mr. Chen Hua (appointed on 1 June 2025) PRiESE (MZZE_RAF A —HEZE) -/~ -/~

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE LS 4/4 1

Mr. Lau Chor Ki METEE 4/4 11

Mr. Wong Kin Kee EEELA 4/4 1
Functions of the Board EEg 2R

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group's overall strategy,
considering and approving financial statements, material contracts and
transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The
Board delegates the day to day operation and administration functions to
the executive Directors and the management, while preserving the right
to finally approve key matters and strategic decisions. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to the management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of the
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where the
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management should report back and obtain prior approval from the Board ~ 4h » B Z BT AT (A B1 75 - 275 - HBE M

before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of

BR/HBZE -

the Company. Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information
of Directors and Senior Management”, the Directors do not have any
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each

other.
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The Board understands that they are responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control system, as
well as monitoring and review of the appropriateness and effectiveness of
such system. The Board has delegated such responsibility to the executive
Directors and the management of the Group, and the executive Directors
and the management will report to the Board any findings regarding the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Board and the management have reviewed the Group's financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a risk
management policy and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management
policy covers various aspects including systematic risk identification
and assessment and risk response processes, and a comprehensive risk
monitoring and reporting mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and proposed agendas for all Board and committee meetings
are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the extent
possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to keep
Directors or committee members apprised of the latest developments
and financial position of the Company enabling them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to senior management whenever necessary.

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests relating to a substantial shareholder,
Director or Directors, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Company’s articles of association also
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such substantial shareholder, Director or Directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company’s articles of association, not less than one-third
of the Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Any further appointment of an
independent non-executive Director, who has served the Board for more
than nine years, shall be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by
the shareholders of the Company.

According to Code Provision B.2.2 of the Code, every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi (“Mr. Wang") was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 17 March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed term
of service with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr.
Wang is determined with reference to his qualifications, experience, duties
and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung (“Mr. Ho") was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Ho has entered into a service contract with
the Company on the day of his appointment and has further renewed
his service contract with the Company for a term of another three years
commencing on 1 June 2023. His term of office is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association. Mr. Ho resigned as an executive Director on 1 June 2025.

Ms. Ho Ching (“Ms. Ho") was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 18 June 2021. Ms. Ho presently does not have a fixed term of
service with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Ms.
Ho is determined with reference to her qualifications, experience, duties
and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Chen Hua (“Mr. Chen") was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 1 June 2025. Mr. Chen has entered into a service contract with
the Company on the day of his appointment for a term of three years
commencing on 1 June 2025. His term of office is subject to retirement
and re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s articles of association. The
remuneration of Mr. Chen was determined with reference to the prevailing
market conditions, his experience and his duties and responsibilities on the
Company's affairs.
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (“Mr. Tse") was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr. Tse entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment
and has recently renewed his letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of another three years commencing on 17 May 2025. His term
of office is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association. Mr. Tse has served his role as
an independent non-executive Director for more than nine years, his re-
election will be subject to a separate resolution at the forthcoming annual
general meeting pursuant to Code Provision B.2.3 of Part 2 of the Code.
Mr. Tse shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible to, offer himself for re-election at such annual general meeting.

Mr. Lau Chor Ki (“Mr. Lau") was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1
a letter of appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment
and has further renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of another three years commencing on 1 June 2023. His term of office
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company's articles of association.

June 2017. Mr. Lau has entered into

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (“Mr. Wong") was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment
and has further renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of another three years commencing on 3 April 2024. His term of office
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company's articles of association.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of the
current independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
of the Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers that each of the current independent non-executive Directors is
independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for a specific term but subject to the relevant
provisions of the Company’s articles of association or any other applicable
laws on the Directors' removal or retirement. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, the independent non-executive Directors,
are appointed until 16 May 2028, 31 May 2026 and 2 April 2027.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate.

During the Reporting Period, the executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang
Xiaoqi, Mr. Ho Yeung (who resigned on 1 June 2025) and Ms. Ho Ching
focused on evaluating potential business and investment opportunities
and formulating a new business strategy to enhance the revenue and
growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman and chief
executive officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates have been
identified for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family or other
material and/or relevant relationship between each of the executive
Directors and other members of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's audit
findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of accounting rules
(if any), compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, internal and audit control,
and cash flow forecast.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the Reporting Period, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

The Group's unaudited half-yearly results and audited annual results for the
Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit Committee which is of
the view that such financial statements have been prepared in compliance
with the applicable accounting standards and that adequate disclosures
have been made.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control and
risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating effectively for
the Reporting Period.
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the
Reporting Period is set out below:

—  reviewed the Group's half-yearly and annual financial reports and
results announcements for the Board's approval;

—  reviewed and considered the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Company with the management;

—  reviewed the audit, internal control, risk management and financial
reporting related matters of the Company with the management;
and

— reviewed the work of the external auditors of the Company,
evaluating their independence and performance, and made
recommendation to the Board as to their appointment.

During the Reporting Period, two meetings of the Audit Committee
were held. Details of the members' attendance of the Audit Committee
meetings are as follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

Audit Committee
meetings held during
the Reporting Period

HERE,

RBEHBETZ

EREESSRERY

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony MFEEE 2/2
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MEFEE 2/2
Mr. Wong Kin Kee ERELE 2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the "Remuneration
Committee”) was established in November 2005 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference on (i) 4 December 2013
in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
requirements set out under Code Provisions; and (i) 15 December 2022 to
be in line with, among other matters, Rule 23.07A of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year or on an as
needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages and conditions of employment for the
executive Directors and the senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has performed
its duties to review the remuneration of Board members and a summary
of work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Reporting
Period is set out below:

—  reviewed the service contract and remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and/or senior management;

— assessed the performance of the executive Directors; and

—  made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and/or senior management.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meeting are as follows:
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony WFEEE 11
Mr. Lau Chor Ki M a ST 1/1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee ERELAE 1/1

The policies for the remuneration of the executive Directors and, if

appropriate, the independent non-executive Directors are:

—  to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own
remuneration;

—  the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with

which the Company competes for human resources;
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—  the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking
into account individual performance; and

—  the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of
duties and responsibility of individuals.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established in May 2011 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific written terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in
compliance with Code Provision B.3.

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr.
Lau Chor Ki'and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors as well as Ms. Ho Ching, an executive Director (who was
appointed as a member on 1 June 2025). Mr. Tse is the current chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Tse was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
15 May 2014. He has served his role as an independent non-executive
Director for more than nine years, his re-election is subject to a separate
resolution which is to be approved by the shareholders of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting pursuant to Code Provision B.2.3
of Part 2 of the Code. The Nomination Committee recommended the re-
appointment of Mr. Tse at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify potential
candidates and to make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors.
During the Reporting Period, no new Director was appointed to the Board.
Subsequent to the Reporting Period, Mr. Chen Hua was appointed to the
Board as executive Director on 1 June 2025. In nominating a Director to
the Board, the Nomination Committee will take into account the following
criteria which include, among other things:

— age, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and
educational qualifications, background and other personal qualities
of the candidate;

—  effect on the Board's composition and diversity;

—  commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively
carry out his/her duties;

—  potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the candidate is
selected;
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—  independence of the candidate, if applicable; and

—  other factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination
Committee on a case by case basis.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for monitoring the achievement of any
measurable objectives set out in the policy.

The Company recognises and seizes the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving
a sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board's composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors concurrently holds more
than six directorships of issuers listed on the Main Board or GEM of the
Stock Exchange. Save for Mr. Chen Hua who was newly appointed as an
executive Director on 1 June 2025, the other Directors attended 75% or
more of the Board meetings and Board committees meetings held during
the Reporting Period.

— &

EARBE (RER) - &

— REZBSRENBERRSBEHEMEARE -

EZQCRMEFTEXREZTERE  MiERE
EeREEEAXBRMBCENAFERRES
K e

$ AERALIEEEEENBZTTLMTERZE
CARTFTERREER - RERAIRE R EE
F ARRBRRAEEGK B Z LK RIS
HERRBEARRERAKEERIERETE -

HEEEFG 2 EHEME
EBEEFEXEZ L BIEBTREMIER - Fik -
MERHBEBS  BELR - HERAE 28
EFTeXEZZAEURARST BRA WEE
BAERSUAERBKHER P BEREEENES L
28w o

CARBEBEZHTEE

RZZE-ZRAF=A=+—10 HMEE=ZRAKEE
BIBNREB T ERSGEM ETHA BT ARNE
ERE -BRTR_Z-_AF A —AFEZTAE
PMITEEMRELENUIN B ESHHERS
HERERTNS%SI A LN ERE S ENEEER
BEgF -

EFERHEERAT
:;ﬁ:ﬂ@%%% 27



During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination
Committee meeting are as follows:
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Attendance/Number
of Nomination
Committee meeting

held during the
Reporting Period
HERE
RBEHEETZ
REZEEERB X
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony WFEEE 1/1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MEFEE 1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee ERALAE 1/1
Ms. Ho Ching (appointed as a member on 1 June 2025) falfEZ + (R=ZE-_HFA—H

BEER—EKE) -/~

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EXERBEE

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order to
achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the Board
is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles concerning
corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following corporate
governance functions:

a. to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

b.  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

C. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d.  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

e. to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and performed
by the Board during the Reporting Period are disclosed and explained in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to Code Provision C.1, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed
and relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution to the Board remain
informed and relevant, the Company will be responsible for arranging and
finding suitable training for Directors and providing for its funding.

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction materials
about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as statutory and
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, self-reading materials relating to
rules and regulations, corporate governance and ESG as well as tax and
financial reporting were provided to the Directors. All Directors (except
Mr. Chen Hua who was newly appointed on 1 June 2025) have attended
or participated in courses/seminars/conference/workshops with specific
focus topics on rules and regulations, the Group’s business and directors’
roles and duties.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, an individual
training record of each Director is set out below:

Training record
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RER AREERGEEETZZENMEER -

BE_T_AF=-A=+—HLFE AKEE
MEFRHABRANIOEN - EERERRERER
HERERARBRERFHHRE - 2REE (R
TRZZBZRFRA—BHEZENRESLEIN
S B HERB2MRIE & g&/ THE
b AR EEMEERRAROAN - REEER -
NEEEHAERBE -

RBEHREBEAREAY  SEFZEASE
FIRCEEHIN T

IR 8%

Attending or
participating in
courses/seminars/
conference/
workshops

relevant to rules and
regulations and the
Group’s business/
directors’ duties

Reading materials
relating to rules
and regulations

and discharge of
directors’ duties and
responsibilities

HESZMm
SR A R E B R
AE@MEK METRARAR
EEREEHEZ ERRET
RE WHig/ EERER
2%/ THEH BE 2R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi TRR LS v v
Mr. Ho Yeung (resigned on 1 June 2025) MFEEE (RZE_RENA—BEHE) v v
Ms. Ho Ching fAlfE %+ v v/
Mr. Chen Hua (appointed on 1 June 2025)  FR#ESE (RZE-RF A —HEZT) - -
Independent non-executive Directors B FEHITESE
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony T LA v v
Mr. Lau Chor Ki MEEEE v/ v/
Mr. Wong Kin Kee ERAELE v /
EFRERFRLT
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael (“Mr. Tung") as its company secretary. Although Mr. Tung is
accessible by all Directors and the senior management, Mr. Ho Yeung (who
resigned on 1 June 2025) and Mr. Wang Xiaogji, our executive Directors, are
the principal persons with whom Mr. Tung liaises with. For the Reporting
Period, Mr. Tung has received relevant professional training of not less than
15 hours to update his skills and knowledge.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period were audited by Prism Hong Kong Limited (formerly known as
Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited) ("Prism”) whose term of office
will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that Prism will be re-appointed
as the auditors of the Company subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company's auditors, Prism, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
was as follow:

RAME
ARARCRE-—RINBRBIEHBRESEE
(REED RERAME -BEEZRESNSN
EEEYRBMEAREL  ERTERAFEE R
“ECRFRAA-HBE) RERBELERRSE
EZEBBEA RMERHE RELEEZD
DS/ Z AE B B IR DI DA SR T E R B e
R -

o B8 Bl 7 B

RBEHRE  ARAGEAMBERREHEZTES
MEFMERAR (FIEALEMBEMER
FrERAR) (MEE)) #FZ > REHKREER
RBFRE LEW BERREGCAEFERH
BEMREEZRARBZZEE  HEELARR
ARRNEERRBFEANSG LHE -

REHRRE - RERRIFBZRGC A HEAAR
NREREEMBEZEZHEMT

Type of Services HK$’000
PR 7% 38 5Bl FER
Audit services EZRT 500
Non-audit services IEBEZIRTS -
Total #Et 500
DIVIDEND POLICY iR B BUR

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with
effect from 1 January 2019. The aim of the Dividend Policy is to allow the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits
of the Company whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future
growth. According to the Dividend Policy, in addition to the final dividends,
the Company may declare interim dividends or special dividends from time
to time.
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According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider the following
factors before proposing and declaring dividends:

(i) the Group's general financial condition;
(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(iv)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(vi)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

(vii)  the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Laws of the Cayman Islands, the articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period as the Company recorded no distributable profit for the
Reporting Period.

The Company confirms that, during the Reporting Period, all dividend
decisions made by the Board were made in accordance with the Dividend
Policy.

REREEE  BEFEREZKMN REIREEA
AERBIATHEE
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy"). In designing the Board’'s composition, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, there is one female Director on the Board. The
Company considers that the minimum requirement for gender diversity
in the Board has been attained. The Company currently has no concrete
plan (including the numerical targets and timelines) or specific measurable
objectives for further promoting gender diversity in the Board and has yet
to adopt any measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors to the
Board to achieve gender diversity. In the future, the Board will continue
to pay due regard to the importance of diversity in identifying potential
candidates for directorships and continue to ensure that gender is one of
the factors to be considered in appointing Directors by the Nomination
Committee.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the workforce
level. As at 31 March 2025, the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group
(excluding senior management) and senior management was 57:43 and
50:50 male to female.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
services. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Implementation and Monitoring

The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, and monitored the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy annually.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and
considered that the Group achieved the Board Diversity Policy during the
year. The Nomination Committee will review the implementation and
effectiveness of the board diversity, as appropriate, to ensure its continued
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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The Board currently comprises members from various age groups and
both genders. The Board considers that the current board composition
is diverse, with a well-balanced mix of professional backgrounds, skills,
experience, gender and age. The Nomination Committee will regularly
review the Board's composition and ensure the diversity of the Board.

The Board possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives among the Board members that are appropriate to the
Group's business nature, corporate strategy and structure, contributing
to the Board's effectiveness. The Board comprises a range of expertise
including but not limited to telecommunication, technology and
computing, investment management, banking and finance, as well as
accounting and corporate finance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, together with the management, has developed the Group's
internal control, risk assessment and management systems. The Board has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's
risk management and internal control systems to the executive Directors
and the management, and the executive Directors and the management
will report to the Board any findings regarding the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group from time to time.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company’s risk
management and internal control system, and reviews and evaluates the
effectiveness of the systems at least annually to ensure the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage and mitigate risks, rather than to eliminate risks, of failure
to achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. We have employed a bottom-up approach for identification,
assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit levels and across
functional areas.
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Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the establishment of a risk management policy and a risk
reporting mechanism to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective responsive procedures,
and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not limited to
the followings when identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that
affect the achievements of the Group's objectives:

—  the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

—  the extent and categories of risks that the Board regards as
acceptable for the Group;

—  the likelihood of the risks materialising;

—  the Group's ability to reduce the incidence of risks and the impact
on its business when risks materialise; and

—  the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and identifies
the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives by
performing the followings:

— understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

— determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

— identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving the
objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact of
particular risks; and

— monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in place
to address them.
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Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems by considering factors including but not limited to the
followings:

—  the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

—  the scope and quality of management’s monitoring of risks and of
the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other third party consultants;

— the extent and frequency of the communication of the results of the
monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which enables a
cumulative assessment on the state of control in the Group and the
effectiveness with which risk is being managed;

— theincidence of significant control failings or weakness that has
been identified at any time during the period and the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Group's financial performance or condition; and

— the effectiveness of the Group's processes relating to financial
reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.

In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order to
adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic reviews
of the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant, PAL Advisory Limited ("PAL Advisory”), to execute the internal
audit function. The responsibilities of PAL Advisory are to conduct annually
an internal control review of the effectiveness of the Group's financial
reporting procedures, systems and control for the Reporting Period in
accordance with the requirements under Code Provision D.2 of the Code
and the scope of review agreed and approved by the Audit Committee.
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After having conducted an internal control review, PAL Advisory reported
to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee was satisfied and
confirmed that there had been no major deficiency noted in the areas of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems being reviewed
after implementation of the recommendations on the internal control
deficiency. The Audit Committee reviews annually the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated procedures and has
access to information necessary to fulfil its duties and responsibilities with
respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the Audit
Committee and the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be appropriate and effective for the purposes set out in
Code Provision D.2 of the Code and implemented with adequate resources
during the Reporting Period.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information and other
discloseable information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information being
maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information and other discloseable information,
which includes:

— designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information and other discloseable information
to designated departments;

—  designated persons and departments to determine further escalation
and disclosure as required; and

—  designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively. There are
no significant changes during the Reporting Period in (i) the Company's
assessment of risks and (ii) the risk management and internal control
system.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has followed up on those
recommendations made by the independent consultant as part of its
comprehensive review on the internal controls of the Group. As such, the
Group's internal supervision and risk prevention measures continue to
improve.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditor’s report contained in this annual report for the Reporting
Period.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditor of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any one
or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of
the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and sufficient contact details to enable these
enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong at Unit 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group as well as
governance and performance against the Company's corporate strategy
to be discussed at shareholders’ meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the
Board by written requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of
the Company, a shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward a
proposal should convene an extraordinary general meeting by following
the procedures as set out in the paragraph headed “How shareholders can
convene an extraordinary general meeting” above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy
and considers that effective communication with the Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company has
established various and a wide range of communication channels with the
Shareholders. These include shareholders’ general meetings, interim results
and annual results, interim reports and annual reports, announcements
and circulars and results announcement. In addition, the Company
updates its website from time to time to keep the Shareholders updated
of the latest information of the Company’s recent development. The
Board, in particular, the independent non-executive Directors, endeavours
to maintain an ongoing dialogue with the Shareholders. At the annual
general meeting, the Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are
available to meet with the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
Save for the annual general meeting, no other special engagement was
requested by and conducted with the Shareholders during the Reporting
Period. For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company has strictly
implemented the shareholders’ communication policy in accordance with
relevant requirements by conducting multi-channel communications
with the Shareholders and investors through various methods, including
the issuance of communication documents (such as announcements and
regular reports), updating the Company’s website, and convening results
announcements and shareholders’ meeting, etc. In view of the above,
the Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy, and considered the policy effective.

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and of
the Company (http://www.8050hk.com/).

Save for the adoption of the second amended and restated articles of
association of the Company by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 1 August 2022 to, among others, (i) bring the Company's
articles of association to be in line with the relevant requirements of the
applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the GEM Listing Rules, (ii) enable
the Company to convene and hold electronic or hybrid general meetings
of members and (iii) make other consequential and housekeeping
changes, there are no significant changes in the Company’s memorandum
and articles of association during the Reporting Period. For details of
amendments to the Company’s articles of association, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 24 June 2022 and its circular dated 30
June 2022, respectively.
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INTRODUCTION

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in providing short messaging services ("SMS") for businesses
and offering the associated technology and channels to support such
services. The Group also conducts information verification for other
companies; constructs unified digital authentication systems, including
application integration, operation, and maintenance of such systems; and
builds infrastructure for real-name system management based on eCitizen
digital identity verification technology. Additionally, the Group authorizes
a website to digitally replicate, issue, and disseminate educational course
video content over information networks, as well as designs mobile web
pages for marketing purposes.

Excellent Master Investments Limited (‘Excellent Master”) is principally
engaged in financing and provision of payroll and administrative services
in Hong Kong and has an office located in Hong Kong.

Shenzhen Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd. OF JIl T 8 &
R FE AR AR (“Cyber Security’) is principally engaged in the
technical development and software development of credible identity
authentication services related products in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC” or "China’). Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd. CRYI T B 1E 12 B Rl
B R /2 7)) ("Shenzhen YBDS") is a telecommunications company which
constructs unified payment system and platform, and to provide training
in and consultancy on robotic process automation for a software and
information technology service company. All two subsidiaries are located

at an office in Shenzhen.

ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
summarises the Group's environmental, social and governance ("ESG”)
practices, plans and performance, and demonstrates the Group’s
commitment to sustainable development.

Reporting Period

Unless specifically stated otherwise, this Report covers the ESG activities,
challenges and measures taken by the Group from 1 April 2024 to 31
March 2025 (the “Year” or “2025").

BE
ARAIREMBAR (REAEE]) TE2LS
R A 3R AT 15 AR 75 30 FiE (4 AR R Al e SR AE A STIR

ZIRT c ARENMAEMABETESRE 2
BRE—BFRERG BRRTEAER EE
MBEZRT YRBERe ARBFHNRAE
R E R EREROREMRE - LS A%
ERE - ESEABB I ANESR  &h - YEE
B L ERHERERARNDT - URRAAR
BB ERMEE -

Excellent Master Investments Limited ([ Excellent
Master|) T ZX K AN BB 2RE RIRH T H
RITHRT  WREBREMRERE -

AYTRELREBERAE ((HARABR]) TERF
FEARKME ((HED REAESHREREHE
FAE Mm% RS E - RYIHEEESE
MEERAR (MRYBE]) RERSE—XNH RS
LRFEamEERT BONA—FKRUERESHN
ROBRTE A R 23 AR B Bk 70 eV IR Bl e
TR o M ENE QRSN RYIPERE -

BARERE HERELRRSE

AEE - HeREARE ([REE]) il A%
EHRE - HekEL(RE HEREADE
BoHERRE YRRAEEHIHELEREN
G o

& 1

BREHBEN  ARERE-T_MEMA—
BE-Z2-AF=A=+-A(FRIX=%
—EE) FERASEORE  HERER)
B B RIREAOEHE -

BETRGEERAR
—EoRFERE

39



Reporting Scope

The reporting scope of the Report is consistent with that in the previous
reporting year (“2024") and is determined based on the materiality and
revenue contribution of the business segments under the Group's direct
operational control throughout the Year. The Report covers the overall
performance, risks, strategies, measures and commitment in ESG areas
of the Group's offices in Hong Kong and Shenzhen, where the Group's
principal businesses are located.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’).

For the preparation of this Report, the Group has adopted the following
reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality: The Group regularly conducts materiality assessments to
identify the material ESG issues to the Group's business, thereby adopting
the confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of the
Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board
of Directors (the “Board”) and the Environmental, Social and Governance
Working Group (the “ESG Working Group”). For further details, please
refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment”.

Quantitative: The standards, methodologies and applicable assumptions
used in the calculation of key performance indicators ("KPIs") data were
supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the preparation approach of the
Report is consistent with the previous year for comparison purposes. If
there are any changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation methods
that may affect comparisons with previous reports, the Group will provide
explanations for the corresponding data.

Balance: This Report avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that may inappropriately influence any decision or judgment by the Report
reader.
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MESSAGE FROM THE DIRECTOR

Dear Valued Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present this Report which
demonstrates the Group’s growing commitment to improving the Group’s
ESG performance.

While the Group is committed to creating value for its shareholders, it also
strives to fulfil its corporate social responsibility. The Board is ultimately
responsible for overseeing the Group’s corporate governance and
overall ESG management approach. The Board plays a supervisory role
in collecting data, drafting and reviewing the Report. Information on the
Group's governance structure is set out in the section headed “Governance
for Sustainability”.

In order to prioritise material ESG-related issues, the Board continuously
communicates with the Group’s stakeholders with reference to the
opinions of different stakeholders, and regularly invites them to participate
in the materiality assessment to assess the materiality of various ESG issues
and their risks to the Group's operations. Information on the stakeholder
communication channels and the materiality assessment conducted by
the Group are set out in the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and “Materiality Assessment” respectively. In order to better understand the
stakeholders’ expectations on the Group's sustainable development, the
Group will further strengthen the communication with stakeholders and
formulate relevant sustainable development policies and measures with
reference to their opinions to improve the Group'’s ESG performance.
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The Group is committed to minimising its environmental impact to ensure
sustainable business growth. As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group
has been taking measures in different areas to reduce its environmental
impact and regularly reviewing the effectiveness of such measures. In
addition, the Group recognises the importance of setting targets for its
ESG performance. Therefore, the Group has set targets for ESG issues that
are material to the Group. The Board and ESG Working Group use the
data collected to compare the Group's performance in different years to
track the progress of ESG targets. To achieve the ESG targets, the Group
implements different environmental protection measures and raises
employees’ awareness of ESG. The Group believes that these objectives
and environmental protection measures can help raise the environmental
awareness of the Group’s employees and enhance the Group’s ESG
performance to meet the expectations of stakeholders.

Wang Xiaoqi
Director
20 June 2025

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2025

42

AEEBNBERBARENTE - NERES
MATREER -(FRABARGEENEE A&

B —E s TR ERRERE - RO HRENTEE
I 5E BB A B FE M AR © b S - AN E R
AERE HEREARAREEENERE -
At AREERBEAREM S BEANIRE
HERERZEREER EFERIRE HE
N ER TR/ NMAER AP R BB L AR BT
REMHRE  ARERE HEREREEDN
ER-RERRE HERERER AKEE
HETARRERER LRSETHRE HEak
ERMRE - AREMRE  ZFEFERRRER
EPRSAEEETINRRER  BIALEEN
RE - HEMEARE  UNARHNHENHE -

=2l
THEE
—E-RFNA=+H



GOVERNANCE FOR SUSTAINABILITY

The Group has established the ESG Working Group to raise employees’
awareness of ESG issues. The ESG Working Group is comprised of senior
management and general staff with adequate knowledge on ESG. Its
members span across different business departments. They are responsible
for executing the Group's ESG measures, collecting and analysing ESG data,
giving suggestions to the Board on ESG issues and reviewing ESG-related
matters across the Group’s different departments.

With the assistance of the ESG Working Group, the Board continuously
evaluates and monitors the Group's ESG performance, risks, opportunities
and targets. The Board and the ESG Working Group arrange meetings at
least once per year to discuss the effectiveness of the Group's policies
and procedures and seek opportunities to improve the Group's ESG
performance. The ESG Working Group reports its findings to the Board at
least once per year so that the Board can find solutions to manage the
Group's ESG risks and opportunities.

The Group has established a quantitative ESG performance management
mechanism that includes important ESG indicators to review the Group'’s
progress on the relevant ESG targets. The ESG Working Group is responsible
for assisting in the execution of the relevant measures to strive to achieve
the expected progress.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability of the
Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build both online and
offline communication channels and to provide stakeholders with timely
reports on strategic planning and performance of the Group in order to
establish a continuing communication mechanism with the stakeholders.
In addition, the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the expectations
of the stakeholders.
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The stakeholders include the shareholders, governments and regulatory
bodies, employees, customers, suppliers as well as society and the public.
The Group discusses with the stakeholders through various channels for
their expectations and relevant feedback of the Group as shown below:

HNERRRR BURREEHRE RS TP
HEAURHERAR - AEBE RS EREN
HOEIRRESNPLERAEEAEERE - ;
BT

Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations

K& BERE HE

Shareholders Annual general meetings and other general - Financial results

f% 5 meetings - HBEE
BRAFAGREMBRERAE Corporate transparency
Financial reports EBERE
B R Sound risk management and internal
Announcements and circulars control
NE R K TERBREERATET

Governments and regulatory bodies

BT M EE W

Employees

(==

Customers

P

Suppliers
e

Society and the public
HERAR
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Regular reporting

E HAME R
Written or electronic communication .
NEBREFHAER .
Public consultation .
NS

Training and seminars
Bl R E
Regular performance appraisal

EHIR B

Customer services hotline and email .
BERBAERE
Company website

NGIEED

Supplier performance assessment
e 7 3R 3R 5T
Tele-conference

BEEH :

Community investment
HERIRE

ESG reports

RE -HekEams

Corporate sustainability

ERAFERR

Compliance operation
BRKE

Continuous communication
HEER

Beneficial cooperation

REFA1E

Career development

BRER

Competitive remuneration and benefits
RSy R Wl E-dl DI TR

Equal opportunity

TEHRE

Healthy and safe working environment
BRREE2ITIERE

Customer rights and interests protection
RER PR RS

Customer privacy protection
REEXPILE

High quality products and services

BEEMNMRE

Responsible supply chain management
BENHHEREETE

Business ethics and credibility
BRERRESE

Fair bidding

ATHRE

Supplier privacy protection

REHERLE

Environmental protection
RERE
Employment opportunities provision

REUFERE



MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMFTM

During the Year, the Group undertook its annual materiality assessment AR - AEBOETHFEEEEZWT(E &
exercise. This involved conducting interviews and surveys with internal % & ¥ R 30 R ANEBH5 (0 BT A NTE - LAk
and external stakeholders to identify the most significant operating, AN HEBMEFBEREANEE RERMLEF
environmental and social impacts towards its business. The management £ AEFEEES T EHENEEERESNSF
and employees who are responsible for the key functions of the Group ~ 2 EFEHAIHE - B AEBEEHHZE - #5
have participated in preparing the Report, and have assisted the Group ~ B#IRHE - HEREREE U HZEEEY
in reviewing its operations, identifying key ESG issues and assessing the HEBRIFNENEEN - ABREEREEEN
importance of these issues to its businesses and stakeholders. The material #8315 - H & N EAZE o

ESG topics will be covered in the Report.

The Group's Materiality Martix for 2025
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1 Greenhouse gas (‘GHG) emissions BERE (BERE) I 9 Training and development EIRER
2 Waste management BENER 10 Supply chain management HEEER
3 Energy consumption BRER i Customer satisfaction EPHER
4 Water consumption KEFER 12 Customer privacy protection RPEALRE
5 Climate change ARE( 13 Anti-corruption k&3
6 Employee benefits EEREH 14 Corporate governance TEER
7 Equal opportunity TEHe 15 Community investment HERE
8 Occupational healthand safety  BEBRRZ2
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CONTACT THE GROUP

The Group values feedback from stakeholders. If you have any enquiries
or suggestions regarding the Report or the Group's performance in

Address: Unit 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

BEFEE

AEBEEFNENRE - BTHARER
$%ET?%%%&E??EE’E%EEEEFJ%E’EQE
sustainable development, please feel free to contact the Group by post. &
The Group's contact is as follows:

Environmental Targets

R BET A AEAARNEERE  c KAEE
MEgE A mT
otk : HEEFETITEISIREARFLI3E
1308 =
A. BB
RRBEE
REBH OB EEHRBEEXNNFZERE

The Group strives to minimize its potential impact on the
environment and takes sustainable development into consideration
when developing its business strategy. With the aim to address
shareholders’ expectations and concerns about ESG issues, and to
better manage the Group’s performance on material ESG issues, the
Group has set targets on GHG emissions, waste management and
energy consumption in 2023. The ESG Working Group will continue
to review the Group's progress towards its targets for each reporting
period and make efforts to achieve such targets.

The Group's environmental targets are summarised as follows:

BN WA HIEEE R Z R FER
R-AEERIERE HEREREE
M EREE TEEREEBALSETES
ARE - HERERBELMNRR A%
ER—_ZT=—FHEREREHN R
MEBRERBEEEZE -BR HERE
AITENABEERTAEEES RS H
NREBERZEE U HEREHEBEZE-

AEBMNIRRBEHALNT

Aspect Target Progress
g B BE
GHG emissions Maintaining or reducing the total GHG emissions  In progress
BERBYEN intensity, using approximately 65.09 kgCO,e per #7750
m?in 2023 as the baseline.
N—ZB - =F8FHKL509RT R
EREEREE ERHABRELRESR
BHREBE -
Waste management Maintaining or reducing the non-hazardous  In progress
BEEMER waste intensity, using approximately 0.17 kg~ #17H
per m?in 2023 as the baseline.
NZZEZ=FFFHRNTRATRE
% ﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬂfﬁ,m%}%;ﬁ% g e
Energy consumption Maintaining or reducing the total energy  In progress
BEIREFE consumption intensity, using approximately — #17#

86.66 kWh per m?in 2023 as the baseline.
N=—F—
BRSRERARREREE
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Emissions

The Group attaches great importance to good environmental
management, and strives to protect the environment to fulfil
social responsibilities of the Group. The Group has formulated
the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the Environmental
Protection Management Measures for Offices to regulate the limited
GHG and non-hazardous wastes generated during operation, so as
to contribute to environmental protection and pursue sustainable
development.

Various sustainable development measures have been adopted to
address environmental responsibilities, including but not limited
to encouraging employees to switch off the lights after the use
of a room to reduce electricity usage. The Group is committed
to continuously improving the ways these initiatives are being
promoted.

During the Year, the major sources of GHG emissions included
indirect GHG emissions from purchased electricity (Scope 2) and
paper waste disposal (Scope 3). The Group's total GHG emissions
intensity has increased mainly because of the replacement of
old air conditioning units with new ones that consume more
electricity. This upgrade was necessary to maintain a good working
environment, but the Group remains dedicated to pursuing energy-
efficient solutions and reducing emissions in the future.

In addition, the Group has introduced measures to raise
environmental protection awareness into its day-to-day operations.
Employees are encouraged to minimise the energy consumption
and paper wastage by ways such as (i) the establishment of general
guidelines for efficient use of resources; (ii) daily cost-saving
proposals such as the prior use of recycled papers for printing and
setting double-sided printing as the default setting to reduce the
use of paper; and (iii) paperless office initiatives to reduce paper
usage. Furthermore, the Group has encouraged green office concept
and promoted the 3R concept of “reduce, reuse and recycle”. It has
actively reminded its employees of the prevention of environmental
pollution and encouraged waste reduction.

There was no hazardous waste produced from the operations of the
offices in Hong Kong or Shenzhen. The Group’s major non-hazardous
waste produced from the operations of these two offices was office
paper. The total non-hazardous waste intensity has decreased due to
the reuse of paper for printing.
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As the Group does not consume a significant volume of water in its
business activities, the Group's operation did not generate material
discharges into water during the Year. Moreover, the amount of
water consumption of the Group represents the sewage discharge
volume.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to air and
GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The relevant laws and
regulations include, but are not limited to, the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Water Pollution
Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group’s
emissions in the Year are shown in the table below:

Air Pollutant Emissions

The Group's air emissions mainly come from the consumption of
unleaded petrol during the operation of vehicles. Since there was
no vehicle usage during the Year, the Group was unable to obtain
air pollutant emissions data in the Year. To minimise the impact on
the environment, the Group has taken proactive measures to reduce
air emissions, such as regular maintenance and repair of vehicles
to prevent them from emitting excessive emissions due to broken
parts, etc., and strict compliance with emission standards.
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GHG Emissions

BEREHEK

Indicator (Note 1) Unit 2025 2024
BE (K1) B e T —E-NmEF
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) kg COse N/A N/A
HERERBHWE (HBE1) YN R i A i@ A
Energy indirect GHG emissions from electricity kg COse 22,064.17 17,846.21
consumption (Scope 2)
AEMELANERERAEREBHNE (BE2) AT _SALKREE
Other indirect GHG emissions from disposal of paper kg CO.e 283.06 319.50
waste at landfills (Scope 3) (Note 2)
REEREEEANEMHEERERE AT ZS(LIREE
YERE (8E3) (Mfat2)
Total GHG emissions kg CO,e 22,347.23 18,165.71
RERBHMEE AT ZE(LRE S
Intensity of total GHG emissions per m? of floor area kg COe/m? 5835 4743
(Note 3)
BEFAREHEENEERBHEREERE /N k- K
(Ktzt3)
Note 1: GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and Miatr - BAERBHERERA-_E(REEREMET]

Note 2:

Note 3:

are based on, including but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, the
“Sustainability Report 2024" published by HK Electric Investments Limited
and the “Baseline Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China for 2023
Emission Reduction Projects” published by the Department of Climate Change
of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

As the water supply and drainage facilities of the Group's offices in PRC and
Hong Kong are managed by the property management company, the Group
did not have water consumption record during the Year, hence other indirect
(Scope 3) GHG emissions during the Year was only sourced from paper waste
disposal.

As at 31 March 2025, total floor area of offices included in the reporting scope
was 383 m? (31 March 2024: 383 m?). These data are used for other intensity
calculations as well.
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Wastes BEY

Indicators Unit 2025 2024

BE By —E_HEF —E-NF

Hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 1) kg N/A N/A

ELBEBEENMEE (Mit1) N i F N3 F

Intensity of hazardous wastes produced per m? of floor  kg/m? N/A N/A
area

BYAAREHEEMELESEEYEE R/ FFAK iE A @A

Non-hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 2) kg 58.97 66.56

ESXEEREZYES (Hid2) N

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes kg/m? 0.15 0.17

BEERNEE R/ FFAK

Note 1: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including chemical wastes,
clinical wastes and hazardous chemicals in its operations.

Note 2: This figure represents the major non-hazardous waste produced by the Group,
which is office paper.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business
activities on the environment. A number of initiative measures
designed to conserve resources have been introduced to promote
employees’ awareness of the need for resource conservation and
achieve efficient utilisation of resources.

Energy Management

As mentioned in the above “Emissions” section, the Group has
formulated the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the
Environmental Protection Management Measures for offices to
minimise the electricity consumed by the employees. To implement
the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, employees are required to
switch off equipment, including air-conditioners, computers, printers,
photocopiers and lights when they finish work. Air conditioners
are set for indoor temperature between 24 to 26 degrees Celsius
in summer, with an aim to reduce electricity usage. In addition, the
Group has encouraged the installation of compact fluorescent light-
bulbs, T5 fluorescent lamps and light emitting diode (“LED").

The Group's total energy consumption intensity has increased due
to the replacement of old air conditioning units with new ones that
consume more electricity. This upgrade was necessary to maintain
a good working environment, but the Group remains dedicated to
pursuing energy-efficient solutions and reducing emissions in the
future.
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During the Year, the Group's energy consumption mainly come from
electricity consumption at office. Purchased electricity is the main
source of indirect energy consumption. The energy consumption
performance is summarised below:

FA-AEENERERIZRERAE
RE-IBENRRAZKERBERNETER
R o RERBRRIBMIAT -

Energy consumption RETRHAE

Indicators Unit 2025 2024
EE B —B-hHF —E-EF
Direct energy consumption kKWh N/A N/A
HERRER TR i i@ A
Indirect energy consumption (Note 1) kKWh 30,080.00 22,819.21
M aEIRBRE (Afat 1) F R

Total energy consumption kKWh 30,080.00 22,819.21
HELIRHRE FRE

Total energy consumption intensity kKWh/m? 78.54 59.58

REETRRREE

Note 1: Indirect energy consumption represents electricity purchased from external
sources and consumed by the Group.

Water Management

Since the water supply and drainage facilities of our offices in the
PRC and Hong Kong are managed by the property management
company, the Group was unable to obtain water consumption data
in the Year.

Since the Group did not consume a significant amount of water,
no quantitative water efficiency targets were in place during the
Year. However, water efficiency initiatives have been promoted as
the Group has reminded its employees to check the water supply
equipment, keep the water tap off when not in use and arrange for
immediate repairs in case of leakage or other damages.

Due to the Group's operational location, there is no material issue in
sourcing water that is fit for its purpose.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group's business operation does not involve production
process, no packaging material is consumed by the Group.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite that there is no significant impact on the environment and
natural resources from the operations, the Group has formulated
the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the Environmental
Protection Management Measures for Offices to strive to reduce
the impact of its operations on the environment. The Group is
dedicated to providing employees a comfortable and green working
environment by cleaning the air-conditioning system including air
filters and air ducts regularly and selecting products with low or zero
volatile organic compounds emitted. Also, the Group encourages all
employees to participate in different kinds of recycling activities to
minimise the use of natural resources.

Climate Change

The Group recognises that climate change has been affecting the
Group's stakeholders, business operations and communities in
different aspects. The Group has formulated the Climate Change
Policy to enhance its ability to respond to climate impacts and
mitigate the risks and impacts of climate change on the Group,
thereby helping the Group to adapt to and resist climate change.
During the Year, the Group has been paying close attention to the
impact of climate change as described below.
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Physical risks

Extreme weather caused by climate change such as typhoons and
rainstorms may disrupt business operations in the short term. In
order to minimise disruptions to the Group's business operations,
the Group has put in place a set of contingency measures for
adverse weather conditions as well as appropriate back-up of
important information to minimise the negative impact on the
Group's business.

In addition to the above, the Group is also fully aware that extreme
weather conditions may endanger the health and safety of
employees. Therefore, the Group has formulated comprehensive
typhoon and rainstorm arrangements to protect the health and
safety of employees in extreme weather conditions. The Group
also takes into account the different situations faced by individual
employees under extreme weather conditions as far as possible,
such as residence, nearby roads and traffic conditions, and adopts
flexible treatment methods depending on the actual difficulties and
needs of employees. For example, the Group implements a flexible
off-duty day schedule for employees. At the same time, under
extreme weather conditions, the human resources department
will remind and notify employees of the latest weather conditions
through communication software or emails.

Transition risks

In terms of legal risks, the Group expects that the laws and
regulations related to climate change will become more stringent,
such as the possibility that local governments may adopt more
aggressive policies and measures to limit GHG emissions. As a
result, the Group may be exposed to legal risks and may have to
incur higher operating costs to comply with regulatory changes.
The Group has adopted a series of measures against possible legal
risks. The Group continuously monitors any changes in laws or
regulations. In addition, the Group has been taking comprehensive
measures to protect the environment, including measures aimed at
reducing GHG emissions. As the Group goes beyond compliance to
strive to improve the environmental performance of its operations,
the Group can quickly adapt to the more stringent regulations that
may arise.
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SOCIAL
Employment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees
based on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during
the recruitment process. To ensure that the rights and interests
of employees are well protected, employment contracts must be
discussed and agreed with prospective employees regarding salaries,
benefits, annual leaves and other employment related issues, prior to
signing by the employees.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare. The relevant laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Promotion, Compensation, and Dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions
and salary increments based on the results of the employees’
performance reviews. Dismissals of employees have been performed
in compliance with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China. The relevant
provisions on termination of the employment are set out in the
employment contract of every staff.

Working Hours, Rest Periods, and Benefits

Both the offices in Hong Kong and Shenzhen are operated under
a five-day work week arrangement with statutory leaves provided
such as annual leaves, sick leaves, maternity leaves, in order to
allow employees to have adequate rest periods. The Group has
also provided medical allowance, MPF schemes (for Hong Kong
employees only) and other benefits to employees. For employees in
the PRC, the Group will pay for their “five social insurance and one
housing fund” including endowment insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity
insurance and Housing Provident Fund pursuant to the law in order
to safeguard the benefits of social insurance of employees.
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Equal Opportunities, Diversity, and Anti-discrimination

The Group’s human resources policy states and their management
ensures that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of
age, sex, marital status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality
or religion, etc. Any form of discrimination is prohibited during any
of their decision-making processes, including normal operations and
any recruitment process.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 20 employees (including 3
Directors) (31 March 2024: 21 employees (including 4 Directors)
Nete 1) 19 of them were full-time employees and 1 was part-time
employee™©? The distribution of workforce classified by different
categories is as follows:

By gender
BRI

FEHE  ZRERRER

AEEZANNERBRRFT AR EE B
R REBRFE MR SREAR RE
AR EERE - FEERR BREIARRE
TEAFEETARE  ERBERAEEE
K IRES TR Fr HOR R B2 L E R Ay 5k -

R-ZB-—RE=A=+—0 AEEEX
BANLES (BIEIEES) (CE-_mE
SASt-B:0%ES (BERES)
wE) L B9 A AR BIER 1 A BRBIE
8 We R ARERE S 2 BB AKDH
W

By age group
REHRAR

SIS0 2 (10%)

HFemale B Male W Under 30 years old m 30-50 years old = Over 50 years old

pegc B 30BRIA T

By location

B

HPRC mHongKong
e FE

Note 1: Due to enhancements in the data calculation mechanism, the method for
calculating the number of employees as at 31 March 2025 has been adjusted.

Note 2: Employee data of 2024 and 2025 has excluded independent non-executive
directors.
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During the Year, the Group's turnover rate is 0%. During the Year, the

FR AEENRKER% RFA X

Group's employee turnover rate is as follows: SENEERAEZNAT :
2025 (Note 2) 2024
Employee turnover rate (Note 1) EBERKE(MaE1) —E-AHF —EIMF
(Kt 2)
By gender &1 Bl 8l 5
Female 4 - -
Male Bt - 22%
By age group RERE S
Under 30 years old 30 AT - -
30-50 years old 30 E 505% - 16%
Over 50 years old 50 8% A E - -
By geographical region ZihE 8 5
PRC H - 17%
Hong Kong BB - -

Note 1: Calculation method of turnover rate (by category): (total number of departures
(by category) of that year = (total number of employees (by category) at the
beginning of the year + total number of employees (by category) at the end of
the year) = 2) X 100

Note 2: Due to enhancements in the data calculation mechanism, the method for
calculating the number of employees as at 31 March 2025 has been adjusted.

Health and Safety

The Group highly values employees’ health and safety and is
always committed to providing employees with a healthy, safe and
comfortable working environment. The Group strives to eliminate
potential workplace health and safety hazards and implement safety
management measures, such as providing employees with masks
during haze in the PRC, installing air purifiers at offices and providing
medicines for employees in case of sickness, to ensure employees’
health and safety during work. The Group has implemented the
Regulations for Management on Employee Safety and Health to
uphold its people-oriented principles and employees’ health and
safety.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in their offices,
the Group has established a set of health and safety management
practices to enhance their safety management and promote
employee safety awareness and, established safety measures, for
example, they will regularly send emails and relevant materials
to employees to advocate the importance of a safe working
environment.
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During the Year, the number of working days lost by the Group
due to work-related injuries was zero (2024: zero). No work-related
fatalities occurred from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025, the rate of
work-related fatalities occurred was 0%. The Group will continue to
strive to ensure the safety of its employees.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards. The relevant laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases, Provisions on the Administration of Occupational Health
at Workplaces of the PRC and Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Development and Training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages
them to participate in continuous learning through their career.
The Group has its tailor-made [T-related examination system for
internal employees of most of the departments. Apart from this,
it has also provided training courses to employees or subsidised
them in joining external training courses organised by professional
bodies. The Group has established the Company Employee Training
Management Measures to standardise and promote the continuous
and effective provision of training to employees. A training plan is
developed by the management based on the requirements from
various departments and employees. On the other hand, learning
experiences will also be provided to employees through job
allocation, improvements in soft skills will also benefit employees in
their career development in the long run.
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During the Year, the Group's employees received a total of 89 hours
of training (2024: 85 hours). The percentage of trained employees
and average training hours completed per employee of the Group
by category are as follows:

RER  REBRETHET S H89/NK (=
TMEF 85/ ) 1Bl - AR EIRAERIE
DRERBINETIAOL R FHEME
TEZERHEINFENT

2025 2024
Percentage of employees trained (Note 1) S IEIINETHO L (FaF1) —E-RHF —ENEF
By gender RERE D
Female el 40% 44%
Male Bt 30% 33%
By employee category REIERE S
Executive directors HITES 100% 75%
Management EIEE 100% 100%
General staff —MRBET 7% 8%
2025 2024
Average number of training hours for BI T TR MNEIRE —E-AHF —E-MF
employees (Note 2) (KtaE2)
By gender &1 B &l 5
Female g 5.30 6.00
Male Bt 360 258
By employee category REIERES
Executive directors BITES 12.00 6.75
Management EHEE 1433 12.00
General staff —mET 0.71 0.77

Note 1: Calculation method of percentage of employees trained by category: (number
of employees trained in that category = total number of employees in that
category at the end of the year) X 100%. Training data of directors include
those from executive directors.

Note 2: Calculation method of training hours by category: total training hours of
employees in that category = number of employees in that category at the end
of the year. Training data of directors include those from executive directors.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the
Group. During the Year, the Group has strictly complied with all
respective laws and regulations regarding the employment of child
labour and forced labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention
of child labour and forced labour were included in the Employee
Handbook and human resources policies.
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Personal data is collected during the employment process to
select suitable candidates and verify candidates’ data. The identity
documents such as physical examination certificates, academic
credentials, identity cards, and account information are carefully
checked in the recruitment process. Furthermore, employees of the
Group working overtime are based on voluntary principles so as to
avoid the violation of labour standards and safeguard the rights and
interests of employees. To prevent any form of forced labour, a job
description outlining the principal responsibilities of the employee
is attached to the labour contract. The Group also prohibits any
punitive measures, management methods and behaviours such
as abusive punishment, violence, mental stress, sexual harassment
(including inappropriate language, posture and physical contact) for
any reason.

If child labor or forced labor is found to be employed as a result of
a breach of the requirements under the Employee Handbook and
human resources policies, the Group will immediately stop the work
of such child labour or forced labour and conduct investigation.

Each department of the Group has designated personnel responsible
for regularly tracking and understanding the updates of regulations,
and will notify the affected departments in real time to comply
with the latest laws and regulations, and to fully implement the
compliance principle. During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to the prevention of child and forced labour. The relevant
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Employment of Children Regulations of Hong
Kong.

Supply Chain Management

During the operations, the Group encourages its suppliers and
business partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line
with the Group. Therefore, the Group has adopted the Supplier Code
of Conduct, which outlines the sustainability standards and practices
that the Group expects its business partners and suppliers to comply
with. Its partners are all worldwide reputable companies and known
for their ethical standards. In selecting and evaluating its suppliers
and business partners, their attitudes towards environmental and
social issues, including human rights, equal opportunities were also
considered. During the Year, there were a total of 3 major suppliers
and all of the 3 major suppliers were located in the PRC.
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The Group strictly follows the procurement procedures to evaluate
the business practices of its suppliers. In the procurement process,
suppliers are assessed based on price, reputation, track record,
initiative to tackle problems, customer service and product and
service quality. During the Year, all suppliers were qualified suppliers
that met the standards in the Group's regular evaluation (2024: all
major suppliers). If the Group discovers any violation of the code by
its business partners or suppliers, the Group will try to communicate
with them to rectify the situation.

Environmental and Social Risks Management

The Group requires environmentally friendly practices on its
suppliers and business partners. For example, it required its business
partners to be certified with the 1ISO14001 or GB/T24001 or other
related environmental management system certifications. During
the supplier and business partner selection processes, it considers
environmental protection as one of the key assessment criteria and
expects the potential impact on the environment to be minimised
during normal operations by its suppliers and business partners.
The Group has also set up health and safety requirements for its
suppliers and business partners, for example, business partners have
to be certified with OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other related
occupational health and safety management system certifications.
The Group regularly reviews the compliance of its supplier
candidates with laws and regulations, including those related to
the environment and society. If the suppliers fail to properly control
their environmental and social risks, they may not be retained in the
Group's list of approved suppliers.

The Group continues to pay attention to the policies implemented
by the local governments where it operates. If the Group finds
information on environmentally friendly products or services
published by the official authorities, the Group will seriously consider
adopting the recommendations of the official authorities to procure
goods and services that have less impact on the environment during
the product cycle. The Group closely monitors the environmental
impacts of its suppliers and explores improvement potential to
further optimise its supplier management practices.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2025

AEBEBBRETREREFAFEEHER
MEERT ERBERES  HEBNF
MERNER BE FECH  BORHEE
MEBN  TEPRBARERLBREEE -
REAR- - FAEHREEA/TAAKETE M
HEENSEREREE (ZT_NF : A
TEHER) MASEBEREXBEHX
HEBECMTRERTR  AKEHKE
SEEBBIAMERBR -

BRERMEARER

AEBEREHERREBEHRIURR
EEFE Bl BMEREBBRETA
515014001 % GB/T24001 #2 75 sk £ b /8 B IR
BERRBARE NEERREFBZED
EEBRET  AEBBRRERERAES
—IEFBAGEE THEEHEERER
BHEBHFEEFHRREVBEZERS
SR - ANEBNMDHEEER REFBMYE
FIERERLZEHT NOEBEEZTR
8 OHSAS18001 3 GB/T28001 52 & 3% H 1t 48 78
BERENLE2TEEZARE - AEHTE
HEEEHEFREARTETAZER
BIRMHIRE ML S HEBE N EEER -
ERREZEEHERERESRAR - #
AT EERBEAEEMI ERE
Bz BER o

AEBEFBERIEEEMAER NI T BF
PREMMBER MAKEHERE T HEMHH
BREDIAMBER  AEEHREEZE
RMEnEs EEMBHANRBYHIRER
FEBINERERE AEETYES
HUBRBERENTE YRRWEZEMH
NE—FBICEHERERTFIL -



Product Responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand
effect and product quality. Besides setting high requirements for
its suppliers and business partners during its selection phases, the
Group has also emphasised product quality improvements, provided
after-sales services to its customers, and has continuously worked
closely with its customers and business partners to solve problems.
The Group has adopted the Shipment and Return Management
System to standardize the Group'’s shipment and return procedures
to ensure the fulfilment of sales contracts.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress. The relevant laws
and regulations include, but are not limited to, the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests, the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Trade Marks Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Quality Management

Achieving and maintaining high-quality standards for projects is of
utmost importance for sustainable development of the Group. In
order to ensure that the Group delivers high-quality services and
sustainable projects to its customers, the process of the projects
is controlled and monitored regularly. By conducting a series of
tests, actual results are compared with the expected results, so as to
identify any abnormalities and areas for improvement and strive for
excellence. The Group ensures that each customer’s needs are met
and that the standard and outcome of every product are consistent.
During the Year, no recalls of products had taken place.

The Group carefully manages and monitors the quality of products.
All products the Group sells are properly labelled to help the Group
to keep track of its products. If there are quality issues with the
products sold by the Group, the Group can use the label tracking
system to promptly identify the source of defects and the defective
batch of products. When necessary, the products will be recalled to
rectify the issues and prevent recurrence in the future.
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Customer Service

The Group continuously improves the quality of its products and
services. If a complaint should arise, the Group will immediately
assess the complaint and conduct an internal investigation into
the matter to identify the source of the issue. If customers are not
satisfied with the quality of products and services or have safety
concerns about products and services, the Group will arrange
sufficient channels and personnel to communicate with customers
in a timely manner and solve the problems as soon as possible.
During the Year, the Group did not receive any complaints from
customers due to product quality or customer service quality (2024:
nil).

Privacy and Intellectual Property Protection

As a responsible service provider, all confidential data related
to the Group’s business, financial and customer information is
securely protected and only used for internal purposes. Besides,
confidentiality agreements must be signed between the Group and
its suppliers and business partners to protect customers' data and
privacy. Employees are trained to maintain the confidentiality of
customers’ information.

Regarding the Group's trademarks, terms in relation to such
intellectual property rights are included in the cooperation
agreements between the Group and its suppliers and business
partners. The Group recognises the importance of intellectual
property protection, so it is dedicated to protecting and enforcing
the Group's own IP rights as well as the IP rights of third party.

The Group regularly reviews the effectiveness of the confidentiality
agreements and the terms in relation to intellectual property
rights to evaluate whether any pattern of improprieties or alleged
improprieties needs to be addressed.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations including the
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China and continues to
strengthen fair marketing practices. The Group has regulated the
conduct of marketing personnel in the process of advertisement
release, product sales and contract signing, strictly prohibiting the
dissemination of misleading and ambiguous product information
and excessive commitment, and protecting customers’ information
rights.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such
as bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. As stipulated
in the Employee Handbook, all employees are required to uphold
business integrity, safequard confidential information and take
reasonable steps to avoid any conflict of interest. The Group believes
that its employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained
a strong ethical conduct during regular business.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. The relevant laws
and regulations include, but are not limited to, the People’s Republic
of China Criminal Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong.

There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group's issuer or its employees during the Year.

Corporate Governance

The Group realises the importance of internal control to a zero-
corruption company culture. Information on preventing conflict of
interest is included in the Employee Handbook of the Group and
was distributed to all employees to follow. Besides, during every
tendering process, an Integrity Agreement must be signed by
both the Group and the suppliers or business partners. The Group
has ensured that all relevant parties will act in accordance with its
requirements on anti-corruption in order to prevent any bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering during the operation.

As stated in the Employee Handbook, employees should not have
a financial or other personal interest in a transaction between the
Group and any of its business units and a vendor, supplier, provider
or customer in order to avoid conflict of interest. Employees are
required to declare situation which may present a conflict of interest
to their supervisors and the Board will be notified.
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The Group is committed to raising employees’ awareness through
providing training on ethical conduct and anti-corruption to all
employees and the directors of the Group. The Group will increase
the frequency of anti-corruption training when more resources are
available in the future.

In addition, the Group has formulated a whistleblowing
mechanism that allows all employees to report on any possible
improprieties, misconducts, malpractices, or irregularities to the
Board, a responsible director or the audit committee. Reports and
complaints received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner.
Such mechanism also aims at protecting whistle-blowers from unfair
dismissal, victimisation and unwarranted disciplinary actions.

To monitor the effectiveness of the whistleblowing mechanism,
the Group reviews all complaints received regularly and conducts
investigations if any pattern of improprieties or alleged improprieties
needs to be addressed.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible corporate, the Group is committed to
serving the communities where it operates. The Group recognises
the importance of the well-being of the local communities to the
continuous growth of its business. Therefore, the Group follows its
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy to encourage its employees to
take part in a wide range of community activities. The Group believes
that by participating in community activities, the Group can increase
employees’ awareness of citizenship and build positive value.

During the Year, the Group did not contribute resources to make
community investment. However, the Group has actively considered
spending money or time to benefit the community in the future.
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INDEX TABLE OF ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF THE BIXAGRE - -2 RERBEES)

STOCK EXCHANGE (1) eI EJ()
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Sections
BERERE E4:0]
Governance Structure Message from the Director
ERRE ExFHE
Governance for Sustainability
AREERER
Stakeholder Engagement
FhESHE
Materiality Assessment
BEE2MRTE
Reporting Principles About the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
i ¥ R A — Reporting Framework
BRNRE e NEARE —MSER
Reporting Boundary About the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
[ R &3 [E — Reporting Scope
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INDEX TABLE OF ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE (II)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPls

TEER EE - -REER

Description

Section/Statement

HRENER i B,/ B9
A. Environmental
A.RR
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT : HHY
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— MR FHBERIBERBHR MRS EEREZEENN  HBRY
EEEN:
@ BK: R
b) BTHETABEATENHBERZRROINER -
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Not applicable (explained)
BB BIEIR AL BERCiE B AR R BB - TER (BERE)
KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in  Emissions — GHG Emissions
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
HRERIRIRAL2 B (BE ) R REE (BE2) REREHMNE UBEAE) R (ME  HY — RAERBHK
R EZE(MASERBEM  §EREHE) °
KPI A13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity ~ Not applicable (explained)
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRERIERA3 FRELREREYHEE CAAE) X (ER)ZE (MABESEN - TER (ERE)
BERMEAH) ©
KPIATA4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, ~ Emissions — Wastes
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
RERIEIRA14 FREAEEREYAE CANAE) K (ER) BE (MABESEN - B —BEY
BIEREAH) ©
KPI'A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Environmental Targets,
Emissions
BB RIRIRALS WA VMR E B R R REDEL B RMRIMAN S - RRERZ B
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a ~ Environmental Targets,
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Emissions
REDIEIZALG HIREEERBEREZYNA L RERMITVNAEEERAE RREZ HEYD
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TEER EE —REER
HRENER

Description

g

Section/Statement

10 L

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EBEA2: ERER

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI A2.1

BB A MIEIRALT
KPI A2.2

R ENIEIZA22
KPIA23

BREMIEIRA23
KPI A24

FIRE IR IR A24

KPI'A2.5

B A B IR A2

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BRERER (BERLR  KREMERME)BBOK o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)
in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

RENESNEER/SEEER(WE - ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁi@%?ﬁ?
REFHE) RBE (NMAGESEM - BERMEAE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BRKEREE (NMAGESEL  BBEREAE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

WAL MEERE RN E AR R AEIELBRARRAOTR -
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
FCKEGE A KR L B EAEE AR UNAKREEZERE
EDEL BRI 5 -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

HRAAAEEMHNAE ANFE) L (IER) BEESMEE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EEA3: BERRAER

General Disclosure

—RIE
KPI A3.1

BB TR A
Aspect A4: Climate Change

EBEA4: RIREL

General Disclosure

—RRE
KPI Ad.]

BR B RURIR A4

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources.

BEBTAHRERRAEREKERY EHHEK -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HAXBEHHRBRARERNEATELERNEREHEFEN
18-

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BRI REHE AR TS HBTAELY ENEARKEAEENER
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

HAEERAREHRTAELFVENEARREBASEE - REHTTH -

EFRHEERLQA
—E-_REERE

Use of Resources

EIREA
Use of Resources — Energy
Management

BEREA —aRERE
Not applicable (explained)

TEm(BRE)
Environmental Targets, Use
of Resources

RRERZ BRER
Use of Resources — Water
Management

BRER —KER
Not applicable (explained)

TEm (BEE)

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RIERAARER
The Environment and
Natural Resources

BRERRAER

Climate Change

RIRE

Climate Change — Physical
risks; Climate Change —
Transition risks
RIRE (L —BBRR
FARE L — BR R R

b7



Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPlIs

IRER BE —REER

Description

Section/Statement

HRENER g 11
B. Social
B.#E
Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1 : &R
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
—MRIRE EBRHMR R BERER TR RS- TERE St EE
FROBARIA R H A 1538 R A2 Fil 8 -
(@ B R
b) BFHBETABEAZENEBEERROINER -
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time), ~ Employment — Equal
age group and geographical region. Opportunities, Diversity, and
Anti-discrimination
FREIERBII IR EREE (NEBEFRE)  FRAMNMREADNESLE - ER-—TEHE S
b RREAR
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment — Equal
Opportunities, Diversity, and
Anti-discrimination
FARERIEIEB12 mIER - FRANMBREDHEERKL X - EBR—VTEHRe 22

68

Annual Report 2025

Quantum Thinking Limited

R R



Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

IRER BE —REER

Description

Section/Statement

HRENER g 11
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EmEB2: REHZZ
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
—MRIRE FRARMZETERERREEEHEBELBEN - BRERZZE
@ BK: R
b) BTHETABEAZENEBERRROINES -
KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three  Health and Safety
years including the reporting year.
FRE IR B2 BE=F (DRERFE)SFRITHMAZRLE - ERERZE
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BB RIEIRB22 ATIBEATIIERE - RErRZE
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they  Health and Safety
are implemented and monitored.
R ERIEIRB23 R PTER N R RRE T 2 AREERTRERENE - BERZE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[BEB3 : BEKEI

General Disclosure

—REE

KPIB3.1
R R M EIR B3
KPIB3.2

B AE AR 1R 832

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work. Description of training activities.

Note:  Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the

employer.

AR REET TEBREOMBELREEMER - HaEIEE -

Bzt BIRBERI - R EREEI A BEBORMIRE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).

RUERREERA (MaRERE TREBES) ASNXIEER
D e

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

BRI REBERNED  BRREETKSIINFHHH -

ETRERRAT
T oRFE®RE

Development and Training

FRRE

Development and Training
EIEY L
Development and Training

FRRE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs

IRER BE —REER

Description

Section/Statement

BRERERS g A 1
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : % TR
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—B®E B EE Tkoa s T BITRR
@ BE: R
b) BTHETAREATENHBERIROINER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and  Labour Standards
forced labour.
BRERIRRBAI it MR E G AR RE T REHET - S ITAR|
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Labour Standards
CET Lectl) B EERE RSN ER BB RARRG S S - 44 TR
Aspect B5: Supply Chain management
[EHBS5 : ftIEEERE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain Management
—MRIE ERMHEENREREERAREER - g e e
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
BB IRIRBS.1 iR E DR EEEE - e E R
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers  Supply Chain Management
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
BB IE1RB5.2 HAEHEERREANED RERATEREMNNHERHE Uk HEREE
BBENNNTRERERE -
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along ~ Supply Chain Management
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. — Environmental and Social
Risks Management
MREMIRIRB53 W ABBSIHERSERGNRE R SRABRNED  AREBRAR HEBEE —RER
TREREAE- HeRkER
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products — Supply Chain Management
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and ~ — Environmental and Social
monitored. Risks Management
AREMIRERS4 HAEREHEEREREZARRERLRBOEDN - ARBERT HEREE —BRR
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TEER EE —REER
HRENER

Description

g

Section/Statement

10 L

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[BHEB6: EMEMT

General Disclosure

—REE

KPIB6.1

AR AR MIE 1R BO.
KPIB6.2

MR 512862
KPIB6.3
MR A5 1Z863
KPI B6.4
R E NI IZB04

KPI B6.5

RSB AR 1R B6.S

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating

to products and services provided and methods of redress.

FRMREERNRBNREELZSE BE RERLBEEARAE

BOTER

@ BE: R

b) BTHETARBEAYENHBERRIROIINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and

health reasons.

PEYREREMBYTER2ERFEERMALKNESL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are

dealt with.

EEANEDMRENIRFERE AREETE -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual

property rights.

it R E R RENEEREANED -
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

S Bl T BE R E MBI o
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R BEERRERLBRE - ARABERITRESEE -

Product Responsibility

e
2o
it
B

Product Responsibility —
Quality Management
EmRET—E8ERE
Product Responsibility —
Customer Service
EmEL—EPRB
Product Responsibility —
Privacy and Intellectual

Property Protection
ERBEE—RELEX
HBERE

Product Responsibility —
Quality Management
EmET—EBERE
Product Responsibility —
Privacy and Intellectual
Property Protection
EmEE—RELER
HBERE

ETRERRAT
T oRFE®RE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TEGR EE —REER
HRENER

Description

g

Section/Statement

10 L

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EBEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—REE

KPIB7.1

B A M IEIR BT
KPIB7.2

RAR AR 1515872
KPIB73

WA IE1ER73

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRI IEER - 9% HEFOAREN

@ BE: R

b) BTHETAREATENHBERIROINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against

the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of

the cases.

RERBAHBTAREEEREVEEENE SHFARGOHAR

HARER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how

they are implemented and monitored.

HRh SRR BRER  URBHERITRERAX-

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

HWimEENBTRENRERE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

BEBS : HERE

General Disclosure
—REE

KPI B8.1
BB UL Z B8

KPIB8.2
BAS A MIE1R B3
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Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
FRANME2ERTRETALCENEHETENRREXREDE
ZEMARFIEOHBOR ©

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).
EIEREE(MHE  BEEE SIFTK RF - B5)
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIEEMPRER(WEEXKHE) -

Quantum Thinking Limited

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption — Corporate
Governance

k&[S —EER
Anti-corruption — Corporate
Governance
R&m—1¥ER

Community Investment

HEREE

Community Investment

HEREE
Community Investment
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi ( £ B2 ¥ % 4 ) ("Mr. Wang"), aged 46, was appointed
as an executive Director on 17 March 2015 and was re-elected on 3 August
2015, 1 August 2017, 30 July 2018, 5 August 2020, 1 August 2022 and 9
August 2024, respectively, and a director of six subsidiaries within the
Group. He was a business manager of Guangzhou YBDS IT Co., Ltd* (/&
MEH = B R H AR A F) (‘Guangzhou YBDS'), the then indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from May 2014 to March 2022,
where Guangzhou YBDS was disposed of to an independent third party
in September 2023. He has over 15 years of working experience in the
telecommunication industry in China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang
was the deputy general manager of Hua Strong Network Science and
Technology Limited Company* (2 X #8 #& &L #% B BR A &) and Beijing
Huagin World Technology Limited Company* (1t R E &) Xt &I A
[ ‘A &]), both of which were former indirect subsidiary of the Company,
from 2000 to 2014. Mr. Wang resigned from both companies in April 2014
He obtained a bachelor's degree from Beijing University of Technology (3t
=I5 K& in Computer Controls and Applications. As at the date of this
report, Mr. Wang is interested in 382,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 0.028% of the total number of ordinary shares
in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not
have any interest in the shares of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) ("SFO"). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not hold
any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not
hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years, nor does he hold any other major appointments and professional
qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not connected with
any Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Ms. Ho Ching (@ fE 2z ) ("Ms. Ho"), aged 32, was appointed as an
executive Director on 18 June 2021 and was re-elected on 2 August 2021
and 9 August 2024. She was appointed as a member of the nomination
committee of the Company on 1 June 2025. She obtained a bachelor’s
degree in business administration in Humphreys College (now known
as Humphreys University), California, the United States of America in
December 2014. Ms. Ho has been working as a representative of Canfield
Securities Company Limited since April 2019. She served as an Investment
Consultant of Convoy Financial Group Limited from March 2017 to March
2019. Ms. Ho is a representative licensed under the SFO to carry on Type
1 (dealing in securities) regulated activities. She has been appointed as a
manager of Excellent Master Investments Limited, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, since 1 April 2024. Save as disclosed above,
Ms. Ho does not hold any other position in the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public companies
the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the last three years nor does she hold any other major
appointments and professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Ms.
Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Ms. Ho does not
have any interest in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Chen Hua (B ## 5 %) (“Mr. Chen"), aged 64, was appointed as
an executive Director on 1 June 2025. He obtained a bachelor's degree
in Physics from Peking University in July 1982. He has nearly 30 years of
experience in investment, financing and management. From 1996 to 2007,
he served as a partner in Meridian Capital, New York, the United States of
America. Since 2014, he has been a director of Shanghai HongAnYongTai
Asset Management Co,, Ltd* (/8 BAZR K TR & EE IR A F). From 2019
to 2023, he served as a managing partner of Hangzhou Yuanhu Investment
Management Co,, Ltd* (FiM LI IR & BB R 2 7)) (currently known
as Changsha Xiangtai Venture Capital Investment Management Co., Ltd.*
(R 2K E G R A R]). From 2016 to 2023, he was appointed
as a supervisor of Yuanpu Investment Management (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd*
(LEER A B I () B R 2 B)). Mr. Chen has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of each of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of Doumob, the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) with stock code: 01917, since December 2024. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Chen does not hold any other position in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in
any public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years nor does he hold
any other major appointments and professional qualifications. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Chen is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of
the Company. Mr. Chen does not have any interest in the shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (& F ¥ 5 %) ('"Mr. Tse"), aged 55, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014,
and was re- elected on 23 June 2014, 1 August 2017, 5 September 2019,
2 August 2021 and 1 August 2023, respectively. He is the chairman of
each of the audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree with
honors in Finance and Accounting from University of Salford, the United
Kingdom and a degree in Executive Master of Business Administration from
Richard Ivey School of Business, The University of Western Ontario, Canada.
Mr. Tse is a member of each of lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society,
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Institute of Accountants
Exchange, Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and Hong Kong
Securities Professionals Association. Mr. Tse is also an associate member
of The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United
Kingdom and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Tse has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance and accounting
and has worked for several international accounting firms, investment
banks and the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tse is currently a managing director of
corporate finance department in SDICS International Corporate Finance
(Hong Kong) Limited (formerly known as Essence Corporate Finance
(Hong Kong) Limited) and acts as its principal under the sponsor regime.
Mr. Tse was a non-executive director of Century Energy International
Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Oil Gangran Energy Group
Holdings Limited and Fairson Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8132) from
10 January 2014 to 30 April 2015. Mr. Tse was also a non-executive director
of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8147) from 6
October 2014 to 17 July 2017. Mr. Tse is a responsible officer licensed under
the SFO to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activities. Mr. Tse does not have any interests
in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse does not hold any other position in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in
any public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years, nor does he
hold any other major appointments and professional qualifications. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Tse is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EENBREBREY BE

Mr. Lau Chor Ki () # ZF 5t %) ("Mr. Lau’), aged 72, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2017, and was re-
elected on 1 August 2017, 30 July 2018, 5 August 2020, 1 August 2022
and 9 August 2024, respectively. He is a member of each of the audit
committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of the
Company. Mr. Lau holds a diploma in Management from Hong Kong
Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the Hong Kong Management Association),
a certificate programme on writing precisely what you mean from the
Hong Kong Management Association, a certificate of Practice in Chinese
Property Laws — a distance learning certificate programme from the Hong
Kong Management Association. Mr. Lau joined in Hang Seng Bank group
(stock code: 00011) and had served in the group for 40 years from 1973 to
2013. During this period, Mr. Lau worked in various departments including
retail banking, loans department, credit control and administration. Also,
he was a department head monitoring the central cash of the bank when
retired in May 2013. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau does not hold any
other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not
hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years, nor does he hold any other major appointments and professional
qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau does not have any interests in the
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (ZEZ E 5 4 ) (‘Mr. Wong"), aged 72, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2018, and was re-
elected on 30 July 2018, 2 August 2021 and 1 August 2023, respectively.
He is a member of each of the audit committee, nomination committee
and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Wong graduated from
Columbia Radio Institute (EF #K Lt 25 £ 4R & T #2 B2 4% ) majoring in radio
engineering in 1978. Mr. Wong has been working for Mitsubishi Electric
Hong Kong Group Ltd (= % 7+ [& # & [R 2 A]) (formerly known as
Ryoden Electric Engineering Co, Ltd (ZE T AR A &) from 1970 to
2010. He has been responsible for the aforesaid company’s China business
since 1983. He was the key responsible person for its subsidiary established
in China, his last position was a supervisor of the executive department
and was mainly responsible for its elevator business. Mr. Wong is currently
a director of Jinxiong Plastic Industry Co,, Ltd* (884 (BB B) TE AR A
7)) and an executive director of Shenzhen Sanli Mechanical and Electrical
Equipment Engineering Co, Ltd* (R T =FIHEEZHE T EER A
A]), both are agents for electrical products of Changzhou Sanli Electrics
Company* (& JN T = % & 28 /2 &)). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong
does not hold any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas
in the last three years, nor does he hold any other major appointments
and professional qualifications. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong is
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Wong does
not have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO.

MBZEE((MEEL]D 25 RZZTE—tF
NA—REZEABIUERTES  UH R
—E—+tHFNA—H ZE—N\F+tA=1+H"
—E-EFNARB - ZE-__FNA—Bk=
ZNFENRANBEREMT - BARRAIBEZE
B REZESLFWEZESKE - ML EHF
EEABIZEREEYE (HEETEIERS
GEME) BAEEEXEMENSERDESE
HIZ - FEYEENEZEE (BEEREERS
EEBFFERE) R—Nt=Fz=22—=
FHIRS IR EMABERITER (BRHARHR:
00011) W Z EEBRF 40F - Rz AR - Ml &
WAL EESPIER - RIETERT  BREM -
FEEEERITHER - kb HEER 2T —=
FRHARK  ERNAERIBITHREFHIFE
BEoBREXHEHBEEIN UIEERBE=-FITER
RAF SR EEMNBEAREESTAEMEL - 7n
BEFBLFREBIOGIMIMBEME L 2 EM
RRRAFETFWNESRSE - BXBmAEMEMmE
EXmREEES B EXHTREIN - WkEHR
AARMAEMES  afEREE  TERRXER
A& R AR R - WSt AE W BN AR FIARD
B B S M A EEG B XVIBET T 2 (E e e

BERERLE(BERED 2B R_FT—-N\F
MA=ZHEZERBIFRTES  XORIR=
Z-N\FLtA=+tH ZZ=—FN\AZBE=
T \A-BEEEL - WRARAERZ
BEg RAZEGRFMEZEEKE - JERAER
—NENFEENIMRLEERETIESR - =
EEAEIR R-NELtTFE2_T-FTF =&
RE—BER=ZZHARBBERLA (AIREE TR
BERAB) IE-BREB-NWN\=FE—HE
BRARZPEER - RAZAANPERILL
MBARIZEIEZAEA  REETBLSBITE
EE IZAETRMER mERERR AR
(BR)IXARAAZEFTIRIIT=FEER
BIRARARZHATES  ZMAARERS
MIA=FMERRRZEFEMMNRIE o Bk LXK
BEN BEEARNBE=ZFUENAQFHEE
AHEBAREEEMNEMEL  TEEIESFRE
BHEBIMEMESFT S LT A RRAREE
EMEERS A EEMEMTI2EGRER
B -l EXWBEEI BREERRFERNE
E RREEE IE2RERIIERBERBELM
E - mAREYERARTRD T HAZES N
B ERPIEE XV R AT SE 2 (T #e s o

BEFEEERAT
—z-nemws N



The directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the
“Company”’) submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the "Reporting
Period").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group focused to strengthen its business
development in the areas of trading of high-tech software and hardware
equipment; providing application integration and operation services
and providing short messaging services for businesses. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during
the Reporting Period.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating segments for the
Reporting Period is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by
the Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group'’s
business, can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out
on pages 6 to 16 of this annual report. Such discussion forms part of this
Directors' report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 100.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period as the Company recorded no distributable profit for the
Reporting Period.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 91. Such summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 103 and note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share premium)
amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and business
partners are the key to continuous sustainable development. We commit
to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with employees,
and work together with our business partners to provide high quality
products and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and
contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and to
undertake relative social responsibility.

MBHENBE

BEEE RS M RRIL L EE BB
Dz AEBBETENRFEDTREENR
A AERGRRESZHERNENE - &
BEL TEREERESMBRE—EH -

BARER

AR 2 BB RS0 2 BB R R
AARANRERFIRLIIRSHFR 2 ELBE
R -

RS
ARRRAZ FBRRGA M BHRERMFE30

i

RIESR - AEERFD T2 FEEDFED
BIBMRE I3 EZRAREZBRREAMER
R34 -

A {4k 3 %
RZE_RAF=ZA=1+—"H BEERAE AR
AIAHSRTFREZFHE (BERDEE) DA
101,852,000 7T °

1 EBR
AEERNET  FRMBEBE SRS ES
EREOBE  RPBNRUARE - RETE
TRIFME  BEEBERLGS  AEFRH
BENERMBY  LEHTHERRNALE
fEH BB -

RERERKRR
AEEEEERRARE  AROLAY 7S
AARTHERRES  AEAROUEEE -

BETRGEERAR
—EoRFERE

19



COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the board (the “Board”) of Directors and management are aware,
the Group has complied with all related laws and regulations in all material
aspects which may have significant impact on the operation of the Group.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed shares (including sale of treasury
shares) during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi

Mr. Ho Yeung (resigned on 1 June 2025)
Ms. Ho Ching

Mr. Chen Hua (appointed on 1 June 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Mr. Lau Chor Ki
Mr. Wong Kin Kee

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the articles of association of the Company, Mr.
Tse Yee Hin, Tony and Mr. Wong Kin Kee shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible to, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Pursuant to Article
83(3) of the articles of association of the Company, Mr. Chen Hua shall
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible to,
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY'S SUBSIDIARIES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang
Xiaogji is a director of the Company’s subsidiaries. The other director of the
Company's subsidiaries during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report is Mr. Li Kwan Shing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony for a term of three years
commencing from 17 May 2025; (b) Mr. Lau Chor Ki for a term of three
years commencing from 1 June 2023; and (c) Mr. Wong Kin Kee for a term
of three years commencing from 3 April 2024, and subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang Xiaogi will
be determined with reference to his qualifications, experience, duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Ms. Ho Ching presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company. The remuneration of Ms. Ho Ching will be
determined with reference to her qualifications, experience, duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

The Company has entered into a service contract with Mr. Chen Hua for a
term of three years commencing from 1 June 2025, subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the Company’s articles of association. He is
entitled to a director’s fee of HK$40,000 per month, which was determined
with reference to the prevailing market conditions, his expertise and duties
and responsibilities of Mr. Chen on the Company's affairs.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 73 to 77.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors' remuneration is determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) with reference to their
relevant qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities in the Group
and prevailing market conditions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and
the Company had adopted revised specific terms of reference on (i) 4
December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the requirements under the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules; and (ii) 15 December 2022 to
be in line with, among other matters, Rule 23.07A of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr.
Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and/or senior
management.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any of
the Company’s holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or a connected entity of the Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at
any time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, (i) Mr. Wang Xiaogi was interested in 382,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue; and (i) Mr. Ho Yeung, a
former director who resigned on 1 June 2025, was interested in 18,083,500
ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately 1.333% of the
total number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue. Save as disclosed
above, none of the other Directors or their respective associates and
the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"))
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to the required standards of dealing by directors of listed issuers as referred
to in Rule 5.46 of the Rules ("GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as the Directors were aware of and having made
due enquires, the following persons had an interest or short position in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO and/
or were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any other members of the Group:
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ZEZRAFANA—BHTEZAES) RAQF
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BIRAAEA1333% c By ESCATIEEE SN BEEHE
MARFEEFTHEESACHBALRARGE
ZITBABRARRSKEREEZE (EERLES
EBIE S EFHREAE KRG ([R5 RBEMRS])
FEXVER) ZBRD - BER D REREPESAR
BRI E S M EENES2GBETE 2 LM
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Approximate
Number of percentage of issued
issued ordinary share capital as at

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held 31 March 2025
R-EZAHF
=A=+-—8H

e &1 HEBTRE

RRER A 5% ERRHE BB

(Note 2) (Note 3)
(Htat2) (ff53)

Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On") (Note 1) Beneficial owner 985,162,771 (L) 72.64%

Happy On Holdings Limited ([Happy On ) (Afit1)  Bm#EBA

Mr. Chan Foo Wing (“Mr. Chan”) (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 985,162,771 (L) 72.64%

BREREE(REE]D (Hit1) XEEE R
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Notes:

1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in those 985,162,771 shares held by

Happy On.
2. “L" means long position in the shares of the Company.
3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, there was no other persons
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had any
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the largest and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 90% and 100% of the Group's total
purchases, respectively. Sales to the largest and the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 66% and 100% of the Group’s
total sales, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competed with
or might compete with the business of the Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the
benefit of any Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or
of its associated company (made by the Company).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme’) registered under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of such scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 per month, to
the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is matched by employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement plan for all its
employees at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees.
The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to all retired employees. Under the state-managed
retirement plan, the Group has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.

The amounts of contributions and details of the Group's defined
contribution retirement scheme are set out in notes 12, 13 and 32 to the
Group's consolidated financial statements. No forfeited contributions are
available to reduce the contribution payable by the Group in future years.
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MATERIAL OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had other receivables of approximately
HK$ 1,728,000, mainly comprising of (i) advance to staff of approximately
HK$268,000 and (i) amounts due from former subsidiaries of approximately
HK$1,210,000.

(i)

86

Advance to staff

Such advance to staff represents a historical advance made by the
Group to an employee on 30 September 2022 in an outstanding
amount of approximately HK$268,000. Such advance to staff is
unsecured, interest-free and has no repayment term.

The reasons for granting the aforesaid advance is to enable the
relevant staff to settle on behalf of the Group certain daily expenses
and miscellaneous charges for the Group's operation (including but
not limited to utility charges, transportation and travelling expenses
and entertainment expenses) as well as daily expenses relating
to projects under the short messaging services business (such as
travelling expenses and entertainment expenses). The Company
considers that it is expedient to grant such advance to staff in
settling expenses and charges necessary for the Group’s normal
business operation, and thus was in line with the Company's then
business strategies.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2025

EREAMERRK

BE

“ECRF=A=t+—H FEEZHM

JEUW FRIA A H1,7280008 T TEBENE L
A 2R % 268,000 7 TT M (i) FE UK AT T B A B ZRIE 49
1,210,000 7T ©

(i)

EEEREER
ERETERAEAEERER T -__F LA
Zt+HER—REEREN—SBERT
REBELFHL268000BT  ZEETHBHN
BERE . B8 R EETERE -

RELDRBFONREEATEHERE T
KEAKEZENETAKREZENEER
X REEER (BRETRNKESE @
RERAXEAFR)  ARERERBEE
IR B R BB (I E KR LB
B) - ARBRA - AETREUBEBTIA
ENARBEREBELHBRIRER
BHEE  AUNFEERARAIMNERRE -



(ii) Amounts due from former subsidiaries

Such amounts are due from six former subsidiaries of the Group,
five out of which were wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group at
the time when the relevant advances were made. Particulars of

(i) FEUL BT BB 2 BB
R VY LI eN 3 PN LI PR
B ERAMAEFRARRRSAREE
2EMBAR R -_E-_RF=A=+—

outstanding amounts due from the following former subsidiaries as H: ERATAMNE QAR KREEREF
at 31 March 2025 are as follows: BT
Approximate
carrying
amount
asat
Date of disposal/ 31 March
Former Subsidiary Date of grant date of de-registration Major terms Reasons for grant 2025
gt ki3
ZAZt-BH
ANEAE BB HERS/HERS IERY RiEm BOREE
HS000
AL
Former Before 1 April 2012 14 November 2016 Unsecured, interest-free and To support operation 8
Subsidiary A have no repayment term of former subsidiary
AMERAA ZE-CERA-RAE CE-RET-ATEE BER SERYTEEZER HHHBARNES
Former Before 1 April 2012 14 November 2016 Unsecured, interest-free and To support operation 533
Subsidiary B have no repayment term of former subsidiary
MBS ZR-ZEMA-BA TRRET-ATEAR . BER RSRUERTHR XEHMELANES
Former 15 December 2014 and 19 August 2020 Unsecured, interest-free and To support operation 306
Subsidiary C 30July 2017 have no repayment term of former subsidiary
AMBARC ZE-METZATRAR  ZECZE/VATAR EER 28 RUEETHR KB A RN ES
ZE-+F+AZTA
Former 24 August 2015 De-registererd on Unsecured, interest-free and To support operation 8
Subsidiary D 25 Septernber 2020 have no repayment term of former subsidiary
HIMBAAD ZR-RENACTEA RIRCREAACTER  BER RSRUEETHR EANBLANES
it
Former 31 October 2023 19 September 2023 Unsecured, interest-free and Advance to such entity for 5
Subsidiary E have no repayment term settlement of its daly
expenses on behaff of the
entity and such amount s
immaterial
ANBARE Z5ETAZT-R ZECZEAATAR BER SERUEETHR MAERBFUME
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Approximate

carrying
amount
asat
Date of disposal/ 31 March
Former Subsidiary Date of grant date of de-registration Major terms Reasons for grant 2025
R-R-EF
ZAZt-BH
ANEL RiLEH HERH/HERE IERY RIEH BORERE
HS 000
77
Former 10 January 2022 and 28 February 2022 (1) pursuant to the loan agreement, the  To support operation 330
Subsidiary F 2 February 2022 principal amount of loan is RMB206,869.67, - of former subsidiary
which s unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on 9 January 2023;and
(2) pursuant to the loan agreement, the
principal amount of loan is RMB100,978.62,
which is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on 21 February 2023
HMERAF ZRCCE-RTRR CROCECACTAR () BBERGE ERRLEAARY SEANEARMNES
b S s by = 26869677 REER - £8RER
“RoCF-FARER R
0 BEEHNEE ERELEBARY
1009786270 REEA - 28 RAR
CRoCE-ACt-RER
(collectively, Former 1210
Subsidiaries’)
(SR ZSHMELR )
The reasons for the amounts due from the Former Subsidiaries are JEWZERMME R RIRIENREEM - K
similar. The Company considers that granting of such advances to RARR MEBAZEFAMNE AR (ERE
the relevant Former Subsidiaries (which then formed part of the MAEE—I2) IRHERERENTIHFAR
Group) was necessary for supporting normal business operation SEEMEEERNEREKEEBY
of the Group at all material times, and thus was in line with the T EARFaARRAAINEREBRER -

Company's then business strategies.
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(iii) Impairment loss and basis of impairment

The Company has engaged an independent external valuer to
conduct an independent assessment on the expected credit loss of
trade and other receivables and contract assets of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 March 2025 (“FY2025"). Such impairment
assessment involved management’s judgements and estimates
involved in assessing the expected credit loss model, based on the
historical credit loss experience and forward-looking information
specific to the debtors and their economic environments.

The Group recorded impairment losses for other receivables in
respect of the aforesaid advance to staff and amounts due from
former subsidiaries in the respective amounts of approximately
HK$64,000 and HK$289,000 for FY2025.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter into any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting
Period, which did not constitute connected transactions under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference as of 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to
5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the Audit
Committee.

(iii) BEBERBHEREE
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee’) was established in May 2011, and the Company had adopted
a revised specific terms of reference as of 10 January 2019 in accordance
with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki'and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors, as well as Ms. Ho Ching, an executive Director, (who
was appointed as a member on 1 June 2025). Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the
current chairman of the Nomination Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 17 to 38 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, the financial statements of
the Company had been audited by Prism Hong Kong Limited (formerly
known as Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited) (“Prism”) whose
term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
A resolution to re-appoint Prism as the auditor of the Company will
be proposed to the shareholders of the Company for approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025
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A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below:

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
For the year ended 31 March 2025

MBRE
HME-T-REF=A=+—HAILFE

AREBBERMABREEZE AMHEBEUNEE
BEREEREDS BEECERVBERER) 2
BEET :

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZE-_RE —_TEopOE —_E-_=F —T_—— —EF——
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET FET
RESULTS E
Revenue & 39,553 16,152 18,290 32,800 41,242
Profit/(loss) before taxation B RS Fl,/ (E18) (13,567) 5,898 (16,840) (21,920) 6,345
Income tax credit FriSfiiRe - - - 5 15
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,(EE) (13,567) 5,898 (16,840) (21,915) 6,360
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the Company KAREA A (13,410) 6,604 (10,108) (18,189) 16,703
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F#2 i #E 2 (157) (706) 6,732) (3,726) (10,343)
(13,567) 5,808 (16,840) (21,915) 6,360
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZERAE
Total assets BEE 15,254 15,721 34,633 58,207 62,017
Total liabilities BEE (30,206) (17,402) (48,006) (54,956) (37,125)
(14,952) (1,681) (13,373) 3,251 24,892
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the Company PAN/NESIET ZS DN (1,332) 11,924 246 10,707 28413
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F{E % #E 2 (13,620) (13,605) (13,619) (7,456) (3,521)
(14,952) (1,681) (13,373) 3,251 24,892
BFEHARAT

T oRFE®RE
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%@ Prism

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QUANTUM THINKING LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantum
Thinking Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 100 to 196, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of material accounting policies information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+8522774 2322

www.prism.com.hk
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared. The Group had
net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$2,480,000 and
HK$14,952,000 respectively as at that date. These conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The directors of the
Company, having considered the measures being taken by the Group,
are of the opinion that the Group would be able to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. Such matter was addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+8522774 2322

www.prism.com.hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

The key audit matter
REITEE

BEETEE(H)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRANESTNNEERARENER

Loss allowance on trade and other receivables and contract assets

Refer to notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies from pages 129 to 137.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group's trade
and other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$9,147,000, HK$3,077,000 and HK$180,000 respectively, net of
accumulated loss allowance on trade and other receivables and
contract assets are approximately HK$3,185,000, HK$1,225,000
and HK$56,000 respectively.

Management applied judgment in assessing the expected
credit losses ("ECL") receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection of
receivables are assessed individually for provision for impairment
allowance. ECL are also estimated by recoverability of the trade
receivables and the sufficiency of allowance for ECL based on
information including credit profile of different customers, aging
of the trade receivables, historical settlement records, subsequent
settlement status, expected timing and amount of realisation of
outstanding balances, and on-going trading relationship with
the relevant customers. Management also considered forward-
looking information that may impact the customers’ ability to
repay the outstanding balance in order to estimate the ECL.

We have identified the loss allowance on trade and other
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter because the
amount is significant to the consolidated financial statements
as a whole and there is involvement of a significant degree of
management’s judgements and estimates involved in assessing
the ECL model, based on the historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information specific to the debtors and their
economic environments.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
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Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment of the ECL model adopted for the loss allowance on
trade and other receivables and contract assets.

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used,
its development processes and relevant controls adopted by the
management of the Group in the ECL model.

We have also assessed and challenged the reasonableness of
assumptions and judgements made by the management of the
Group on the ECL model adopted, parameters selected and the
internal credit rating used. We have also examined the key data
used in the ECL model on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and reasonableness.

We have assessed the competency, objectivity and independence
of the external valuer used by management and discussed
with external valuer their scope of work, and assessed the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology.

We have checked mathematical accuracy of the calculation of the
provision for loss allowance.

We have assessed the adequacy of the disclosure of the financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

The key audit matter
FRETER

BEETEE(H)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESNNEERARENER
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+8522774 2322

www.prism.com.hk

96

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2025

A B WMR RAZBE RS LN
&

BERRESAHEMENEE - HWBERNBRESF
WA A AR  BTREGRA M EHRR LR
BV B R o

BPHGEMBREANBEAL TREREMBER -
BAT A HZEEMEREREATANZES

i o

BARMERAMBEREROEF  RANEELE
FIEEMER  EiBiET  ZREMEMNED
B AP BHRRARMEERHBETRTENIE
MEEEAEEREUFFEEABERRANE
oo BERBMEMITHIIE  MRERMBREM
BN GFHEEAERRL RMEE2HREZEE -
T API A UL A A ] (E R

BERAAESERERER
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁmiﬁ

ERAREH

BERAERABERBEEEGMASEMN(E
BB REER R ER) RE B (R RRE)
BRERGHAEEMAFTNGEAMBEHRE - 1%
EERDREUGEVBHREMVE 2 RFPEE -
ABAR A M MAR T FER R AEFRBRER
BERBRBRAL -

EREGAVBHRRE BERAREFREAERN
f BEEEHELENEN  TEERBRTH
BREKBELCLEARNER  URERKELZER

SIER BRI BERTNEREER BEKEE
BRFILELE  FHBEEMEROERNR -

EZZBERAREERE B5ENMBKHIRERE -

B EstMEBAER AR
BBLIPIE R ZIESHT 1912 1903A-1905%
BiE 0 +852 2774 2188 {55 : +852 2774 2322
www.prism.com.hk



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company's directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the Group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purpose of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matter communicated with audit committee, we determine
such matter that was of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and is therefore the key audit
matter. We describe such matter in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Mr. Fan Chi Hang Stephen.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fan Chi Hang Stephen

Practising Certificate Number: P06144

Hong Kong
20 June 2025
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2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FTHET FHET
Revenue Wi 7 39,553 16,152
Cost of sales B AR (38,811) (15,391)
Gross profit EF 742 761
Other income H A 8 6 1412
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary s —ENE A E R 27 - 19,286
Distribution costs Pal =1 %N (75) (89)
Administrative expenses T (10,727) (13,928)
Impairment loss on financial assets TRIEENRERE (2,126) (1,066)
Impairment loss recognised on EHERME M REH
plant and equipment BIEEE 20 (60) -
Impairment loss recognised on ERRERAEEERN
right-of-use assets BEEE 20 (1,212) -
Impairment loss recognised on PREEENREEIE
intangible assets 20 (12) -
Finance costs W% ER 9 (103) (478)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLAT (B518) SRR (13,567) 5,898
Income tax expenses FrBfiFf X 10 - -
(Loss)/profit for the year R (ER),ER 11 (13,567) 5,898
(Loss)/profit for the year attributableto: LT A+ EBEER (FiE),
A
Owners of the Company PN/NCTE 2SN (13,410) 6,604
Non-controlling interests FEIz e = (157) (706)
(13,567) 5,898
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income Hh2HE (Bx%), W
Items that will not be reclassified HERJEEN D EZEm
subsequently to profit or loss 18 H
Exchange differences arising on translation MM BEEE®RE
of financial statements from functional REINEEREED
currency to presentation currency b H =58 (3) 1,182
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income FREMEME (%) Wi
for the year (3) 1,182
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income FR2ME (Bi%) WML
for the year (13,570) 7,080
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income LT ATEMEREE
for the year attributable to: (%) W45 :
Owners of the Company PAN/NESIET ZSDN (13,555) 7,066
Non-controlling interests IR (15) 14
(13,570) 7,080
(Loss)/earnings per share attributableto A2 T B A E15
the owners of the Company Bk (FH8) &
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEAR R EE GEALD 15 (0.99) 049
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2025 2024
—E-REF —ENF
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
5 F&ET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment 5 B a5 4 16 153 272
Right-of-Use assets CREEE 17 - 697
Intangible assets mIZEE 18 - -
Goodwill GRS 19 - -
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 153 969
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables g5 K E b IE 21 13,030 11,770
Contract assets EHEE 22 180 188
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEGABRDN
profit or loss TRLEE 23 52 52
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 24 1,839 2,742
Total current assets REBEEHAE 15,101 14,752
Current liabilities REBE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMFER A 25 16,945 16,663
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 621 724
Financial liabilities at fair value BRAFEFABRRZD
through profit or loss TRBE 26 - -
Income tax payable FER RS 15 15
Total current liabilities wREBEE 17,581 17,402
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (2,480) (2,650)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE (2,327) (1,681)
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Loan from a shareholder KE—BBERERNER 28 7,232 -
Other payables H Ath FE A /I8 25 4,800 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 593 -
Total non-current liabilities HWIERBERE 12,625 -
Net liabilities 8 EFE (14,952) (1,681)
Equity i
Share capital [ 30 135,625 135,625
Reserves 1 (136,957) (123,701)
Equity attributable to owners of the EAREE AEGRER
Company (1,332) 11,924
Non-controlling interests AR = (13,620) (13,605)
Capital deficiency ERE (14,952) (1,681)
EFERHEERAT

—EoRFERE
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 196 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June 2025 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Wang Xiaoqi
EN:-$5
Director

EF
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Attributable to owners of the Company

EAREEAESL
Non-
Share Share  Translation Other Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
BE  ROBE RARE  HtRE  2HER @it FERER g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TET TER TR TEL TET TER
At 1 April 2024 R-B-mE
A-H 135,625 99,935 (426) - (223,210 11,924 (13,605) (1,681)
Loss for the year ENEE - - - - (13,410) (13,410) (157) (13,567)
Other comprehensive expenses 12 HH %
Exchange differences arisingon B iR A Mac &
translating of financial statements & A2 5 &%
from functional currency to EANELZS
presentation currency - - (145) - - (145) 142 (3)
Total comprehensive expenses FR2EBIX A%
for the year - - (145) - (13,410) (13,555) (15) (13,570)
135,625 99,935 (571) - (236,620) (1,631) (13,620) (15,251)
Deemed capital contribution arising 2% B — % IR 8 40 & 3 AY
from loan from a shareholder RRERBA - - - 299 - 299 - 299
At 31 March 2025 R-BZEF
=A=t+-H 135,625 99,935 (571) 299 (236,620) (1,332) (13,620) (14,952)
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARFER AL
Non-
Share Share Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
&N Ktr & (E SRR ZitER BE FEkEE Fok
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEL FEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=f%
mA—H 135,625 99,935 (5,500) (229814) 246 (13619 (13373)
Profit/(loss) for the year FrEF/ (58) - - - 6,604 6,604 (706) 5898
Other comprehensive income Eft2E KA
Exchange differencesarising 175k ML EHE
on translating of financial HER2HEE
statements from functional MEANELZE
currency to presentation
currency - - 462 - 462 720 1,182
Total comprehensiveincome £R2MHALE
for the year - - 462 6,604 7,066 14 7,080
135,625 99,935 (5,038) (223,210) 7312 (13,605) (6,293)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHBE AR - - 4612 - 4612 - 4612
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-mE
=A=+-H 135,625 99,935 (420) (223210) 11924 (13,605) (1,681)
EBEFBHEERATA

— =
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2025 2024
—E-REF —E U
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BEEs
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELAT (B1B), @ F (13,567) 5,898
Adjustments for: BTFSIEFE
Depreciation of plant and equipment WBERBRETE 56 58
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 749 841
Amortisation of intangible assets | & 1 1
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB ARk - (19,286)
Investment income from financial assets REEAFEFTAEZER
at fair value through profit or loss TRIBEEMNRERA - (65)
Interest income from bank deposits RITFREF B LA (2) (10)
Gain on lease modification HE B W= - )
Impairment loss on financial assets TREEMNRBERIE 2,126 1,066
Impairment loss on plant and equipment [ E R ENREBE 60 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRAEEENREEIE 1,212 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets B AENRMEEE 12 -
Finance costs W%EA 103 478
Operating cash flows before movements in HEECRYNNCERERE
working capital (9,250) (11,023)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables & 5 & E #b & Y sk 38 (3 400) S5t 4> (3,524) 6,404
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables & 5 & E b J& {~ FRIE 38 hn, G 4) 5,241 (3,537)
Cash used in operations BEEBEFANE S (7,533) (8,156)
Income tax refund BREMEH - -
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEZBBHAMNRELFE (7,533) (8,156)
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2025 2024
—EBE-RHE —EUF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZE
Net cash outflows from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARMBESRL FE
(note 27) (B43%27) - 3)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair R EIE A FEFABRMESHMEE
value through profit or loss B P15 508 - 7814
Investment income from financial assets at fair RERAFEFABRNESREE
value through profit or loss EOES=RI PN - 65
Interest income from bank deposit RITF AT S UA 2 10
Purchase on intangible assets BEEREE (13) -
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM RETH (BA) FMENRLSEHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (11) 7,886
FINANCING ACTIVITY MEER
Loan received from a shareholder Bl —BREHER 7,450 -
Repayment of lease liabilities HEBENER (796) (841)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) METHHME(BHH) WRLSFE
FINANCING ACTIVITY 6,654 (8471)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH REeERASEEYRDFR
EQUIVALENTS (890) (1,11
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FYNRERALEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,742 3,493
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREHHTE (13) 360
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATTHEEND FRARERREEEY
OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK (BRITHEBRRE)
BALANCES AND CASH 1,839 2,742
Analysis of balances of cash and cash ReRBESEBYERIN
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents BeNIREEEY 1,839 2,742
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 8 May 2000 and
its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 July 2000.

The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The address of the principal place of business of
the Company is situated at Unit 1308, 13/F, Capital Centre, 151
Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Company is an investing holding company. Its major operating
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of system
development services, trading of hardware and short messaging
service fee.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") while
that of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC") are Renminbi ("RMB"). For the purpose of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HKS$
as its presentation currency which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Application of new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
following amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards, issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”)
where are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 April
2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangement

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no material
effect on the Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”); and Amendments to HKAS 1 —
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the
end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected
by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of
a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

20

PR AT R S ST B R M B
X B g it A

AN RSETESHEREE
Bl e

RAFEE AEECAEREABETES
g ((BEREEEAE]) BMAATE
BRI EBMBHRESENGEN HE =
T_MEMA-BRBNOAKSETBFE
R

BEG RS IRNOET AEIBARDN
3F//Ih§b

BEG RS IROET MELRNERDAR

BAMBREENR 630 ERBEPNEERR

&7

BRGHENRTRREAY REARELY

BREERETROET

BT XA &SN RAFERERBEER
BEPBRELR G EE A E A
N2 38 1E HA R 9 B 1 R 3R e ol skt
ERAMBEREMBOBELBEATE -

EREBEERFZ1HRNETR
EOEARBNERBURETEBR
BESHK(CZE-ZTF) NEHREF
([=F=BEET]) REBRHE
IS 1SR IERT MY & R R B
BE(=2-ZFE€T)HNEE

CECTFBIEERAESBEARDA
BRFERDEENER - RIFTEHEEE
M EEARRER RV EFETEHRER
EI’U*E%'JL’ﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬁ,ﬂéﬁT‘s‘\ﬁ%@ﬁﬁEL,ﬁﬁ
HERMOATRENTE - ZFEBITME
FRBUUNEE SR TAKE BE
BEUEREETNERERRANSIERAE
B TAETEHRER  AENKRT T
ﬁ%%/ﬁ S T FERIE—HF
CEERTPFELENABRHT  REA
ﬁﬁ“b/,\ﬁ#ﬁziﬁﬁﬂ‘)zZHlaa—rﬁ%é &
@%&;&ﬁﬁﬁ’]uwﬁb‘k#uwiﬁ DHE Eﬁﬁ%
BRI EZI2ME R NEFRRRZHENIF
AT RIERBEEELEIMEE -

ZFETHAEBNG AN BHRR T BETE -

EFRHEERLQA
—E-_REERE

107



108

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21 and  Lack of Exchangeability'

HKFRS 1
Amendments to HKFRS9and  Amendments to the Classification and
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting standards
— Volume 11

Amendments to HKFRS9and  Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

HKFRS 7 Electricity’
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability
Disclosures?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have
no material impact on the results and the financial position of the
Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION

Basic of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Company
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “"Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets at fair value
though profit or loss and financial liabilities at fair value though profit
or loss that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Going concern assessment

The Group incurred net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$2,480,000 and HK$14,952,000, respectively for the
year ended 31 March 2025. Notwithstanding the above results, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of the going concern basis is dependent
upon the success of the Group's future operations, its ability to
generate adequate cash flows in order to meet its obligations as and
when fall due and its ability to refinance or restructure its borrowings
such that the Group can meet its future working capital and
financing requirements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

Also, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
will be able to finance its future financing requirements and working
capital based on the following considerations:

The Group will continue to take active measures to
control administrative costs through various channels
including human resources optimisation and management
remuneration adjustments and containment of capital
expenditures.

The controlling shareholder of the Company has agreed to
provide a shareholder's loan to support the Group’s continuing
operations. The Company and Happy On entered into a
shareholder’s loan agreement on 1 April 2025, pursuant to
which (i) Happy On will grant an interest-free and unsecured
loan in the principal amount of HK$13,217,000 for a term of
two years; and (i) the Company may utilise such loan at any
time to repay the outstanding amounts of the trade and other
payables or as working capital.

The Group has negotiated with a director of the Company in
relation to the amounts due to her, such director had agreed
not to demand for repayment for the amounts due to her and
agreed to extend the repayment date of such amounts.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:

power over the investee;

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group's returns.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes on input and
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2025

BERETHRESR (&)

e SN
EBEMHRBKEEAR - REKA G T
HENORENAFESE BRERER
HY o AN R HR ER B B U0 ) £ LR T 4
FOEE  ERWKBIAIERANER
URBETERAESNAFEZN - BT
HEBEHMNE  AEEREEEDE
WKE T IEE s MAMERAR
RRMESRED YEBRBRATE
HIREEBRBE T A B EEFENDRE
TEBBAERNDGEEFENDE - 5T
P T A A AR B D 191 A FEE
B - BB R AR RN

HATKRE - RINEBHREERRREAER
HELGRRE MRABREELZBEHAR
BERENHEXRROGE D RIAEERK
HETRAWE—RER -

MASEKE -HER HERBEAOK
o IR B HI R IR AR RN
AMEEENEREERAE  NEED
BYFREERE HEBRSEEETES
WFRBRARITETEDIF -

HWoOBEBRERELGH  RILAFANK
BEREKBARNAFEENAE &
I A WY YR SR B IR R 25 P RERR ©

WiE T e E R AREREE R8N
RFEER -DEREELRABNHHAR
BRATVEFE MAFEZHRERT
R DBERERNRRRETSENT
B REGENEDRTIR-



MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods and
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services to a customer. Specifically, the Group uses a five-step
approach to recognise revenue:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a

performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

|n

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract

asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,

contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not

presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:
Sales of hardware products;

Revenue from system development services; and

Revenue from short messaging service fee.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)
Sales of hardware products

Revenue from sales of hardware products is recognised at a point in
time when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers.
Control of the goods is considered transferred to customers at the
time of delivery.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Revenue from system development services

Revenue from system development services were recognised over
time.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method. The Group
recognised revenue to the consideration receivable for work
completed upon the Group'’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones on development stipulated in the contracts.
Outputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation include a list
of stages (such as functions confirm, system trial, installation, etc.)
relative to the total expected stages of output.

Warranties

If a customer has the option to purchase a warranty separately,
the Group accounts for the warranty as a separate performance
obligation and allocates a portion of the transaction price to that
performance obligation.

If a customer does not have the option to purchase a warranty
separately, the Group accounts for the warranty in accordance with
HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”
unless the warranty provides the customer with a service in addition
to the assurance that the product complies with agreed-upon
specifications (i.e. service-type warranties).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)
Warranties (Continued)

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are
recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group's obligation.

For service-type warranties, the promised service is a performance
obligation. In that case, the Group allocates a portion of the
transactions price to the warranty.

Revenue from short messaging service fee

The Group recognised revenue based on the volume of short
messaging service consumed monthly. Revenue recognised at a
point of time when service is provided.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is
a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For the contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease, at inception of the contract or modification date.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less). For these leases, the Group recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. The lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using revised discount rate.

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to
a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it
is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised
and measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for
any measurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated over the
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

Lease modification

Except for Covid-19 — related concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect
to its leased properties. Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the net
investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit
or loss on disposal of the foreign operation. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a joint arrangement that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate.

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence

over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilised
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

BERETHRESR (&)

B (%)
BEREBMARBEDRANMEARNKEM
SIBMERRERFZEMER - EMHAS
BAIEG TR EZENBORERZRRA
EETENA R RELIMBRERIN - EE
RRENEREENATMRERERESE
METEHBREE EERAEE THER
Bom M A B R ERZEOMNE  ARTES
HLA] B % 2 R 4% (o] B R R o

EREBAEENREENS RS BRIEH
wEf - WHENKABEBA B HERD G N
Yol 2 aR sk mR i B ER R o

EREHIRAE R A B RER S BEBR
EREMREEBAOBE (RBUE) - 8T
MR E A E SRR B E
.

EEVARBEREEZERRASKERE
HREREMRKEHERZEERBER
HEELEMNHBRER -

ELETHIBREERABER A RENA B EHIA
BEHRINYHERGERER  MRNZFERE
EHIEEE KA EERF— BB AR
PG IXAE R BN 5 B HE LA F RR 458 BN BA TR
HABEREEREH -

BAEAKERACAREERAFAAE
BEMNHEXRZMELHEAMS  A&E
BEABERBEAREERAREREEE
HHEERE -

BETRGEERAR
—EoRFERE

125



126

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment and depreciation

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method for the
plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimate useful lives.
The amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash, as defined
above.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (other than
impairment of goodwill set out in accounting
policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGU, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value-in-
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss was recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"), and fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses,
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of
the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

0]

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “Other income” line item (note 8).

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOC! are measured at FVTPL. Specifically, debt
instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the
FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 6.

30

BERETHRESR (&)

cmE T A (F)

TREE ()

BEBIEK AT BN BEZE (BFTR)(E)

() SRR N BRI ROK ()
HAIR LB AN R IR~ FERF AR
2HKEFENES TANF WA
TERBBRNFRMER - LB EHHE
BzEEREEREENINESHE
Ems MEBKRANEREERRT
BERERMEGFE  HERRHBREE
HEMSREERIN(ETX) - gH
BHREERENEREENS @ 7
BUAEBRERNETERESRE
EMIERA T AR - WMERERS
HA- - EERESRIANGEERR
HE NHEREETBLREER
B RIABWAE B ERFXER
EeMEERBMMAET AR

MEBWARIB S R A TEAY
AJIRE (MiEEs) -

B FEFABZN B EE

TIT A 1 1R B SH A AN M6 1 S X P BT
ARMEE RSN ELSTETEAFER
ABuitE-ARBME  THEKRTRE
AR AN IR AP E R A B AL 2 W R
MER TADDERIEAFE AR -

BAVEFABENEREERN SRS
HEARORFEFE  MERRFERS
HERANBETHER - AFETIIRM 6
Pt s B RE e

BETRGEERAR
—EoRFERE

131



132

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
("ECL") on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The expected credit losses on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group's
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group's
operations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the
asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’
gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee
contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to
be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on
historical trend, the Group's understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Maodification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash flows
are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset, after reducing
gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
assets will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial assets’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted
to the carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does
not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement
approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting
policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies, (2)
held-for-trading, or (3) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains
or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profits
or losses to the extent that they are not part of a designated
hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability
is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit
or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon
derecognition of the financial liability.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-for-trading, or (3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial
liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Modification of financial liabilities

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial
liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial
difficulty of the Group) is accounted for as an extinguishment of
the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability. The Group considers that the terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under
the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per
cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability. Accordingly, such
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised
as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when
such difference is less than 10 per cent.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. At the end of
the subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised
in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation (if appropriate) recognised in accordance
with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except net realisable value of inventories
and value-in-use of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on
the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 ~— Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

System development contracts revenue recognition

The Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to
works completed by the Group to date with reference to verification
reports issued by independent surveyors. Taking into consideration
of percentages of works covered by verification reports, management
estimates the progress of the system development contract as the
contract progress. Notwithstanding that the management reviews
and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs for the
system development contract as the contract progresses, the actual
outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs may
be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect the revenue
and profit recognised.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has recognised revenue from
project-based system development contracts of approximately
HK$3,994,000 (2024: HK$3,976,000).

Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets at
the end of each reporting period. Plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are tested for impairment when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value-in-use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are approximately
HK$153,000, HKSnil and HKSnil respectively (2024: HK$272,000,
HK$697,000 and HKSnil respectively). Impairment loss on plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets of
approximately HK$60,000 (2024: HKSnil), HK$1,212,000 (2024: HKSnil)
and HK$12,000 (2024: HKSnil) respectively has been recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated useful life of plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the Company
review the estimated useful life of plant and equipment with finite
useful life. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimates
of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s plant and equipment. The
residual values reflect the directors’ estimated amount that the
Group would currently obtain from disposal of the assets, after
deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The carrying amounts of plant and equipment with finite useful life
as at 31 March 2025 are HK$153,000 (2024: HK$272,000).

Allowance recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables and contract assets

The impairment provisions for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the number of days
that an individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group's
historical experience and forward-looking information at the end of
the reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be
necessary to make additional impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of trade receivables
and other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$9,147,000 (2024: HKS7,286,000), HKS$3,077,000 (2024:
HK$3,143,000) and HK$180,000 (2024: HKS$188,000) respectively, net
of accumulated loss allowance of approximately HK$3,185,000 (2024:
HKS$1,212,000), HK$1,225,000 (2024: HKS$1,113,000) and HK$56,000
(2024: HK$51,000) accumulated loss allowance respectively.

Impairment loss on trade receivables, other receivables and
contract assets of approximately HK$2,001,000 (2024: HK$857,000),
HKS$119,000 (2024: HK$158,000) and HK$6,000 (2024: HK$51,000)
respectively has been recognised during the year ended 31 March
2025.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value of financial liabilities

As described in note 6, the directors of the Company use their
judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for
financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
Financial liabilities are valued using a discounted cash flow analysis
based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable
market price or rates. The estimation of fair value of financial liabilities
include some assumptions not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The carrying amount of the financial liabilities as at
31 March 2025 is HKS Nil (2024: HKS Nil). Details of the assumptions
used are disclosed in note 6. The directors of the Company believe
that the chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are
appropriate in determining the fair value of financial liabilities.

Income taxes

As disclosed in note 29, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$217,017,000 (2024: HK$206,620,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams as at 31 March 2025. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary difference will be available in the future.
In case where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the year in which such a
reversal take place.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EXEKBER
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be AEBEERBEERAUBRRANEBENFTE
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return wE RN RECEEERABENTE
to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity FREMBREA - B E—FEUKR
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior REBEHBERKEFTE -
year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of trade and other AEBNERNEERIENTSAEENE
payables disclosed in note 25, loan from a shareholder disclosed in S REAMERKIE - M FE28 TR BRI R A
note 28 and bank balances and cash disclosed in note 24, and equity —EZREMER LW 24T EMRITE
attributable to the owners of Group, comprising issued capital and BRAE  URAEEHEB AEGEEZ (B
reserves. FEBITRARGEHE) -
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RAREETHERELRER - EAEH
periodically. As part of the review, the directors of the Company H—ED KRB EEZEERNKA K E
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class EEEXRBEANRR  WIEHEZTEHA
of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group's capital BAEENEREE - REXARAESH
structure. Based on the recommendations of the directors of the BE-ASEHGEBERESE  RERE
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through TTHTIR D TR BB AN o
use of debts, payment of dividends and issuance of new shares.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €I A
Categories of financial instruments SRMIANSE
2025 2024
—E-FHF —EUF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEEN AT ENeMEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BEREFESEEY) 14,243 13,359
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFABRNESREE 52 52
14,295 13,411
Financial liabilities -1 i=Ri
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost REEKAGENHMSRAR 30,191 17,387
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BATEFAERNSRAE - -
30,191 17,387
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, deposits, bank balances and cash, financial assets
at FVTPL, trade and other payables, loan from a shareholder and
financial liabilities at FVTPL. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments included market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
bank balances, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. USD and RMB are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

60

ERMIT A (&)
TRERBEEERREE
ARENIESBTARER S REME

WE - Fa o ROTEHREAS BAF
B ABENEREE HHREMEN
RIE - RA—BREROEFARRDTFE
AABENERAR RFERMITAMNF
BREREMETRE BXFERTAR
FRH R BT SRR (B R R A EE
@) FERRERBESER o MEEE
ZERBROBRERNTX -BEEEEER
ERZERRE  ABEREEARHETE

B -

™5 E b

() EEER
RRRETHEBRARAINERITER -
SAKEEEBINERR - XTREAR
BASEERDEEEUINE S
(@ o

RI|BEBH - IMNESHENAKESR

denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as BMEEMNEREERT :
follows:
Assets
BE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EUF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHT
usb ETT 61 61
RMB AR 623 1,032

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging of significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Group currently is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in USD and RMB as above. Management of the
Group considers the currency risk of the Group is insignificant
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, hence no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

AR B3R B X SNSRI - AT
EREBEFINIERR  ABNERE
i E BE M E AR R -

BRRE DT

AEBBRFEFEMBR LMETREAR
BESNEE AEBEERERAE
BE_ST_AFE_ZT_UF=A
=t+—HLEFE AEEMNEBRR
WARER - BWREZT|GURE DT
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (see note 24) carried at
prevailing market rates. The Group also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate financial assets
at FVTPL (see note 23). The Group currently does not have
an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other
necessary action when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances is minimal due to short-term
maturities, hence, no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge all obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and other
receivables and bank balance and cash. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on an collectively basis
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit
loss experience, as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group has assessed
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime
rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

internal credit rating;
external credit rating;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower's ability to meet its
obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating result
of the borrower;

significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the borrower; and

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the operating
results of the borrower.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its operation
management committee to develop and maintain the Group's
credit risk grading to categorise exposures according to their
degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by
independent rating agencies where available and, if not available,
the operation management committee uses other publicly available
financial information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its
major customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the
credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

Description

it

Category
P

eRI A (FE)
TEEREEERERBEE &)

FERRE (H)
A 5K B i 1 B R AR

RBEERRBRERE AKRECTHHE
REERZERHELHFAEEEER
BRAF AR ARIR EE QR 10 12 [E 3 R
WOETDE - EEFAREN BB
REBREGA (NMATER)  MESEIESH
MEMMNBRLT KEERERBEEEEN
HMARAGSHBENRAEENEAR
SHRBHETEEP MEMER AETF
R AEEERHBEEZEAISHF IR
B A REEFE  XBATRRZNA
BN BEEHENRSHFT

AR A A ERRTAERBEAT
B

Basis for recognising ECL

BRBEMEEERENEE

Performing

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or

12-month ECL

has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer

to as Stage 1)

FB#)

Doubtful

AJ &t

Default

EX

Write-off

TREEMNENRRES B NREREEERR
3 8 A EIE 0 B Y EAE EORE (558 1 B B

For financial assets where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that
are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)

LREENEERR B DB EREXEEINE
WEEERME (FEH 2B BR)

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred
(refer to as Stage 3)

BERE—MHAEZHEMHHEERTARRRESRESR
BREFERFCREETHRAEERE (EFEIER)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

ENRKZABBABARENIBERE - B
REE W ERIEN T LR
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REARBEEER

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

2HEHEEER - BEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

2HMEMEEERE —FERE

Amount is written-off

IR 5



FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group's financial
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by

6. TR IA (&)
TEEREEERERBEE &)

FERRE (H)
A Bz BER ()
TERAMAEEEMEENEEERUR
BEERREE D N EE@ERD&RKE

credit risk rating grades: ERE A
2025 2024
—E-RE —EoE
Internal Gross Net Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
Notes  rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount amount  allowance amount
i 1R2EARZH
M GFEFR BEHEEER REAE BHEERF EREFE KFILE BEEE KRED¥E
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER TR FHET FHET FET
Trade receivables 21 (Note) Lifetime ECL 12,332 (3,185) 9,147 8,498 (1,212) 7286
g5 RYGRA (B &%) (simplified
approach)
2HESEEEE
(FE1E%)
Deposits 21 Performing  12-month ECL 2,574 (76) 2,498 2,545 (505) 2,040
Ze B4 1218 A 788
EEBE
Other receivables 21 Performing  12-month ECL 1,414 (835) 579 1,397 (294) 1,103
H b FEYRIE =) 1218 A 75 5
FERBE
Contract assets 22 Performing  12-month ECL 236 (56) 180 239 (51) 188
BREBE BA 1218 A TE 8
EEEE
Other receivables 21 Doubtful Lifetime ECL — not 314 (314) - 314 (314) -
EoA FE Wk TE A&k credit impaired
2 HEBEERE
—EIEERE
(4,466) (2,376)
Miet - B SEWRHENS - 2EBEERAEBHBR

Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated
based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the
debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of
future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is
presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note
21 includes further details on the loss allowance for these assets respectively.

SRABOFEHTABLLF E2HBEHER
BENERRE AKBEBERREREET

ZEBEMBEREERR

REEBABRRR

MBEEEBBRERETET  UIEHEE AR
AR R & BAR R B AR SR A AR R RO il T » Bk -
ZEAENFERRAARBERAERIZNE
HAKR2Y - HH2IHAZEEESANER

Bt — A -

EFRHEERLQA
hEE®RE

— =

151



152

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets at FVTPL as
disclosed in note 23 best represent their respective maximum
exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over any of
these balances.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 66% (2024: 64%) and
100% (2024: 100%) of the total trade receivables which were due
from the Group's largest external customer and the top five largest
external customers respectively as at 31 March 2025.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flow. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of each reporting
period.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

6. TR IA (&)
TEEREEERERBEE &)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) FEBESERE (&)
At 31 March 2025
R-B-EF=A=t+-H
More than More than Total
Within one 1yearbut  2yearshut  contractual
year or on less than less than undiscounted Carrying
demand 2years 5 years cash flows amount
—Fry®  BA-F BBEWME AHRER
REX (EIREE EIREF RERELE REE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR THET TR THERT
Trade and other payables B o REMENTRIE 16,945 4,800 = 21,745 21,745
Loan from a shareholder RE—BRENER - 7,450 - 7,450 7,232
Lease liabilities HERE 623 595 - 1,218 1,214
17,568 12,845 - 30,413 30,191
At 31 March 2024
RZZEZWNE=A=+—H
More than More than Total
Within one 1 year but 2 years but contractual
year or on less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
demand 2 years 5years cash flows amount
—FRE BE-F BRME AHRER
BRER  EIRWE EIREF RERELR REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THEL T TEL T
Trade and other payables BH RAMEMNRE 16,663 - - 16,663 16,663
Lease liabilities MEBE 741 - - 741 724
17,404 - - 17,404 17,387
ETREFTRAT

T oRFE®RE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. L@ TIH(HE)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AFEFEEERBE
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments THREFEENEREHRR AT EFED
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, SRITESH  WIHREBEAREBN G
grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree REATEIBEREEREAE ZE=E
to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group's NFEER -
accounting policy.
At 31 March 2025
R-ZE-_RF=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BB gy 2= e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THET FET FET
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFEFABRN
EeRMEE
— Wealth management products —— 32 8 & f@ = 52 - 52
At 31 March 2024
RZZE_MFE=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E£— FE E=E HEt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FHT
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFEFABRN
ERMEE
— Wealth management products — I2 B/ & f - 52 - 52
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in the REMERBEFE  AFEER 2HILE
current and prior years. B o
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurement objective and policies

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring basis are

set out below:

Fair value as at 31 March

R=A=+-HNATE

6. TR IA (&)
DNPEFEEERBEE (&)

FEERBEEMEERAFEAENSE
MEERTHMAEENATVE
BRELFUEEEHESERTANQTE
B P A Y (B Rl R A B IR P an T

Relationship of
key inputs and
Significant significant
Fair value Valuation technique ~ unobservable unobservable
2025 2024 hierarchy and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
BEGAUBEAVE
HERHR EXTTRE NEXFTBE
“EoHE —ToNF AVEESR BEAGAYE BARE BABENBE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAT
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRATEGABRNEREE
— Wealth management products 52 52 Level2 Quoted rate of retum by~ N/A N/A
issuing bank
—BYER F_E FORANORERE TEA TEA
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
BATEFARGNERARE
— Financial liabilities arising in - - Level3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate of 2021 The higher the discount
relation to the provision of model based on was 2.53% rate, the lower the
the profit guarantee discount rate and value (note )
future cash flow
—REREENRBEE FZE ERPRERARRE —T-—F BRXHE BELE
MeREE MEMERRENE  MEER25 (WD)
it
Note: B3
[0} If the discount rate to the valuation model were 10 basis point higher/lower [0} fHEEERMBIRER LT TR 10EER - MAT

while all the other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the profit guarantee

would decrease/increase by nil (2024 nil).

BHMEERSTE  AIREHEFREELN
CHAENRAESRBRD (=T -0
FRERD M) -

ETRERRAT
T oRFE®RE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. L@ TIH(HE)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AFEFEEBERBE (H)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial AEERBELSEMEERATHEFENS
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis MEERSHMEBEN QA FEE)
(Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial BERREHENREFELENLCETHEELES
liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the profit guarantee BEBEE-ERAFETENLE
on recurring basis:
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EgF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
At 31 March R=ZA=+—8 - -
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts RARABIEERE BREAMBmMERPE
of current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost using RAEBRR R E AR AR R E < 5
the effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial BENRIREHANEEE  WEEEESR
statements approximate their fair values due to their immediate or HEAFERE -
short-term maturities.
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RARABIEERR NEGHBHRETERA
the other non-current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost ERMNEEAREHRAARARNEMIERS
using the effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial cRIBEMNEREDEEELATEES
statements approximate their fair values.
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERkoHMEHR

Revenue represents revenue arising from system development
services, sales of hardware and short messaging service fee. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

WEHERE ZRRFAERE  HERMERE
ERBKENKE AREFAREHD
ranT

2025 2024
“EZRHF 11 S
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHER FHET

Revenue from contracts with customers within - B IR & 78 B 75 3R & B 55 1558

the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANNREEF AW E
Disaggregated by major products REEEmOF

— System development services — REFE R 3,994 3,976
— Sales of hardware — HEREM 239 929
— Short messaging service fee — REERBWE 35,320 11,247
39,553 16,152
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(Continued)

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group's revenue from
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15

Wi ko HE R (&)

TXEINAEBBEREBMBRE

QS

1SSREENK AT, A HMKEH DI :

System Short
development Salesof  messaging
services hardware service fee Total
Bk EER%
R 75 SHEREM Wz st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
For the year ended BE-Z-51fF
31 March 2025 ZA=+—BLHFE FERT FERT TET TET
Timing of revenue recognition #3242 &5 A B
Ata point in time I — R 2, - 239 35,320 35,559
Over time B B5 e 3,994 - - 3,994
3,994 239 35,320 39,553
System Short
development Sales of messaging
services hardware service fee Total
REHE RN
Rk 7% THER M W& wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended BE-Z-_MmF
31 March 2024 ZA=+t—BLEE TET TET TET FET
Timing of revenue recognition & FRUR %5 B9 A5
Ata pointin time R —B R 2 - 929 11,247 12,176
Over time e B e 3976 - - 3976
3,976 929 11,247 16,152

Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of services provided. No operating segments identified
by the CODM has been aggregated in arriving at the reportable

segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

—  System development services;

—  Sales of hardware; and

—  Short messaging service fee

REBSERTFEABERATMAALDNE
F(NESMEREE) SHNER - £

PP EE B AR TS Y 2R B

REBAR S B A

EHmoMEMEES T BLLARARE BT

E’J « M paN MB

LER  AEENR 2RO FMAT

—  RERERY

—  HEEMF: R
— RERBBE
BFRAERAF

—E-_REERE
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WmkoEER (&)
(Continued)

Segment revenues and results ’ﬁ%ﬁ%%‘é&%%ﬁ

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by L‘A—F?%ﬁz—f WAL EDEHE DK

reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 March 2025

SEEW &%ﬁ ST
BE-_ZS_HAF=A=+—HLEE

System Short
development Salesof messaging
services hardware service fee Total
R EERS
R SHEEH W #et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FEx FTERT FEx
Segment revenue 7 EBU 3,994 239 35,320 39,553
Segment loss 7 H#B &R (1,992) (119) (308) (2,419)
Unallocated income Ko B A 4
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEEMS (9,646)
Unallocated finance costs RO %5 A (103)
Impairment loss on other receivables £ i & U 3R I8 (B &5 18 (119)
Impairment loss recognised on EERRE KR ER
plant and equipment VEREY ! (60)
Impairment loss recognised on PR ERAEEERN
right-of-use assets BAEE (1,212)
Impairment loss recognised EERENEENRE
onintangible assets 18 (12)
Loss before taxation BRI ATE 1R (13,567)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-ZT-WF=A=+—HLFE
System Short
development Salesof  messaging
services hardware  service fee Total
REmE %2 AZ AR 7%
fR7  HEREMG W& fmEt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 H KS 000
FHET FHET FET FHET
Segment revenue 7 EBUL R 3,976 929 11,247 16,152
Segment (loss)/profit a0 (E518), % F (4,460) (1,096) 353 (5,203)
Unallocated income Ao B A 20,450
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEEMRX (8,722)
Unallocated finance costs RO EEA (469)
Impairment loss on other receivables L fib & U 30 T8 R (B B 18 (158)
Profit before taxation B B4 AT 5,898
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as D BT ER A A & R BUR B S 3 PR
the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment loss SENEE] ﬁ *ﬁ Ao »EP R BN &

represents the loss of each segment without allocation of central
administration costs, directors’ emoluments, other income and

finance costs. This is the measure reported to the directors of the W RAARESZ2HRAE
Company with respect to the resource allocation and performance KR EMEFTERE -

assessment.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by

Wi ko HE R (&)

THEERER

UTRZAZHRD BREE

7 #R 83 Ky AR

reportable and operating segment: SEEERBENSN:
Segment assets DEEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —E 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
System development services R RS 8,425 7,808
Sales of hardware SHEEH 504 1,352
Short messaging service fee RIEREWE 2,070 2,753
Total segment assets DEBPEELTE 10,999 11,913
Corporate and other assets TEREMEE 4,255 3,808
Total assets BB E 15,254 15,721
Segment liabilities AWEE
2025 2024
—E-FRF —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
System development services R FERD 10,814 9,366
Sales of hardware HERRM 647 1,481
Short messaging service fee EERBEKE 103 540
Total segment liabilities DEPEERRE 11,564 11,887
Corporate and other liabilities rEREMEE 18,642 5515
Total liabilities = 30,206 17,402

EFERHEERAT
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERkoMWER (&)
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEEREE (&)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating MERDARARSESDIEERME -
resources between segments:
All assets are allocated to operating segment, other than — BREVEE RKokike BNKIE
intangible assets, unallocated deposits, prepayments and FEMEWGRIE ZAFEFAEBER
other receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit MEREE ROEHBERSUARH
or loss, bank balances and cash and other corporate assets. MEXEEN MEEEHSEEL
Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on ENE - FIZMOBHECHANEE
the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable LAME Bl AT 2 #9536 AT R 80 a5 VE B
segments; and DECEVER - &
All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other than — BERIEHEMESKBEBRESER -
unallocated other payables and accruals, income tax payable, ERFER - RE—BRENERR
loan from a shareholder and other corporate liabilities. HMX8EN MBEEEHSRE
Liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable are KEDE - A 2MOBRREFAENE
allocated in proportion to segment liabilities. BB DB T HEHEE -
Other segment information Hth 5 & R
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_ZE-_AF=A=+—HLEE
System Short
development Salesof  messaging
services hardware servicefee  Unallocated Total
RREAE RIERE
PR % HEBH 0§ AOE @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TER TR TRz TR
Amounts include in the measure of FEHBEEINH
segment loss or segment assets: BERTARNGE:
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH - - - 806 806
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S RNFIENREER 1,983 18 - - 2,001
Impairment loss on contract asset BHEENRERA 6 - - - 6
Impairment loss on other receivables  E- A FEUR B R RIE B 12 - - - 119 119
Impairment loss recognised on EHRHE kR ER
plant and equipment REEE - - - 60 60
Impairment loss recognised on ERAERAELER
right-of-use assets WEBE - - - 1,212 1,212
Impairment loss recognised on ERARVEENREA
intangible assets BB - - - 12 12
Amounts reqularly provided to the chief  EHiIRIE BEERRE
operating decision maker but not REEGESHIERR
included in the measure of segment NBEERTEA AR
profit or loss or segment assets: A
Interest income MEBA - - - ) ()
Finance costs HBER - - - 103 103

160

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2025




70

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.
(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024

W=k o HER (E)
Hith o BE R (F)
 E B NE=A=+—HILFE

System Short
development Sales of messaging
services hardware servicefee  Unallocated Total
ZHRE RERS
R HEBH W AHE Fehs
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
TEx FET THT FET THT
Amounts include in the measure of HESBEEINH
segment |oss or segment assets: BERITARIE:
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH - - - 900 900
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S RNFIEN R EEE 719 138 - - 857
Impairment loss on contract asset RHEBENRERA 51 - - - 51
Impairment loss on other receivables  E A B IBERHEE R - - - 158 158
Amounts reqularly provided to the chief A F BEAZREE
operating decision maker but not REEGES TSR
included in the measure of segment PBEERIET AR
profit or loss or segment assets: IR
Investment income from financial assets 1€ AR A FEF AB R
designated as at FVTPL HERMEENRERA - - - (65) (65)
Interest income FEHA - - - (10 (10)
Finance costs NHER - - - 478 478

Note:  Non-current assets excluded goodwill for the years ended 31 March 2025 and

2024.

W B2 T -RAFR-FB-MF=A=+—HIE
FEFRDEETBEEE -

ETRERRAT
T oRFE®RE
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group's
operations are mainly located in the PRC.

Substantially all of the Group's operation are in the PRC, no
geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows:

Wi ko HE R (&)

i & & &
(E T AR T -_NMF=ZRA=1+—
BItEE  AEENEEIEUAPEH-

AEBEALOEEUNTE  HALES
5l 38 B Y o

THREIEEFNESR

KERBREEERAEEBU S ERN10%
N EMmEPYREINT

2025 2024

—E-RE —E P4

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHT

Company A NCIVY 3,974 3,976
Company B? A A]B? 26,251 11,047
Company C>? RAEC 3 4,585 -
Company D*? UNCIIDEaE 4,484 -

! Revenue from system development services segment.

2 Revenue from short messaging service fee segment

3 Revenue from relevant customers was less than 10% of the Group’s total
revenue for the year 2024.
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OTHER INCOME 8. HAWA
2025 2024
—E-HF ZEZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHT
Interest income from bank deposits HRITF AR S WA 2 10

Investment income from financial assets EERATEFSABERN

designated as at FVTPL SRMEEMZERA - 65
Gain on litigation claim (note b) AR R (FiEb) - 1,005
Government grants (note a) B4 B (i 5T a) = 109
Others Hi 223
1412

Note: B 5E

(@ During the year ended 31 March 2024, government grants were recognised @ HE_Z-_WF=A=+—HIFE B#RAH
of approximately HK$109,000 related to the government grants from the PRC BRHUAEENOREREEETHME R EH
local government authorities in respect of subsidising the Group’s scientific and AT # B W ER B BT+ Bh B B U A Bh 40 73
technological and operating activities, which were immediately recognised as 109000770 BRAEEFA A BBERLE
other income for the year as the Group fulfilled all the relevant granting criteria. ﬁ MZRENRERRRFENEMKA - BE
During the year ended 31 March 2025, HK$Nil amount of government grants ZE-RF=A=T—HILFE  BRRBNE
was recognized. BREBT -

() During the year ended 31 March 2024, the income from legal claim was b)) HEZT-_MF=A=T—HILFE EER
due to the legal case on 20 November 2023 between the Group and the RWATDRE—_Z_=F+—A=-+B4A%HE
independent third party (the "Defendant’), while the Group is seeking the HB-ZBUE=F ((HEAD 2B EEFD
following remedies: (i) immediate payment of intermediary compensation in MEA  MAKEESRKUTHBIERE: S
the amount of RMB974,508 (equivalent to HK$1,005,000) from the Defendant ANEIBEE S RN EE S AR 974,508 T (*ﬁ’““ﬁ’\
and (ii) the Defendant should bear the litigation costs and any preservation 1,005,000 7T) LA B (i) 45 5 A JEARE SR AAE A &
fees, if applicable. According to the agreement, the plaintiff successfully ERR2E (WEA) - RIFEHE - REKDR
facilitated the signing of a project contract between the Defendant and a client. B EANR—REFREAB AL MW EAR
The Defendant is therefore obligated to pay the agreed-upon intermediary EBIABENPNFHES - Bt - AEEFHR
compensation. Thus, the Group recognised the payment of intermediary NHENRERREERRE THEMBA - &
compensation as other income under legal claim. During the year ended 31 ET_RAF=A=T—BHIEFE BERERE
March 2025, HK$Nil amount of income from legal claim was recognized. HRRARBTHET -

FINANCE COSTS 9. MBER

2025 2024
—E-REF —EomF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FB7 T

Interest on late settlement of litigation claims ~ EEAE B FAE B F L - 417

Interest on lease liabilities HEARNTE 22 61

Interest on loan from a shareholder B —BRREOHEROFE 81 -

103 478
EFRERFRLT
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

10.

FrEBimx

2025
—E-RHEF
HK$’000
THET

2024
—E-NF
HK$'000
FET

Current year:

PRC Enterprises Income Tax ("EIT”)

Notes:

REE :
PEREEMAFHR
([TE3EFrEH 1)

€)] No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024 as the Company did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong

Kong Profits Tax.

(b) Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is

25% for both years.

The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

fit

(a) HE-_T-_AFER-_T-_NF=ZA=+—HL
FEWEMEEBNEHEE  REARQRL
EAMAHNEBFERAOERBEF -

)y RBFBECERESHE(RERSHED L
EMBBARRGD - NZMEFE - HEWB

DA E R 25% o

PIEmAx e BaEMmemiaR
FREuEIBRBiAT (B 18), SR M E RN T

2025 2024
—E-RE —EUF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHT
(Loss)/profit before taxation MR (E1R), & T (13,567) 5,898
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5%  1Z AN Fr 1§ 1 55 R 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%) ZEZUF  165%)
B RO IR (2,239) 973
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AAMBHEB B E
tax purposes 2,150 276
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBBRANBBZE
tax purposes (1) (3,273)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERREEBEBOH S 2 579 4,008
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REAMFEERELEHMNE A A
operating in other jurisdictions TRBENZE (489) (1,984)
Income tax credit for the year FAMSHER - -

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 29.
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11. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

1. FR(BE),EF
AEE BB (518, dREme G

(crediting): A) TH B IEEER
2025 2024
—E-RE —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) EEHM (HE12) 2,299 2313
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors' /B E@FIF X (T"BIEEE X
and chief executive's remuneration (note 12)) = ZTEA B #H B (FIzE12))
— Wages and salaries —IERFS 3,521 3,324
— Pension scheme contributions — RREFEIHR 278 246
Total staff costs = 6,098 5,883
Auditor's remuneration % ELR BN & 500 480
Depreciation of plant and equipment BE REETE 56 58
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 749 841
Amortisation of intangible assets BV EEEE 1 ]
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S W IERREEE 2,001 857
Impairment loss on other receivables Hh fEUCGRIE B R E B 18 119 158
Impairment loss on contract assets AHEERRBERES 6 5
Impairment loss recognised on EERME LR EREEIE
plant and equipment 60 -
Impairment loss recognised on EHREAREENREEIE
right-of-use assets 1,212 -
Impairment loss recognised on EHEREREERNRERIE
intangible assets 12 -
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense #3245 32 977 & Ak A 227 880
Lease rentals for office premises (note i) WAEYERERS (B 97 10
Net exchange loss b H g iR FEE = 10
Note: B 5E
(i) The amounts represent lease rentals relating to short-term leases under HKFRS (i) ZeEEE R EREENERETERE
16. HHENHERS -
EFRERFRLT

T oRFE®RE
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange,
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G of Laws of Hong
Kong), is as follows:

12. EEHMN
RIEH X FTGEMEE 5 LR B~ BB A D
FeRERB R EMEHIE383(1)@) ~ ()~ ©
FOARAR (BEESFZER) RHIE
—HOBBEFRNEEEHMMAOT

I

2025 2024
—E-RE —EUF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHET
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect ofa ~ BLEAZEZ (TmR AR 7 &
person’s services as a director, whether of the  E i B 2 7)) 12 (1@ A RS
Company and its subsidiaries undertaking =ENET e
Fees we 420 420
Emoluments paid or receivable in respectof ~ FLEEIEHBREEE AR T X
director’s other services in connection with the  ELBff B A &) F 745 A E b AR 75
management of the affairs of the Company 15T 25 UK A 3 B
and its subsidiaries undertaking
Other emoluments: E b
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind o EMEREDEAN 1,820 1,852
Pension scheme contributions RRET BN 59 41
1,879 1,893
2,299 2,313
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are

as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

12. EEHM (&)
RIEFBRAEFE3MUE AR (HFE
BERNRER) EOIE 28D 5B = = 5 i
Ul

BE-BR-_AFZ-A=+-HILFE

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HiEs BUFHTES
Mr. Mr. Ms. Mr.
HoYeung  Wang Xiaogi Ho Ching Mr.  TseYeeHin, Mr.
(notes i, iii) (notei) (notei) Lau Chor Ki Tony Wong Kin Kee Total
MEEE IBRBLE AL+
(HiEEi -~ iii) (i) (W&E)  WRFEE WEHEE ERERHE E-h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TEn Ti#n TiEn TiEn TEx
Emoluments paid or receivable in EREZ(THRRALE
respect of a person's services as a REMBLR)RE
director, whether of the Company BEARBEHE
and its subsidiary undertakings FEdeen
Fees ik - - - 180 120 120 420
Others b - - - - - - -
- - - 180 120 120 420
Emoluments paid or receivable in HESREEHEE
respect of directors other senvicesin -~ ARG REKBAT
connection with the management of ~ EFEIE M IRIEE
the affairs of the Company and HERMEH
its subsidiary undertakings
Other emoluments H
Salaries i 600 590 630 - - - 1,820
Fixed amount bonus EREAL - - - - - - -
Allowances and benefits in kind 2HRENEA - - - - - - -
Salaries, allowances and §4 2B RBAE
benefits subtotal 600 590 630 - - - 1,820
Discretionary bonus ML
Contributions to retirement BIRER /R &3E
benefits/pension schemes =3 - ] 18 - - - 59
Performance related incentive EnERRe
payments - - - - - - -
Share-based payment SARRIA REHA 2 - - - - - - -
Others L - - - - - - -
Amounts paid or receivable as fEARSIIMAZMA
an inducement to join or TEBENZEM
upon joining the Group BRSERNTE - - - - - - -
600 631 648 - - - 1,879
Total emoluments FHRE 600 631 648 180 120 120 2,299
EFRERFRLT
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024

168

12. EEHM (B)
BE-_Z-_NME=A=+—HLEE

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
B118% BUkniTES
Mr. Mr. Mr. Ms. Mr.
HoYeung  Wang Xiaoqi CaiDan Ho Ching Mr. Tse YeeHin, Mr.
(notes i, i) (note) (notesi, i (notes ) Lau ChorKi Tony ~ Wong Kin Kee Total
WERE TEREAE  EfRE @Rt
(BZET i) (WzE) (B3R ) (W) WERFEE  HTHEE =EERE FEE)
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T TR Fign T Fign Fitn T
Emoluments paid or receivablein ~ {EBEE (TRINAL
respect of a person’s servicesasa A R EKTBAE)
director, whether of the Company 2B ARRISE
and its subsidiary undertakings o U i 25 A
Fees ik - - - - 180 120 120 420
Others ) - - - - - - - -
- - - - 180 120 120 40
Emoluments paid or receivable  FIESBREBHER
inrespect of director’s other FARAREMEL
senvicesin comnectionwiththe A1 BHME M IRE
management of the affairs of RORETL G
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Other emoluments E thE
Salaries e 600 59 125 531 - - - 1852
Fixed amount bonus EERL - - - - - - - -
Alowancesand benefisinkind 2R ENEH - - - - - - - -
Salaries, allowances and oo RERER
benefits subtotal it 600 5% 125 531 - - - 1852
Discretionary bonus BB
Contributions to retirement BINER/ B
benefits/pension schemes HES S - 41 - - - - - 41
Performance related incentive EMEERS
payments
Share-based payment AR REREE
I3 - - - - - - - -
Others Hih - - - - - - - -
Amounts paid or receivable as {ERRAIMAZN
an inducement to join or ANEEBEHE
upon joining the Group BmEAsER
#E - - - - - - - -
600 637 125 531 - - - 1893
Total emoluments s 600 637 125 531 180 120 120 2313
Notes: B EE -
[0} The remuneration includes remuneration paid to them in their capacity as an 0} ERFTHREZSESUARRINN B QAR
employee of the subsidiaries of the Company. BEF D UEE FE -
(i) Resigned on 31 May 2023. (i) RZZEZ=FAA=1+—HB§E-
(i) Resigned on 1 June 2025. (i RZZTEZRFSA—HBEE-
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No chief executive was appointed during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.

No directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive the
emolument paid by the Group during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.

Save for an amount equivalent to one month of the director’s
fee being paid to Mr. Cai Dan, who resigned on 31 May 2023, as
compensation, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement for joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the years end 31 March 2025 and 2024.

12. EEEHM (&)
HE-_"E-_RAER-T-_ME=A=+—

ALLFE  ARARHMEREETRITRAR -

$’“ﬁ§$ﬁiﬂﬁk§§£ﬁ%5&§$%iﬁ
—E_AER-FT_MFE=ZA=1+—H

JJ:@EF)?EZHE’\J%?%

BE_Z_AFFE_FT-_WMF=ZA=1+—
RIEFE BREALEER-_T_=F1
A=+ HEE) XHHER —EAESF®E
BN NEBEBERE SN H M
1R R I 55 B0 B2 D s BE B A (8 -

13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EE
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2024: hERERHFATH =ZH(ZFZOF -
three) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are set H)BARNRES  BENHFIER Fﬁ TE
out in note 12. The emoluments of the remaining two (2024: two) ReBTME(ZZE_WF: MB) &= H
highest paid individuals were as follows: ATHIFBIAT -
2025 2024
—E-FRE ZENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits ¥ + T& ~ 8K R H &7 1,233 1,240
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme  E(REFI 5T 243 18 18
1,251 1,258
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BENHENFUTEHE :

Number of individuals

A8
2025 2024
—E_-RE —EF
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T 2 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.

BE_ TR Z_NF=A=+—
REFE AEEYERAERSFAL
AR BN & 1E R I AN 52 [ B B2 =k AF

EFRHEERLQA
—E-_REERE
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14.

15

110

DIVIDENDS

2025 and 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end

of the reporting period.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

14. B2
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31 March HE-_ZT-_AGR-_ZFT-_MF=RA=4—

AEFEMERVAERRNEE  BA

BERRERBEZIKEMBRSE -

15. SR (FE) BR

ARRBEANREERERALEE (B

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following: B)/BRERUTRETE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EgF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
(Loss)/profit (Br|), =7
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of basic and diluted &5+ 5 & B% F K & # 5%
(loss)/earnings per share, representing (B8R, BFEAN
(loss)/profit for the year attributable (B518), %% - BIARQA
to owners of the Company HEAANELEFEA(EBE), & F (13,410) 6,604
2025 2024
—E_RE —EF
Number of shares BROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ A&F & SR EA K #5E
for the purpose of basic and diluted (loss)/ (B1B) BFRAN
earnings per share (000 shares) T3 AR N 25 B (FAR) 1,356,250 1,356,250
The dilutive (loss)/earnings per share is equal to the basic (I0ss)/ HE_ZT-_AFR-_ZT-_NMF=RF=1+—

earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares
outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. MEN&E

Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Motor Office
improvements machinery fixtures vehicle equipment Total
HENELE BERKE GRARETHE RE BORE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TR TR TR TR FHER
COST A
At T April 2023 RZZEZ=FWA—H 8,585 1610 974 281 261 1711
Exchange alignment I 5 50 & (449) (33) (48) (15) - (545)
At31 March 2024 and RZTZmE
1 April 2024 ZR=+-Bk
ZZZMEMA—A 8,136 1,577 926 266 261 11,166
Fxchange alignment XA (84) (5) (4 3) = (96)
At31 March 2025 R-TE-1%F
“A=t+-H 8,052 1,572 922 263 261 11,070
ACCUMULATED A ERAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FWA—H 8,585 1,568 952 9 252 11,366
Charge for the year FRZH - 4 - 52 2 58
Exchange alignment T 5 50 % (449) (32) 47) ) - (530)
At 31 March 2024 and RZTZMF
1 April 2024 ZA=+-8k
“Z-NFMA-A 8,136 1,540 905 59 254 10,894
Charge for the year FRZH - 3 - 52 1 56
Impairment loss REEE - 34 20 = 6 60
Exchange alignment T 3 50 & (84) (5) 3) (1) = (93)
At 31 March 2025 R-Z-hE
=A=f-H 8,052 1,572 922 110 261 10,917
CARRYING VALUES FHE
At 31 March 2025 RZZEZRhE
ZA=t+—H - - - 153 - 153
At 31 March 2024 RZTZMF
ZA=1+—H - 37 21 207 7 272

EFERHEERAT
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16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

17.

112

Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over

their estimated useful lives as follows:

16. B= K& (&)
BRI Tk A3 SO o1 G B S 15
8 BT

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term HEMEEE LHEEH
Plant and machinery 20% to 50% 5 Kt 8 20% % 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 25% BAEEEEE 20% % 25%
Motor vehicle 20% E 20%
Office equipment 20% PN 20%
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES  17. A EERHEAE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) ERAEEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EUF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET T
Asat 1 April HREA—H 697 1,631
Additions NE 1,264 -
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERE (749) (841)
Losses on lease modification HEBEEE - (76)
Impairment loss RIEEE (1,212) -
Exchange realignment [ 5, 38 B - (17)
As at 31 March R=ZA=+—H - 697

The Group has lease arrangements for office buildings and
premises with the lease terms of generally ranged from 1 to 2

years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$ 1,264,000 due to

new leases of renting property.
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

17. EFREEERAERE (H)

(Continued)
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE

2025 2024
—E"REF ZEZOF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT FET
Non-current IEREY 593 -
Current mE 621 724
1,214 724
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEBBETHENKIE 2025 2024
—E_RHE —EOF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&ET FET
Within one year —FR 621 724
After one year but within two years —FHREMFER 593 -
1,214 724

Less: Amount due for settlement within s R 1218 A R EIHA

12 months (shown under ERRFRIE

current liabilities) GIRREBEEET) (621) (724)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 712 1& A 14 ZI| HA &5 1~ &9 7k08 593 -

(iii)

(iv)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered
into a lease agreement in respect of renting property and
recognised lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,264,000.

Amount recognised in profit or loss

HE_Z-RAF=A=+—HIFE
AEBRBEYEII Y — SRS
WHERAE B E41,264,000/8 7T °

(iii) RMEFPRIANEHE

2025 2024
—E-FRE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 749 841
Gain on lease modification HEER W - (4)
Interests on lease liabilities HEARENTE 22 61
Expense relating to short-term leases EHEHEENHAX 97 10
Impairment loss REEE 1,212 -

Others

(iv) Hftb

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash outflow
for lease amounted to HK$893,000 (2024: HK$851,000).

HE-_Z-_RF=A=+—HIFE "
THEMIR S H 4% 75893,000/8 7 (=
£ U4 : 851,000/87T) ©
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. B EE

Development Trademark
cost costs Total
B2 A A BER A et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FER FER FER
CoSsT R
1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, RZEBE-Z=F1A—H"
1 April 2024 :;ﬁ_ﬂi A=+—8"
—ZTZMFEMA—H 61 10 71
Addition NE - 13 13
At 31 March 2025 RZE-ZRAF=A=+—H 61 23 84
AMORTISATION s
t 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FWMA—H 61 9 70
Charge for the year FA ﬁ i = 1 1
At31March 2024 and 1 April 2024 H-Z-PNF=F=+—H
&_E_EEEH A 61 10 71
Charge for the year FREZH - 1 1
Impairment loss REEE - 12 12
At 31 March 2025 RZEBE-RAF=A=+—H 61 23 84
CARRYING VALUES BREE

At 31 March 2025
At 31 March 2024

RZE-_RAF=HA=1+—H
R-ZE-_MFE=A=+—H

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated

LBV EEAEERERAFH ARAE
WEEREEINEEFHER TR

useful lives as follows: HEmT
Development costs 5 years F B A AR 54
Trademark costs 10 years SR 104F
19. GOODWILL 19. B8
2025 2024
—E-REF —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
COST 39S
1 April REA—HA 4,139 4,139
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RiREEE
1 April and 31 March REOA—BE=ZA=+—H 4,139 4,139
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March R=B=+—H = -

Goodwill is arising from the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum
Technology Information Co., Ltd. (‘Shenzhen Quantum”) and has
been allocated to the one CGU of the Group, which is included in

the services business.
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20.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's business was
underperformed and incurred losses due to the constraints to
working capital. In view of the economic performance of the CGU
of system development services, trading of hardware and short
messaging service business which was worse than expected,
management of the Group concluded there was an indication for
impairment and conducted impairment assessment on plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$153,000 (2024: HK$272,000), HKSnil
(2024: HK$697,000) and HKSnil (2024: HKSnil), respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU, to which
the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, including allocation of corporate assets when
reasonable and consistent basis can be established. The carrying
amount of assets of CGU was approximately HKSnil.

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering the following 5 years with a post-tax discount rate
is 16% as at 31 March 2025. The cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using 2.00% growth rate, which is based
on the industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key
assumption for the value in use calculation is the budgeted revenue,
gross margin and operating expenses which are determined based
on the CGU's past performance and management expectations for
the market development.

Based on the result of the impairment assessment, management
of the Group determined that the recoverable amount of the CGU
is lower than the carrying amount. The impairment amount has
been allocated to each category of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives such that the
carrying amount of each category of asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less cost to disposal, its value in use and zero.
Based on the value in use calculation and the allocation, impairment
loss of approximately HK$60,000, HKS$1,212,000 and HK$12,000
has been recognised against the carrying amount of plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets respectively
within the relevant functions to which these assets relate.

20. BMENRRE EHEEERER
EERNBERNR

 E_T-_RAF-A=+—HLEFE XK
EENEBRBETETHANLEEESHNR
FIEEEE ZERAHHERE BEEMWE
HREERBEBNRSELEEMNLE
RETWNESR AEEERERBFELR
BRI ERE{E D 54 A 153,000 7T
(ZZT P4 : 2720008 7L) ~ TAET(ZF
ZUOF 6970008 L) REAL(ZEZN
FOEBEL)OBEREE FRAELSER
B EEETRER G -

WELEBEAEEMBNREELEN
ZAKEEE MAEEEGFTZREE
AEzANEEE BRERAIELS
R—HEAERHIECEEE-REELE
NWBERBENRTET -

ReELEMNA]RESENREFERE
ErffEEr R-TE-_AF=A=+—H"
ZAEFRERAEEEEEBH AN RE
ARSFENFHEENRSREEE - FH
BT EALIR R A16% - BBAFM LR
ENFERA200%EREHSE - TTERITHEIG
RN BT HBBMAEETENRBETHE
EX-FHEENENS —BEEBKE
EE W EFEREEST D DRER
CELABEUMBARBEREREBH MG %
ERIEEERT -

REHEFGER TEBEEEEEER
SEABEMNATKESRERKEE B
EeRECOEEHEERERFHNZTE
BEL&E EREEERENEE U
FEEENEENREEITERESERA
RPEREERES HEREERTZE
SE-REEAEEHELSE  CER
FEh&k EREEEREBREEY RN

HEDERNRZSEENRAED JIER
ek B &5 18 49 60,0007 7T ~ 1,212,000 7T K
12,0007 7T ©

BETRGEERAR
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21.

116

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21. EGREMEWKIRIE

2025 2024
—E_RHEF —EOF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Receivables at amortised cost comprise: RN AT B RN FIA RS
Trade receivables B 5 WA 12,332 8498
Less: loss allowance for trade receivables BB S RWGRIEEERE (3,185) (1.212)
9,147 7,286
Deposits Ee 2,574 2,545
Prepayments T RRIB 806 1,341
Other receivables (note i) A E SN ) 1,728 1,711
14,255 12,883
Less: loss allowance for other receivables B E A U R IE R B R B
(notes i and i) (M &Ei Rii) (1,225) (1,113)
13,030 11,770

As at 31 March 2025, the gross amount of trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$12,332,000 (2024: HK$8,498,000).

There was approximately impairment loss on trade receivables of
HK$2,001,000 (2024: HK$857,000) recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 120
days to its customers, although an extension of the credit period is
not uncommon for customers who have a long term relationship
with the Group. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of this and the fact that the Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for trade receivables, presented based on the invoice
date, which approximates revenue recognition date at the end of
each reporting period.

21. EF5 RHEMEWRRE (K)

BT BB 3R B R AR 18 T I 2 e B
BB R A 250 E 5 IR (8%
B 5 i B S R ) MBI 5 9T -

2025 2024

—E-RHE —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TET

Within 90 days R0 HR 1,986 162
91 to 180 days 9THZE180H 83 107
181 to 365 days 181 HZE365H 1,244 4418
Over 365 days HBiBE365H 5,834 2,599
9,147 7,286

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

AEBERBEN2NBAREEEENSE
AEEZRUFENERER BEHENK
RENEHEEHREARBREELS2E
BB AHBEE R L8 M EB AR B AT
BARR DM A A XL EE A
EHRE BEHEAREMETENERERE
ER RN HE R HEE AR & TR
SRR EETTHE -

MR A EEB A EBRERY R HTA
EFAHSREETANBRRR  FHi
AREEETRAESE —HEHRIFBE
RO O o
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based on the
aging of customers collectively that are not individually significant as

follows:

As at 31 March 2025

R-EBE-_HEFE=H=+—H

21. B 5 R H b EWRKE (&)

AEERBIFERERNET P LR R
REZEREFEN2HEREEBRNT -

Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
hnEF 15
EHEBEE REAE BREE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TR
Not yet due i) A< 21 HA 24% 2,612 626
Past due over 60 days B AR 60 B 26% 9,720 2,559
12,332 3,185
As at 31 March 2024 RZTZNMFE=A=+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
13
TEEE A X RE A BEEE
% HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Not yet due i R 2 EA 1% 163 ]
Past due over 60 days B A B 60 B 15% 8,335 1211
8,498 1212
The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is set out B RYENBERBEHOT
below:
2025 2024
—E-RHF —E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT AT
At 1 April RO HA—H 1,212 384
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FARBRERNEERE
during the year 2,001 857
Exchange alignment b H P (28) (29)
At 31 March R=A=+—8 3,185 1,212
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(i)

Included in the amount of other receivables as at 31 March 2025, approximately
HK$ 1,210,000 (2024:HK$1,099,000) represented the amount due from former
subsidiaries. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayment on
demand.

Details of other receivables are as follows:

0] R-Z-_A&F=A=+—H"

21. B 5 R H b EWRKE (&)

B

FHAE 8 YR

BREED 412100008 7T (ZF /04 :
1,099,000% 7T.) 45 FE U AT BT /&8 A B 5178 - B AR
BAERE  RERAREREE-

H b fEUCORRB AR T

2025 2024

ZEZRHF —EomEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Amount due from former subsidiaries JE L2 AT BfS JBB A RIFRIE 1,210 1,099
Advance to staff ME TEK 268 273
Other tax refundables HAhFRIER K 156 5
Consideration receivables FEUAR E 50 50
Others HAth 44 284
1,728 1,711

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL. The Group recognised 12-month ECL for other receivables
based on the internal credit rating of receivables as follows:

(ii) AEERESERREABHEESEBOSET
B HMERENEIEREEG - AEBIRERFIE
B 79045 B AT A%t L 4t e UG RIE AR AR 1218 A TR

MEEBRNT

Expected Gross carrying

loss rate amount Loss allowance
FEHEEE BRE A BREE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FER

As at 31 March 2025 R-ZZE-_RAF=A=+—H
Performing BH 23% 3,988 911
Doubtful A& 100% 314 314
4,302 1,225

Expected Gross carrying

loss rate amount Loss allowance
TEHEIE X BREAAE EEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ME=A=+—H
Performing [0 20% 3,942 799
Doubtful A &R 100% 314 314
4,256 1,113

The movement in the loss allowance for other receivables is set out below:

Hi B EN B R ENEBMT

2025 2024
—E-HF T s

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHERx F&T

At 1 Apiil RA—A 1,113 986
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year 4F X118 25 7 e 72 10 /5 18 B 1 119 158
Exchange alignment (ERTECE S (7) €))
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 1,225 1,113

There was an impairment loss of approximately HK$119,000 (2024: HK$158,000)
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2025.

BE_T-AF=A=+—HILFE ERNH

{EE1EH 1190008 (=&

—mE:

158,000/ 7T.)

Bt AR REREMEEKEERP -

ETRERRAT
T oRFE®RE

119



22. CONTRACT ASSETS

22. BHEE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-UF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTET FAT
Unbilled revenue of system development ES kSR O b N e
contract 180 188

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to receive
consideration for work completed but not yet billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group's future performance accepted
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.

The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating

cycle.

The movement in the loss allowance for contract assets is set out

BHEETZRAKENHD RERRAER
MIRE WK ENENER RESEH
BREURNA S BERTFREMARRER -
ERHBENRASEGRER ARNEERS
BERZRYWIA

ARBEZSANAESBARYAE -
REAXEEBHRESLEABAEAE
MaEET -

BHEEBRBEEDHEIIMT

below:
2025 2024
SR —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
1 April RUA— 51 6
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss & Wﬁé‘iﬁﬁn RGBS
during the year 6 51
Exchange alignment e i 2 (1) (6)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 56 51

There was approximately HK$6,000 (2024: HK$51,000) impairment
loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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23.

24,

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT ORLOSS

23.

BAFEFABENEHEE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E P4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Wealth management products by the bankin R AR E&)IR1TIR BT & S
the PRC 52 52

The wealth management products by the bank in the PRC with
underlying financial instrument mainly consist of the short-term
bonds, money market investment fund and bank deposits of the
PRC.

The wealth management products carried floating interest rate at
1.60%-2.17% (2024: 1.75%-2.35%) per annum as at 31 March 2025.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$623,000 (2024: HK$1,032,000) which were
denominated in Renminbi. The remittance of these funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the
PRC government.

A bank balance of approximately RMB96,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$102,000, maintained in one of the Group's bank
accounts, was frozen pursuant to a preservation order issued by The
People’s Court of Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, PRC. The parties
have subsequently entered into a settlement agreement to resolve
their dispute, and the case is expected to be closed by late June
2025.

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates at 0.25% to 0.3% (2024: 0.3% to 0.35%) per annum.

24.

TENRITAEESR T ARERNIEME
mIBEFETENENES E¥mER
BEESRRITER -

RZE_RE=A=+—H0 BUHERZ
FEFEMERI0EZ217E (Z T —PU4F :
175 & 235E )5t E o

RITERKRRS

RZT-_RAFE=A=+—HB KA&£EEA
A REEHERIRIT A 8 I8 £ 49623,000
BT (ZE =Y 11,032,000 7T) ° [AHEH
RANE FR/BE TR BB BT INEE §

REFEZEYITE L EARZER TR
22 AEEHEP-RARTEFPAHAR
# 96,000 7T (A8 & M #9102,0007 7T) H SR 17
HEHRWRE - EHEEBI LRS-
AR RALE  TERTRZERHBR R F
NARAER o

RITERETHBRTERZHMETE -
FEREKEH02EZ0IE(ZZT - MEF 03
EZE035E) °

ETRERRAT
T oRFE®RE
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. BE5 RHAMEN KA

2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-UF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Trade payables B S FRIE 11,043 7,441
Accruals fEstE M 856 637
Other payables (note i) EAth & A< R IE (T 1) 9,846 8,585
21,745 16,663

Less: other payable classified as non-current &« HALEN KBS B A
liabilities FERPAB (4,800) -
Current portion included in other payables FTAE M SRIER R B S D 16,945 16,663

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of each reporting period:

UTRREREAREZEZAHEINNE
P BN IR BRI DT

2025 2024

—E"REF —EPUF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THExT FET

Within 90 days MoK 2,482 154
91 to 180 days 91 HZE180H 115 102
181 to 365 days 181HZE365H 1,781 5,228
Over 365 days 38 365 A 6,665 1,957
11,043 7,441

The average credit period granted by its suppliers ranging from 30
to 120 days. The Group has financial risk management in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

HERER THFEEESRN F30E12
A-AEECERMERRERE NER
ARNFENMEERRAES -

Note: PR EE -
(i) Details of other payables are as follows: (i) EfEARIEFBNT ¢
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E U
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Advances from third parties REMEZ TR 2,956 3,295
Payables for staff cost B TR A JEF /I8 376 89
Amounts due to a director (note a) At —BEEHE (Ha) 4,800 3,000
Others EHAth 1,714 2,201
9,846 8,585
@) The amounts due to a director are unsecured, interest-free and (@) BR—R2EFREAEERR 28 KA

repayable in February 2025 and has been extended to December 2026.
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26. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The financial liabilities represented the provision of the profit

guarantee contained in an investment agreement between

Shenzhen Quantum and the non-controlling shareholder of

Shenzhen Cyber Security Authentication Co., Ltd* (;

AYI T % R

FH R A7) (‘Cyber Security’):

M

In the event that the net profit attributable to the shareholders
of Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring profit and
loss) for the year ended 31 December 2019, 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2021 is less than RMB800,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB85,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Net
Profit"), respectively, Shenzhen Quantum shall compensate
CITIC Technology Co., Ltd.* (15 £ flT & &) (“CITIC
Technology’) in accordance with the following formula:

Compensation amount = (Guaranteed Net Profit for the year
— actual net profit for the year)
x30% x 10

In the event that the average net profit attributable to the
shareholders of Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring
profit and loss) for the three years ended 31 December 2021 is
less than RMB40,000,000, the aggregate net profit attributable
to the shareholders of Cyber Security (after deducting
non-recurring profit and loss) for the three years ended 31
December 2021 is less than RMB120,000,000, there is material
default, or serious illegal business has been undertaken by
Cyber Security, CITIC Technology may request Shenzhen
Quantum to acquire the equity interest in Cyber Security
held by CITIC Technology in accordance with the terms and
conditions of such investment agreement.

* for identification purpose only

26. BAFEFABENEHEAE

RREMZTHAE cRABREERIE
FEANTHELZRERRAR ([HRRBE])
) FE 13 AR B SR A M AR B R A

WHz—_Z—NAF+=-A=+—8"
ZEZEF+ZA=F+—BRER=ZE
T+ A=+-—BHLFERL
RERRERAEH (LR IELEE
a= A R E1E) o BE R A R # 800,000
7T~ AR #40,000,000 T & AR
85,000,000 7C ([{RBAFR ) - RINEF
/,\$ETJ%T§|J’/3\_§F_J¢T_LHTTI’D\7(|—':F‘
BEHEMDELEEE -

BEEem= (FERBMLN -FE
ERRALF) x30%x 10

WE 22 -—F+=-_A=+—H1
—EFERELTRERREG TSR
(MBI B ST REE) ERA
R #40,0000000 HE-_ZT - —F
T+ A=t BUHZAFERLTRE
% PR AL B AR (RSB FEL B M
X E5 18 ) R A A R 5 120,000,000 7T
BEBREENIRPLRBFLRERNE
R RERMATEZRIIEFR
BEEBRE B3R RS
ERMFEENNATRFERE -
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26.

184

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Details of the investment agreement have been set out in the
Company's announcement dated 12 October 2018.

Financial liabilities arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum and its subsidiary Cyber Security (collectively referred to
as "Shenzhen Quantum Group’) is unsecured, interest-free and
not repayable within twelve months. Balance of financial liabilities
arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum Group
was primarily earn-up of approximately HK$1,792,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (HK$11,762,000 as at acquisition date on 4 July
2018). Earn-up will be realised if the Cyber Security achieve certain
profit targets during the designated period of time. Details of earn-
up measurement are set out as above mentioned.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group measured fair value
of financial liabilities of profit guarantee in investment arrangement
based on the market outlook and their prevailing business plans
and projections. No change in fair value of financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2021. The fair value of financial liabilities assessment is
calculated based on discounted cash flows of future payment with
the estimated future profit of these acquired businesses in Shenzhen
Quantum and subject to ceiling level up to net assets of Shenzhen
Quantum Group.

On 2 March 2022, CITIC Technology requested Shenzhen Quantum
to acquire the equity interest in Cyber Security held by CITIC
Technology in accordance with the terms and conditions of such
investment agreement. No change in fair value of financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2023. The fair value of financial liabilities of acquiring
the equity interest in Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology is
calculated based on higher of (i) investment cost of RMB30,000,000
with at fixed return rates at 4.75% per annum (including bonus paid
(after tax)) or (ii) fair value of 30% shareholding in Cyber Security.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
measured fair value of financial liabilities of acquiring the equity
interest in Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology and subject
to ceiling level up to net assets of Shenzhen Quantum Group. No
change in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss was recognised during both years.
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27. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

27. HE—EKBQ T

On 19 September 2023, the Group entered into a sale and purchase RZZEZ=FhATNA KTEHEEEXE
agreement with an independent third party not connected with EEEENBYFE =R EEHE B
the Group for the disposal of entire equity interest in Guangzhou ERAFIEERENHB AR EMBEEE
YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (B M 18 {5 & AR A7) (‘Guangzhou BRIEARAR (EMEE]) 2tk -
YBDS"), the indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company, at a cash ReRERBARE I TAER 1ET) °

consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to HKS1).

*

for identification purpose only

HKS$'000
FHET

Consideration: RAE -

Other receivables E B W HIR —*
HK$'000
T

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control %X EZEZEFIENEEREBDON :

was lost:

Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b e GRIE 581

Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR NS 3

Trade and other payables B 5 N E M 5RIE (24,482)

Net liabilities disposed of EHEREFEHE (23,898)
HK$'000
T

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BKB RTINS

Consideration receivable ERRAE —*

Net liabilities disposed of BEREAEFE 23,898

Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve upon 1A H & % M B 2 B BF B HT

disposal of the subsidiary DB REFE (4,612)
19,286

* The amount shown as zero is due to rounding less than HK$500

* SELRS00EBT  ERBRAATIHRAT

HK$'000
FHET
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEESENBESREFH:
Cash consideration received BRRENRE =*
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B EHENRITESRLRS 3)
()
Guangzhou YBDS did not contribute significant revenue, profit and BMNEERSEE T _MF=A=+—H

cashflows to the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

* The amount shown as zero is due to rounding less than HK$500

EFEIARB/AEETBEARWKE - 5 F
NBRERE -

" SEINS00ET EOBRAATIRIRE
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28.

29.

30.

186

LOAN FROM A SHAREHOLDER 28. RE—BRRNEX
Happy On is a controlling shareholder of the Company, granted a Happy On &R R al ZER R R - R =T =Y
loan of HK$7,450,000 to the Company on 1 August 2024. The loan FNA—BRAAXREET— % 7,450,00078
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable in July 2025 and has been 7_13 E’J ER-ZERREER RL &/AEA
extended to December 2026. The effective interest rate of this loan is —E_AFHtABERYELERE-_ZT =N
4.18% per annum. F+ZA - ZEFOBERFEFREE418% o
DEFERRED TAXATION 29. EIEBIA
As at 31 March 2025, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in RZE_AF=A=+—H B#REEHE
respect of the tax losses of approximately HK$217,017,000 (2024: B R AR FRIR - iR BB IBEBELD
HK$206,620,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 217,017,000 7T (=& = PO £ : 206,620,000
BT BRIELERIBEE ©
As at 31 March 2025, the Group has tax losses of approximately RZE_RAF=A=+—H KAEEHH
HK$103,397,000 (2024: HK$99,371,000) that will be expired TH E5 18 49103,397,000/8 7L (Z & — P04 -
within next five years. The remaining tax losses of approximately 99,371,000 7T) AR KRR AFREE - 82T
HK$113,619,000 (2024: HK$107,249,000 may be carried forward HI R BETE4) 113,619,000 70 (= F —PO4F
indefinitely. 107,249,000 7 7T ) F] & PR BR 4584 o
SHARE CAPITAL 30. B4
Number of
shares Share capital
ignig- ¢ g <
‘000 HK$’000
FR FHET
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 each FREBERI0ETT
Authorised: VETE ¢
1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, RZZE_=FMA—H "
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 “E-MFE=A=+—H"
ZEMFEMA—H R
—ZE_RF=A=+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITREE
1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, RZFEZ=FWMA—H
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 —E-WF=R=+—H"
“ECMFMA-BR
—E-RF=A=+—H 1,356,250 135,625
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31.

32.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members
of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

31. AR S
TESEEAENEH
FRADNTNEEREAEEEIEA B KB
Eoy/ N

2025 2024

—E-RE —EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHT

Short-term benefits 52 Hi 1@ A 2,240 2,272
Post-employment benefits RIKEF 59 41
2,299 2,313

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of such scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs,
capped at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in the
PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement plan
for all its employees at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of
its employees. The state-managed retirement plan is responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees.
Under the state-managed retirement plan, the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cost charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$337,000 (2024: HK$287,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of
the respective accounting period.

32. RREFFE

REBREBEE B ADIFE 45 ZFB@HNER
Heit G AMBEAERESREERL
wiESHE((RESTE) - ZTEME
ERAEBNEESHEE  THRiETA
DESFTE - AEEIZRAE T EK AR 5%
MBS EIELHE - & A LR A1500
BT BB AR R IAER -

RIBPBEDERERNBAE  FEMB AR
ARREBEAFENETADLAMERE
BEHBERERRAGEHK BARERE
MR EIBEXNAARKE THE2H
BRAREER - REEHKEENRAKFE
AEBEEFEHRFAIINERERS IR
PRIZA&F )5 I R HE — PR TS ©

HE_"Z-HAE=-A=+—-HBIEE B8
REBEREMEEKRERMBRABRK A
#9/4337,00078 7 (—Z —PU4F : 287,000 7T)
EASBERER ST HBENZETE W
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33.

188

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 33. MEEHELANAGHR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising TRAMAEERETDHEENEEZT
from financing activity, including both cash and non-cash change. BREERIReEZY MEITDHEED
Liabilities arising from financing activity is those for which cash BERHAESREXARRAESHEBNAE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's GERERERPBEARE TSRS
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing MEMAE-
activity.
Lease Loanfroma
liabilities  shareholder Total
RE—F
HEAE RRENER st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT FHER
(note 17) (note 28)
(M¥zE17) (Htzk 28)
At 1 April 2024 RZF_MFMA—H 724 - 724
Financing cash flows: MERSNE
— Repayment — BN (796) = (796)
— Loan received from a shareholder —BR—BREHER - 7,450 7,450
Non-cash changes: FREEE -
— New lease recognized — EHRHAE 1,264 - 1,264
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised — B ERNAEBEF LS 22 - 22
— Interest on loan from a shareholder ~ — KB —ZRRAE KK
a8 - 81 81
— Deemed capital contribution arising  ~ — KB — B RN E KK
from loan from a shareholder HREAREA - (299) (299)
At 31 March 2025 RZZE_RE=A=+—H 1,214 7,232 8,446

Lease liabilities

HEBE

HKS$'000

FHET

(note 17)

(M5E17)

At 1 April 2023 RZE_=FMA—H 1,601
Financing cash flows: BERESRE

— Repayment — g% (841)

Non-cash changes: RS FH -

— Gain on lease modification — HEEFTWE (80)

— Interest on lease liabilities recognised —EERNEEEEN S 61

— Exchange realignment — [P E (7)

At 31 March 2024 RZTE_MF=A=+—H 724
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34. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

34. XA TMBRARHER

2025 2024
—E_RE —ENF
Notes HKS$’000 HKS$'000
M F&ET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment 5 B 5% - 12
Investments in subsidiaries MEARZ®RE (@) - -
- 12
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables H 5 K E b e EIE (b) 545 565
Amounts due from subsidiaries e UL B A R FROR © - -
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 638 851
1,183 1416
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M E M ERFRIE 852 3,633
852 3,633
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (86 FE 331 (2217)
Total assets less current liabilities #BEERABEE 331 (2,205)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Other payable H fth f& A 5K 1B 4,800 -
Loan from a shareholder KE—BBREHNER 7,232 -
12,032 -
Net liabilities BEERE (11,701) (2,205)
Equity Em
Share capital & A 135,625 135,625
Reserves e d (147,326) (137,830)
Capital deficiency BARE A (11,701) (2,205)
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Ching
TER Al fiE
Director Director
E E
EFERHEERAT

T oRFE®RE
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34.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Notes:

(a As at 31 March 2025, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost of HK$26

34. XATMBRARHESR ()

Bt

(a)

RZZE-RAF=ZRA=+—H RWHBRANKE

(2024: HK$26), impairment loss in respect of investments in subsidiaries of HK$26 Th¥ep A #2678 0 (ZFE U4 : 2678 70) 518K -
(2024: HKSnil) has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March MBE_Z_AF=A=1+—BILFE  PWE
2025. RAHIRE S K ERERR 26 BT (Z T MF
THTT) NBEPRER o
(b)  Included in the amounts of other receivables as at 31 March 2025, the gross ) BEARZZE_AFZA=Z+—BHOHHMELRR
amount of approximately HK$295,000 (2024: HK$295,000) represented the Iﬁﬁgﬁ‘# ngﬂlﬁl BT /B8 7~ B 3R TE B9 48 BB 49 295,000
amounts due from former subsidiaries with accumulated loss allowance on BT (ZZT Z U £ 2950008 70) » E A FE WK
other receivable of approximately HK$295,000 (2024: HK$295,000). The amount 8 25 Eﬁ BEE 492950008 (ZEZW&F :
is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand. 2950008 7C) - e MAREEKR RS RARE
KB -
There was approximately impairment loss on other receivables of approximately HE-_T-_RAF=A=T—HILFE RiEGRE
HK$14,000 (2024: HK$22,000) recognised in the consolidated statement of profit % X E b 2 T U A 2k P B AR EL A B LR IE Y
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2025. REETIE 414,000 7T (ZF ZPU4F : 22,000787T) ©
© Amounts due from subsidiaries (0 JiE U B BB A B R IR
2025 2024
—E_RF —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHT
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE W BT B A R R IE 105,810 98,925
Less: loss allowance B B R RS (105,810) (98,925)
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and JEWMBARREREIER 28 RAKRER
repayable on demand. For the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment loss of BE - BE-_T-_AF=-A=+—HILFE E
approximately HK$6,885,000 (2024: reversal of impairment of approximately 1 B B8 X B R B R (B 5 48149 6,885,000 8 7T (=&
HK$439,000) on amounts due from subsidiaries were recognised in profit or loss. Z M RE R £9439,0008 70) B R B RE
R e
(d Movements in reserves (d HEZE
Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BADHE Hi ks -5y 1 wat
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FBxT FHERT FET FBT
At 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FWA—H 101,852 - (236,705) (134,853)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  4F N &8 & 2 B S 4258
for the year - - (2,977) (2,977)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZT-—WF=A=+—H
FZZTZUEMA—H 101,852 - (239,682) (137,830)
Loss and total comprehensive expense & 518 & 2 E 7 X 48 58
for the year - - (9,795) (9,795)
Total comprehensive expense FREAEMZEE
for the year - - (9,795) (9,795)
Deemed capital contribution arising RE—EBREHERD
from loan from a shareholder BRREARZA - 299 - 299
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_RF=A=+—8 101,852 299 (249,477) (147,326)
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 35. XA BB A RNFE

COMPANY
Details of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 RZE-_RER=-FT-_NF=A=+—H
are as follows: RATRHBRRMFFBEHINOT -
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary Percentage of
establishment/  Class of share capital/ equity interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTR2E
HEL/ iR BEER
WEARER AL/ €588 EH BA/EMEA ARREERARERFAREAN TERR
Direct Indirect
E# 5t
2025 2024 2025 2024
“B-Rf TN CECRE SRR
(China Integrated Telecommunications The British Virgin-+~ Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Group Co. Limited Islands ('BVI)
TERABAEEARAT ABRAEE LR 1% 100% 100% - - RARR
China 020 Business Group Co. Limited BVI Ordinary Us$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HEOOAXEEERAT AERANE IR B 100% 100% - - RERR
Excellent Master Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKST 100% 100% - - Financing and administrative
expense for the Group
Excellent Master Investments Limited &% El 1% 100% 100% - - FEEMBBROBEX
YBDS Muttimedia Company Limited BVI Ordinary Us$1 100% 100% - - Online network systems
development
EESERARAA ABRREE LB B 100% 100% - - RIBRZRRE
Yunbo Digital Synergy Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HST 100% 100% - - Investment holding
EREXRERLA B £h 1B 100% 100% - - RARR
Pacific Honour Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEERERLA B 5 1B - - 100% 100 RERR
Able Bloom Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
AERBERLR BB i3 1B - - 100% 0% REBR
Shenzhen Yunbo Information System Service  PRC Contributed RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited * R 2 &5 8 24 capital
RBBERAT Motel)
FIEBELZRRBERAR (M)  HE TEAR AR¥S0000T - - 100% 100 REZR
Shenzhen YBDSIT Co, Ltd* FY|TRBES  PRC Contributed ~ RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system
BEABRAT (otei) capital development services
MITEREERRERLE hE HEER ARE200000007 - - 100% 000 REZEFHERHR
(BE)

EFERHEERAT
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 35. XA T BATNERE (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary Percentage of
establishment/ ~ Class of share capital/ equity interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation sharesheld  registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTR2E
AL/ fiske BREE
WEARER Y/ 8% Ejl RA/ERER RRARERABERRARAI L IEEH
Direct Indirect
BB B
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZB-RE CTCME ZECSHE CTONE

Shenzhen Anxin Certification System Co, Ltd* ~ PRC Contributed RMB50,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
MITREREZRERLA capital
(Shenzhen Anxin’) (note i)

T EEREZRERAT hE HEER AR 500000007 - - 100% 100%  REER
(TRYIRE]) ()

Shenzhen Quantum Technology Information ~ PRC Contributed ~ RMB10,770,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co, Lid* RYITE FRHEA B BRAT capital
(note i)

AT FHERSARAR (M)  FE HEER ARE10770000 70 - - 100% 00 RERR

Shenzhen Cyber Security Authentication PRC Contributed RMB14,290,000 - - 70% 70%  Technical development and
(o, Ltd. ('Cyber Security')* capital software development
RYTERTEERAT (hotel)

MIHERTERRAT HE HEER AR 142900007 - - 70% % BNFEREERE
((@za&]) ()

Internal and External Double Circular Economy ~ PRC Contributed RMB20,000,000 - - 70% 70%  Technical development and
Technology (Suzhou) Co, Ltd. * RSN E B3R capial software development
EENE (BN BRAA hote)

RINE IR AR (B M) hE HEER AR 200000007 - - 70% 0% BWFEEREARE
BRAR ()

Beijing Hongchang Yayun Technology Co, Ltd*  PRC Contributed ~ RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Technical development,
ERALEREMHERA hote) capital software development and

short messaging service

SR ERBMAERAR (M) hE HEER AR 100000007 - - 100% 00 HIEZ REHER

BiERE

Shenzhen Xinyoutong Technology Co, Ltd* ~ PRC Contributed ~ RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Short messaging service
ATEERRABRRA (hote) capital

FImEEANRERAF () Gl HEER AR% 100000007 - - 100% 100 ERRE

* For identification purpose only

Note: Bt st -

[0} The nature of all the legal entities established in PRC is limited liability company. [0} RPBIRIOEEEEENEEABREMR

NI
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 35. KA T B A TS (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities outstanding
at the end of both years or at any time during both years.

Details of subsidiary that have non-controlling interests that are

BENRBRRRMESEFRLFRET
ERRBESNEEES

BEEHAREMS BERNIFFEBRERD

material to the Group: WEBARFE :
Proportion of
ownership interest and (Loss)/profit allocated
Place of voting rights held by to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation non-controlling interest interests non-controlling interests
FEREERENETEEER TREFERERN
WELRERE LA AR 3L 3 B REELH (B8),/&H Rt FERES
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
ZBCHE TN ZBCEE TN ZBDEE —ETOQMF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FET TET TER
Cyber Security PRC 30% 30% (155) (794) (6,440) (6427)
BERE i
Internal and External Double Circular PRC 30% 30% (2) 88 (7,180) (7178)

Economy Technology (Suzhou) Co,, Ltd*
PISMETRIR A BRI (B M) B
BB

*

For identification purpose only

The summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that has material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial

AEEFERAEAFEREROMEQRX
MEBARSENMBEMBERHIWT
TXHHPBEEMBE RN & E AR KA

information below represents amounts before intragroup KIS & °
eliminations.
Cyber Security ML AE
2025 2024
—E-RHF —EomEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Current assets MENEE 1,726 1912
Non-current assets FmENEE 24,046 24217
Current liabilities nBEE (47,241) (47,554)
Non-current liabilities e EIN= N - -
Net liabilities BERHE (21,469) (21,425)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA R A A B (15,029) (14,998)
Non-controlling interests ez R = (6,440) (6,427)
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

35. XATFM B A RNFEE (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Cyber Security (Continued) WL R ()
2025 2024
—ZE-HEF —E-mF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Revenue W zs - -
Other income E YA 1 141
Expenses 53 (519) (2,786)
Loss for the year FNBE (518) (2,645)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZAN2Q BB A FE(L B 18 (363) (1,851)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling SRR (L EE
interests (155) (794)
Loss for the year FNBE (518) (2,645)
Other comprehensive income attributable to R A BB AELH A2 HE
owners of the Company Wz 332 1675
Other comprehensive income attributable to ~ JEIZERE S E(R E b2
the non-controlling interests e 142 718
Other comprehensive income for the year FRNHMEEKE 474 2,393
Total comprehensive expense attributable to R AT B AL EE
owners of the Company FxX 5 (31) (176)
Total comprehensive expense attributableto  FEIRAR S E(H 2
the non-controlling interests EEE (13) (76)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREEAZAEE (44) (252)
Net cash outflow from operating activities K EB IR S M F R (16) (82)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REFHNE SR L F5E (6) (40)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BVEEB IR &M R (126) (216)
Net cash outflow WE LT (148) (338)
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35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

35. XATFM B A RNFEE (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Internal and External Double Circular Economy ANEBRREERE (M) BRA
Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. Al
2025 2024
—ZE-HEF —EUF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTET FHET
Current assets mENE E 118 122
Current liabilities mEraE (2) -
Net assets BEFE 116 122
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ZN X RI¥E B A FE(G S 7,296 7,300
Non-controlling interests IR E R (7,180) (7,178)
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-gF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Revenue Wz - -
Other income PN - 732
Expenses 53 (5) (439
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(EBR),&F (5) 293
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of KNAEHER AEMS (B518), &% F)
the Company (3) 205
(Loss)/profit attributable to the SRR RS AL (E51B), S5
non-controlling interests (2) 88
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BER)HEH (5) 293
Other comprehensive (expense)/income RARHEBAEBGEEMEE
attributable to owners of the Company (FAR), W2k (1) 4
Other comprehensive income attributable to ~ JEIEiE = E(h E b2
the non-controlling interests g - 2
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FAHME2E (X)W
for the year (1) 6
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AAREBAEGEEZE
attributable to owners of the Company (X)Wt %E (4) 210
Total comprehensive (expense)/income IR EREGEE
attributable to the non-controlling interests (M%) WastesE (2) 20
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FR2E(AX) W iesE
for the year (6) 300
Net cash inflow from operating activities K EBIR SR AEEE 1 49
Net cash outflow from investing activities WEEBRS R FE - (46)
Net cash inflow WEMAFEE 1 3
EFRERFRLT

T oRFE®RE
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36. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  36. #t /BB IE® R
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by MBREREEEFEN S _AF A=+
the board of directors on 20 June 2025. B b S AR o
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